9260 E Stockton Blvd.
O-n e I Elk Grove, California 95624

Communications

May 13, 2013

Oregon Public Utility Commission
Attention: Filing Center

P.O. Box 2148

550 Capitol Street N.E., Suite 215
Salem, OR 97301-2551

Fax (503) 373-7752

RE: UM 1431 Compliance Letter — Order No. 10-067

Dear Commission:

in compliance with Appendix A, condition # 2 of the above referenced order, Frontier
Communications Northwest Inc is providing a copy of its Quarterly 10-Q report filing and
its inter-company receivables, payables and dividends report for the first quarter 2013.
The quarterly inter-company receivables, payables and dividends report is considered
confidential and should be treated as such. Pursuant to Order 09-197, the “Confidential”
document is being sent via US Mail in a sealed envelope with the proper labeling.

if you have any questions, please contact Renee Willer at (503) 629-2459 or
Renee.Willer@ftr.com or me.

Sincerely,
Joseph D. Chicoine
Manager, Compliance and Reporting

916-686-3588
joe.chicoine@ftr.com

Enclosures



Frontier Communications Northwest Inc.
Intercompany Receivables/Payables and Dividends
First Quarter 2013

(Amounts in thousands, except per share amount)

Assets ( )=cr
Liabilities ( )=dr Balance
Intercompany Receivables/Payables Dec 31, 2012

Accounts Receivable - Affiliates
Notes Receivable - Affiliates
Interest Receivable - Affiliates
Accounts Payable - Affiliates
Notes Payable - Affiliates
Accrued Interest - Affiliates

Cash Dividends Declared 1Q13
Frontier Northwest to Parent

Parent to Shareholders (total)

Parent to Shareholders (per share)

Redacted

Activity
1Q13

Balance
Mar 31, 2013
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FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

FORM 10-Q

QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d)

OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED MARCH 31, 2013




UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549
FORM 10-Q
(Mark One)
QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) DHE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19:

For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2013

or
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(dyf ®HE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 19:

For the transition period from to

Commission file number:__ 0011001

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its arart

Delaware 06-061959¢€

(State or other jurisdiction « (I.R.S. Employer Identification No
incorporation or organizatiot

3 High Ridge Parl
Stamford, Connecticut 06905

(Address of principal executive office (Zip Code)

(203) 6145600

(Registrant's telephone number, including area)code

N/A
(Former name, former address and former fiscal, yeelnanged since last report)

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant éf filed all reports required to be filed by Secti8 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange A
1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for suarteh period that the registrant was required I®duch reports), and (2) has been subije
such filing requirements for the past 90 days.

Yes X No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ldsstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥deb site, if any, every Interactive Data |
required to be submitted and posted pursuant te Bob of Regulation $-during the preceding 12 months (or for such sigeeriod that tt
registrant was required to submit and post suel)il

Yes_ X No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant iarge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a-axxelerated filer or a smaller report
company. See definition of “accelerated filer,artye accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting camy' in Rule 122 of the Exchange A«
(Check one):
Large accelerated filer [ X ] Acceleafiler [ ] Non-accelerated filer [ ]  Smaller reporting company [ ]
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantshell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Brge Act).
Yes___ No_ X

The number of shares outstanding of the regissa@@@mmon Stock as of May 1, 2013 was 997,753,000 .
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PART |. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

ltem 1. Financial Statements

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
($ in thousands)

(Unaudited) December 31,
March 31, 201! 2012
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel $ 875,90¢ $ 1,326,53.
Accounts receivable, less allowances of $96,164$83267, respective 480,74¢ 533,70
Restricted cas 22,12¢ 15,40¢
Prepaid expenst 65,76: 66,97
Income taxes and other current as 103,61: 144,58"
Total current asse 1,548,15! 2,087,20:
Restricted cas 20,54¢ 27,25:
Property, plant and equipment, | 7,417,741 7,504,891
Goodwill 6,337,71! 6,337,71!
Other intangibles, ne 1,455,95 1,542,73
Other asset 229,44 233,82:
Total asset $ 17,009,56 $ 17,733,63
LIABILITIES AND EQUITY
Current liabilities:
Long-term debt due within one ye $ 57,89¢ $ 560,55(
Accounts payabl 219,00¢ 338,14¢
Advanced billings 143,76¢ 146,31°
Accrued other taxe 74,00: 66,34:
Accrued interes 208,11 209,32
Other current liabilitie: 213,14 232,83t
Total current liabilities 915,93 1,553,52
Deferred income taxe 2,335,28 2,357,211
Pension and other postretirement ben: 1,054,241 1,055,05!
Other liabilities 264,98 266,62!
Long-term debr 8,368,72! 8,381,94
Equity:
Shareholders' equity of Frontit
Common stock, $0.25 par value (1,750,000,000 aizibbshares
998,131,000 and 998,410,000 outstanding, respégtiaved
1,027,986,000 issued, at March 31, 2013 and Deaegih012 256,99° 256,99°
Additional paic-in capital 4,536,65 4,639,56.
Retained earning 111,34! 63,20¢
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, net o (476,83() (483,57
Treasury stocl (365,70Y (368,59))
Total shareholders' equity of Front 4,062,46. 4,107,591
Noncontrolling interest in a partnerst 7,91¢ 11,67¢
Total equity 4,070,38 4,119,27.
Total liabilities and equit $ 17,009,566 $ 17,733,63

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@mnsolidated Financial Statements.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 AND 2012
(% in thousands, except for per-share amounts)

(Unaudited)
2013 2012

Revenue $ 1,20539 $ 1,268,05
Operating expense

Network access expens 109,39¢ 115,56¢

Other operating expens 541,49¢ 551,58

Depreciation and amortizatic 303,67 357,30(

Integration cost - 35,14«
Total operating expens 954,57 1,059,59
Operating incomi 250,82 208,45¢
Investment incom 3,062 2,10
Other income, ne 1,59: 3,48¢
Interest expens 171,42( 164,86.

Income before income tax 84,05¢ 49,18¢
Income tax expens 33,27t 18,69
Net income 50,78: 30,49(
Less: Income attributable to the noncontrollingiest in a partnersh 2,641 3,722
Net income attributable to common shareholdersofifer $ 48,14( $ 26,76¢
Basic and diluted net income per share attributedotsmmor

shareholders of Frontit $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 AND 2012
(% in thousands)
(Unaudited)
2013 2012

Net income $ 50,78: $ 30,49(
Other comprehensive income, |

of tax (see Note 1! 6,74¢ 4,267
Comprehensive incorr 57,52¢ 34,75
Less: Net income attributak

to the noncontrolling intere

in a partnershi (2,647%) (3,722)
Comprehensive income attributable

the common shareholders of Fron $ 54,88t $ 31,03¢

The accompanying Notes are an integral part okti@@nsolidated Financial Statements.




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2012, THE NINE MONTHS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2012 AND
THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013
($ and shares in thousands)

(Unaudited)
Frontier Shareholde
Accumulate
Additional Other
Common Stocl Paid-In Retained Comprehensive Treasury Stoc Noncontrolling Total
Shares Amount Capital Earnings Loss Shares Amount Interest Equity

Balance January 1, 20: 1,027,98 $ 256,99 $ 4,773,38 $ 226,72: $ (386,96 (32,859 $ (415,00) $ 13,997 $ 4,469,13
Stock plans - - (44,04%) - - 3,38¢ 44,98t - 94¢
Dividends on commo
stock B B B (99,85) B B B B (99,85)
Net income - - - 26,76¢ - - - 3,722 30,49(
Other comprehensive
income, ne

of tax - - - - 4,261 - 4,267
Distributions - - - - - - - (5,000 (5,000
Balance March 31, 201 1,027,98 256,99 4,729,33 153,63t (382,691 (29,479 (370,019 12,71¢ 4,399,98/
Stock plans - - 9,46 - - (102) 1,42¢% - 10,88¢
Dividends on commo
stock - - (99,23%) (200,30) - - - - (299,53
Net income - - - 109,86t - - - 12,95¢ 122,82
Other comprehensiv
income, net

of tax - - - - (100,881) - (100,88()
Distributions - - - - - (14,000 (14,000
Balance December 3
2012 1,027,98 256,99 4,639,56! 63,20t (483,570 (29,579 (368,59) 11,67¢ 4,119,27
Stock plan: - - (3,099 - - (279) 2,88¢ - (20€)
Dividends on commo
stock B B (99,819 B B B B B (99,819
Net income - - - 48,14( - - - 2,64% 50,78¢
Other comprehensive
income, ne

of tax - - - - 6,74¢ - 6,74¢€
Distributions - - - - - - - (6,400 (6,400
Balance March 31, 2013 1,027,98 $ 256,99 $ 4,536,65 $ 111,34! $ (476,83() (29,85 $ (365,70!) $ 7,91¢ $ 4,070,38;

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@nsolidated Financial Statements.




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED MARCH 31, 2013 AND 2012
($ in thousands)
(Unaudited)

Cash flows provided by (used in) operating actgt
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cashigea by
operating activities
Depreciation and amortization expel
Stock based compensation expe
Pension/OPEB cos
Other nor-cash adjustmen
Deferred income taxe
Change in accounts receival
Change in accounts payable and other liabil
Change in prepaid expenses, income taxes and @ifrent assel

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows provided from (used by) investing atit
Capital expenditure- Business operatior
Capital expenditure- Integration activitie:
Network expansion funded by Connect America F
Grant funds received for network expansion from i@ America Funi
Cash transferred from (to) escr
Other assets purchased and distributions recesst

Net cash used by investing activit

Cash flows provided from (used by) financing adig:
Long-term debt paymen
Dividends paic
Repayment of customer advances for construc
distributions to noncontrolling interests antest

Net cash used by financing activiti

Increase/(Decrease) in cash and cash equiv
Cash reclassed to assets held for

Cash and cash equivalents at Janua

Cash and cash equivalents at March

Supplemental cash flow informatic
Cash paid (received) during the period "
Interest
Income taxes (refund:

2013 2012
$ 50,78: $ 30,49(
303,67 357,30
3,88¢ 3,71¢

5,01¢ 12,40:

1,71C 1,531
(10,132 15,76¢
48,95 59,90¢
(84,756 (102,04:)
40,15¢ 3,43¢
359,20. 382,51
(189,00 (208,52;)

- (15,737)

(1,815) -
5,99¢ -

(11) 5,42t

52¢ (5,915)
(184,305 (224,741)
(517,12 (14,50%)
(99,81%) (99,857)
(7,279) (3,694)
(624,221 (118,04
(449,23 39,72
(1,386) -
1,326,53; 326,09

$  87590¢ $ 365,81
$ 168,09 $ 118,52
$ 947 $ (36¢)

The accompanying Notes are an integral part oeti@mnsolidated Financial Statements.




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Summary of Significant Accounting Policie
(a) Basis of Presentation and Use of Estime

Frontier Communications Corporation and its sulbsids are referred to as “we,” “us,” “our,” “Froetj” or the “Company’in this
report. Our interim unaudited consolidated finahstatements have been prepared in accordanceaadtbunting principles genere
accepted in the United States of America (U.S. GA&RI should be read in conjunction with the cadstéd financial statements ¢
notes included in our Annual Report on FormKL@sr the year ended December 31, 2012. All sigaift intercompany balances
transactions have been eliminated in consolidafidrese interim unaudited consolidated financialestents include all adjustme
(consisting of normal recurring accruals) considamecessary, in the opinion of Fronteerhanagement, to present fairly the result
the interim periods shown. Revenues, net incondecash flows for any interim periods are not neaglysindicative of results that m
be expected for the full year. For our interim finel statements as of and for the period endedcivi&il, 2013, we evalual
subsequent events and transactions for potentagrétion or disclosure through the date that Weslfthis quarterly report on Form 10-
Q with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)

Frontier has a 334 % controlling general partner interest in a pasghgr entity, the Mohave Cellular Limited Partnep
(Mohave). Mohaves results of operations and balance sheet arediedlin our consolidated financial statements. meority interes
of the limited partners is reflected in the condated balance sheet as “Noncontrolling interest frartnership’and in the consolidat
statements of operations as “Income attributabléononcontrolling interest in a partnership.’e $¢ote 18 -Subsequent Events
additional discussion regarding the sale of Mohave.

The preparation of our interim financial statemeimtsconformity with U.S. GAAP requires managemeatrhake estimates a
assumptions that affect (i) the reported amountassits and liabilities at the date of the findnstatements, (i) the disclosure
contingent assets and liabilities, and (iii) thpaed amounts of revenue and expenses duringepweting period. Actual results v
differ from those estimates. Estimates and judgmeme used when accounting for revenue recogniidiowance for doubtfi
accounts), impairment of lonlgred assets, intangible assets, depreciation amaftzation, income taxes, purchase price allocat
contingencies, and pension and other postretirefengfits, among others. Certain information anatrfote disclosures have b
excluded and/or condensed pursuant to SEC rulesegndhtions.

(b) Revenue Recognitiol

Revenue is recognized when services are provideghen products are delivered to customers. Revémaieis billed in advan
includes: monthly recurring network access seryispgcial access services and monthly recurringl legice, features, long distal
and inside wire charges. The unearned portiomede fees is initially deferred as a componenttloéroliabilities on our consolidat
balance sheet and recognized as revenue over tiogl pieat the services are provided. Revenueithbilled in arrears includes: non-
recurring network access services, switched acsessces, non-recurring local services and Idigjance services. The earned
unbilled portion of these fees is recognized asmee in our consolidated statements of operatindsaacrued in accounts receivabl
the period that the services are provided. Exeizes are recognized as a liability when billegstallation fees and their related di
and incremental costs are initially deferred ambgaized as revenue and expense over the averagefta customer relationship.
recognize as current period expense the portiamstdillation costs that exceeds installation feemnee.

As required by law, the Company collects variougesafrom its customers and subsequently remitsethases to governmen
authorities. Substantially all of these taxes @&eorded through the consolidated balance sheepersdnted on a net basis in
consolidated statements of operations. We aldeatdlniversal Service Fund (USF) surcharges frastamers (primarily federal US
that we have recorded on a gross basis in our dased statements of operations and included witRievenue” and Other operatin
expenses” of $29.8 million and $29.7 million foetthree months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, akxsgly.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(c) Goodwill and Other Intangible

Intangibles represent the excess of purchase pvieethe fair value of identifiable tangible nesets acquired. We undertake studie
determine the fair values of assets and liabilitieguired and allocate purchase prices to assdtianilities, including property, pla
and equipment, goodwill and other identifiable ingi#les. We annually (during the fourth quarternwre frequently, if appropria
examine the carrying value of our goodwill and &radime to determine whether there are any impairlosses. We test for goodv
impairment at the “operating segmeidVel, as that term is defined in U.S. GAAP. Dgrithe first quarter of 2013, the Comp
reorganized into four regional operating segmedts. operating segments consist of the followingaeg Central, East, National ¢
West. Our regional operating segments are aggrégato one reportable segmentn conjunction with the reorganization of

operating segments effective with the first quade013, we reassigned goodwill to our reportingtsiusing a relative fair val
allocation approach.

The Company amortizes finite lived intangible asseter their estimated useful lives and review$satangible assets at least annt
to assess whether any potential impairment exigisahether factors exist that would necessitateaage in useful life and a differ
amortization period.

Recent Accounting Literature:

Presentation of Comprehensive Income

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting Stangd@dard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Updaie 2013-02 (ASU 20182),
“Comprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts Redfi@ssOut of Accumulated Other Comprehensive IncdntASC Topic 220). ASI
2013902 requires disclosing the effect of reclassifmasi out of accumulated other comprehensive incomie respective line items in-
components of net income in circumstances when G&AP requires the item to be reclassified in itdirety to net income. This ne
guidance is to be applied prospectively. The Compaaopted ASU 20182 during the fourth quarter of 2012 with no impact ou
financial position, results of operations or casiwvé.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

In July 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standdjgdate No. 2012-02 (ASU 2012-02), “Intangibles—Goildand Other —Testing
Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets for Impairmen{ASC Topic 350). ASU 20122 permits an entity to first assess qualitativedies tc
determine whether it is more likely than not thatiadefinitelived intangible asset is impaired as a basis ftehining whether it
necessary to perform a quantitative impairment fBisé more-likely-thamot threshold is defined as having a likelihoodrafre than 5
percent. This amendment also gives an entity thi@romot to calculate annually the fair value ofiadefinitedived intangible asset if tl
entity can determine that it is not more likelyrihzot that the asset is impaired. If an entity daes that it is not more likely than not 1
the indefinite-lived intangible asset is impairtiten the entity is not required to take furthefcact ASU 201202 is effective for annual a
interim impairment tests performed for fiscal yebegjinning after September 15, 2012. The Compawoptad ASU 20122 during th
fourth quarter of 2012 with no material impact am éinancial position, results of operations orfcéews.

The Transaction:
On July 1, 2010, we acquired the defined assetsliahilities of the local exchange business andtesl landline activities of Veriz
Communications Inc. (Verizon) in certain statese (thcquired Territories), including Internet accesmsd long distance services
broadband video provided to designated customettseii\cquired Territories (the Acquired BusinesBjontier was considered the acqt
of the Acquired Business for accounting purposes.

We accounted for our acquisition of 4.0 million ess lines from Verizon (the Transaction) using go&ance included in Accounti
Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 805. We incurg@%.1 million of integration related costs in cention with the Transaction during
three months ended March 31, 2012. Such costsegrgred to be expensed as incurred and are redldaot “Integration coststh out
consolidated statements of operations.




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(4) _Accounts Receivable:
The components of accounts receivable, net arellasvé:

(% in thousands) March 31, 201! December 31, 201
Retail and Wholesa $ 537,64 $ 581,15:
Other 39,26¢ 45,81¢
Less: Allowance for doubtful accout (96,169 (93,267
$ 480,74t % 533,70«

Accounts receivable, r

We maintain an allowance for bad debts based orestimate of our ability to collect accounts reebie. Bad debt expense, whicl
recorded as a reduction to revenue, was $16.2omitlhd $16.6 million for the three months endeddWi@1, 2013 and 2012.

(5) _Property, Plant and Equipment:
Property, plant and equipment, net is as follows:

($in thousands) March 31, 201: December 31, 201
Property, plant and equipme $ 14,429,25 $ 14,353,76
Less: Accumulated depreciati (7,011,50) (6,848,86)

$ 7,417, 74 $ 7,504,89i

Property, plant and equipment,

Depreciation expense is principally based on thepasite group method. Depreciation expense waé.$2tillion and $210.3 million f
the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 201 2ectsgely. As a result of an independent studthefestimated remaining useful live:
our plant assets, we adopted new estimated rengaiisieful lives for certain plant assets as of Qatdh 2012, with an immaterial impac
depreciation expense.

(6) _Goodwill andOther Intangibles:
The components of goodwill by the reporting uniteffect as of March 31, 2013 are as follows:

(% in thousands)

Central $ 1,815,49:

East 2,003,57.

National 1,218,11.

West 1,300,53:
Total Goodwil $ 6,337, 71!
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The components of other intangibles are as follows:

($in thousands)

Other Intangibles

March 31, 201!

December 31, 201

Customer bas 2,427,64: 2,427,64:
Software license 105,01¢ 105,01
Trade name and licen 124,13¢ 124,41
Other intangible 2,656,80: 2,657,08
Less: Accumulated amortizati (1,200,84) (1,114,34)
Total other intangibles, r 1,455,95! 1,542,73

Amortization expense was $87.0 million and $147ilion for the three months ended March 31, 2018 20812, respectively. Amortizati
expense primarily represents the amortization tafnigible assets (primarily customer base) that wecgiired in the Transaction based
useful life of nine years for the residential cmsép base and 12 years for the business customer ba®rtized on an accelere
method. Amortization expense included $38.3 millfor the three months ended March 31, 2012 forrimadion associated with cert;
software licenses no longer required for operat@ma result of the completed systems conversiodsp40.5 million for the three mon
ended March 31, 2012 for amortization associatel eértain Frontier legacy properties, each of Whiere fully amortized in 2012.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments:

The following table summarizes the carrying amotartd estimated fair values for lotgrm debt at March 31, 2013 and Decembe
2012. For the other financial instruments, repriag cash, accounts receivable, ldegn debt due within one year, accounts payabli
other current liabilities, the carrying amounts repmate fair value due to the relatively short onites of those instruments. Other eq
method investments, for which market values areeadily available, are carried at cost, which agjpnates fair value.

The fair value of our long-term debt is estimateddd upon quoted market prices at the reportiregfdathose financial instruments.

March 31, 201!

December 31, 201

Carrying Carrying
(% in thousands) Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Long-term debr $ 8,368,72¢ $ 8,947,49¢ $ 8,381,94° $ 9,091,41¢




PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(8) LongTerm Debt:
The activity in our long-term debt from December 2212 to March 31, 2013 is summarized as follows:

Three months endec

March 31, 2013 Interest
Rate at
December 31 Payments New March 31, March 31,
($ in thousands) 2012 and Retirements Borrowings 2013 2013*
Senior Unsecured De $ 8,919,69 $ (517,03) $ - $ 8,402,66. 7.95
Industrial Developmer
Revenue Bonc 13,55( - - 13,55( 6.3<
Rural Utilities Service
Loan Contracts 9,322 (96) - 9,22¢ 6.1F
TOTAL LONG -TERM DEBT $ 8,942,56! $ (517,129 % - $ 8,425,43 7.94
Less: Debt (Discount)/Premiu (72) 1,18¢
Less: Current Portion §560,55() §57,89S)
$ 8,381,94 $ 8,368,72!

* |nterest rate includes amortization of debt issuance costs and debt premiums or discounts. The interest rates at March 31, 2013 represent a
weighted average of multiple issuances.

10
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Additional information regarding our Senior UnsemiDebt is as follows:

($ in thousands)

March 31, 201:

December 31, 201

Principal Interest Principal Interest
Outstanding Rate Qutstandinc Rate
Senior Notes an
Debentures Dut
1/15/201: $ - - $ 502,65¢ 6.250%
5/1/2014 200,00! 8.250% 200,00( 8.250%
3/15/2015* 300,00¢ 6.625% 300,00( 6.625%
4/15/2015* 374,80:. 7.875% 374,80: 7.875%
10/14/2016 ** 503,12! 3.085% (Variable 517,50( 3.095% (Variable
4/15/2017 ° 1,040,68! 8.250% 1,040,68! 8.250%
10/1/201¢ 600,00! 8.125% 600,00( 8.125%
3/15/201¢ 434,00( 7.125% 434,00( 7.125%
4/15/202( 1,100,001 8.500% 1,100,00! 8.500%
7/1/2021 500,00 9.250% 500,00( 9.250%
4/15/2022 500,00¢ 8.750% 500,00( 8.750%
1/15/202: 850,00! 7.125% 850,00( 7.125%
11/1/202¢ 138,00! 7.000% 138,00 7.000%
8/15/202¢ 1,73¢ 6.800% 1,73¢ 6.800%
1/15/2027% 345,85t 7.875% 345,85¢ 7.875%
8/15/2031 945,32! 9.000% 945,32! 9.000%
10/1/203¢ 62¢ 7.680% 62€ 7.680%
7/1/203¢E 125,00! 7.450% 125,00 7.450%
10/1/204¢ 193,50! 7.050% 193,50( 7.050%
8,152,66. 8,669,691
Subsidiary Senior Note
and Debentures Du
2/15/202¢ 200,00 6.730% 200,00( 6.730%
10/15/202¢ 50,00( 8.400% 50,00( 8.400%
Total $ 8,402,66. 7.78% *** $ 8,919,69 7.690% *+*

See Note 18 — Subsequent Events

Represents borrowings under the Credit Agnent with CoBank.
Interest rate represents a weighted aveigfgbe stated interest rates of multiple issuances.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Company has a credit agreement with CoBank, ,Ad3Badministrative agent, lead arranger and aetermhd the other lenders p:
thereto, for a $575.0 million senior unsecured tézem with a final maturity of October 14, 2016€tBredit Agreement). The entire I
was drawn upon execution of the Credit Agreemer@dtober 2011. Repayment of the outstanding graiddalance is made in quarte
installments in the amount of $14.4 million, whicbmmenced on March 31, 2012, with the remainingtanting principal balance to
repaid on the final maturity date. Borrowings unter Credit Agreement bear interest based on thiginsaover the Base Rate (as define
the Credit Agreement) or LIBOR, at the electiortltd Company. Interest rate margins under theitfa¢ianging from 0.875% to 2.87%
for Base Rate borrowings and 1.875% to 3.875% fBIOR borrowings) are subject to adjustments basethe Total Leverage Ratio of 1
Company, as such term is defined in the Credit &grent. The current pricing on this facility is IR plus 2.875%. The maximt
permitted leverage ratio is 4.5 times.

We also have a $750.0 million revolving credit fiagi As of March 31, 2013, we had not made anyrwings under this facility. Tt
terms of the credit facility are set forth in thedit agreement, dated as of March 23, 2010, anten@ompany, the Lenders party thet
and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as AdministrativerAgthe Revolving Credit Agreement). Associatadility fees under the cre
facility will vary from time to time depending omé Companys credit rating (as defined in the Revolving Creilifreement) and we
0.625% per annum as of March 31, 2013. The creditity is scheduled to terminate on January 1,42@uring the term of the cre
facility, the Company may borrow, repay and rebarfands, and may obtain letters of credit, subjectustomary borrowing conditiol
Loans under the credit facility will bear interdsised on the alternate base rate or the adjus®OR.Irate (each as determined in
Revolving Credit Agreement), at the Companglection, plus a margin specified in the Revayvi@redit Agreement based on
Company'’s credit rating. Letters of credit issuedier the credit facility will also be subject tefethat vary depending on the Company’
credit rating. The credit facility is available fgeneral corporate purposes but may not be uséthtbdividend payments. See Note 18 -
Subsequent Events for additional discussion reggnadinewal of the Revolving Credit Agreement.

We also have a $20.0 million unsecured letter eflitrfacility, as amended. The terms of the ledfecredit facility are set forth in a Cre
Agreement, dated as of September 8, 2010, amon@dhgany, the Lenders party thereto, and Deutselmk BG, New York Branch (il
Bank), as Administrative Agent and Issuing Banle (tietter of Credit Agreement). An initial letter afedit for $190.0 million was issuec
the West Virginia Public Service Commission to gudee certain of our capital investment commitmémtg/est Virginia in connectic
with the Transaction. The initial commitments unthe Letter of Credit Agreement expired in Septen2011, with the Bank exercising
option to extend $100.0 million of the commitmettsSeptember 2012. In September 2012, the Comgrateyed into an amendment to
Letter of Credit Agreement to extend $40 milliontleé commitments. Two letters of credit, one 20 $nillion that expired in March 201
and the other for $20 million expiring in SeptemB6i.3, were issued in September 2012. The Compargguired to pay an annual faci
fee on the available commitment, regardless of eisdgne covenantsinding on the Company under the terms of the amngdtter o
Credit Agreement are substantially similar to thoséhe Company other credit facilities, including limitations diens, substantial as:
sales and mergers, subject to customary excemimhshresholds.

As of March 31, 2013, we were in compliance withoalour debt and credit facility covenants.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our principal payments for the next five yearsasdollows as of March 31, 2013:

Principal
($in thousands) Payment:
2013 (remaining nine month $ 43,42(
2014 $ 257,91t
2015 $ 732,74t
2016 $ 345,46¢
2017 $ 1,041,18i
2018 $ 600,53:

See Note 18 — Subsequent Events for additionaliséson regarding debt refinancing activities.

(9) Income Taxes:
The following is a reconciliation of the provisifor income taxes computed at federal statutorysriehe effective rates:

For the three months end

March 31,
2013 2012

Consolidated tax provision at federal statutorg 35.0% 35.0%
State income tax provisions, net of federal inc

tax benefi 3. 2.4
Noncontrolling interes (0.4 (0.9
Tax reserve adjustme 0. 1.
All other, net 1.0 (0.1
Effective tax rate 39.6¥ 38.0¥

The amount of our uncertain tax positions whoseitgaf limitations are expected to expire durihg hext twelve months and which wc
affect our effective tax rate is $5.2 million asMérch 31, 2013.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(10) Net Income Per Common Share:
The reconciliation of the net income per commorraltalculation is as follows:

For the three months end
($ and shares in thousands, except per share amounts) March 31,
2013 2012

Net income used for basic and diluted earn
per common shart

Net income attributable to common shareholdersrofifier $ 48,14( $ 26,76¢
Less: Dividends paid on unvested restricted stvekrds (527) (737
Total basic and diluted net income attributableammon

shareholders of Fronti $ 47.61¢ $ 26,03

Basic earnings per common sh:
Total weighted average shares and unvested restistbck award

outstandin¢ basic 998,14t 995,89
Less: Weighted average unvested restricted stoakds (6,277 (7,029
Total weighted average shares outstan- basic 991,87. 988,87.
Net income per share attributable to common shédet®of Frontie $ 0.0t $ 0.0

Diluted earnings per common sha

Total weighted average shares outstan- basic 991,87: 988,87:
Effect of dilutive share 67t 12
Effect of dilutive stock unit - 62
Total weighted average shares outstan- diluted 992,54¢ 989,50t
Net income per share attributable to common shédet®of Frontie $ 0.0t $ 0.0¢
Sock Options

For the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2iityns to purchase 526,000 shares (at exerdisespranging from $10.44 to $14.
and 895,000 shares (at exercise prices ranging $8rh9 to $14.15), respectively, issuable underleyse compensation plans w
excluded from the computation of diluted earnings ghare (EPS) for those periods because the s@gnices were greater than the ave
market price of our common stock and, therefore,dfiect would be antidilutive. In calculatingwtiéd EPS, we apply the treasury s
method and include future unearned compensatipa®f the assumed proceeds.

Stock Units

At March 31, 2013 and 2012, we had 949,412 andl@43stock units, respectively, issued under our-Eomployee DirectorsDeferred Fe
Equity Plan (Deferred Fee Plan) and the Non-Empdygectors’ Equity Incentive Plan (Directoisuity Plan). These securities have
been included in the diluted income per share ohroon stock calculation for the three months endeatci 31, 2013 because tt
inclusion would have an antidilutive effect.

(11) Stock Plans:
At March 31, 2013, we had five stock-based compé@nsglans under which grants were made and awaghsined outstanding.No
further awards may be granted under three of thasplthe 1996 Equity Incentive Plan (the 1996 Elifg, Amended and Restated 2
Equity Incentive Plan (the 2000 EIP) and the DefgrFee Plan. At March 31, 2013, there were 12,%40shares authorized for grant
2,002,671 shares available for grant under the Hufty Incentive Plan (the 2009 EIP) and the Dives Equity Plan.
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PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Continued)
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Performance Shares

On February 15, 2012, the Company’s Compensatignriitiee, in consultation with the other non-managetirectors of the Comparsy’
Board of Directors and the Committee’s independsetutive compensation consultant, adopted thetierdrong-Term Incentive Plan (tt
“LTIP"). LTIP awards are granted in the form of fiemance shares. The LTIP is offered under the @om's 2009 Equity Incentive Pl
and participants consist of senior vice presidantsabove. The LTIP awards have performance, marictime-vesting conditions.

Beginning in 2012, during the first 90 days of eethyear performance period (a “Measurement Peyiadtarget number of performat
shares are awarded to each LTIP participant witheet to the Measurement Period. The performamtgas under the LTIP are (1) ann
targets for operating cash flow based on a goatlsehg the first 90 days of each year in the thyear Measurement Period and (2
overall performance “modifier” set during the fig@ days of the Measurement Period, based on thg&uys total return to stockholde
(i.e., Total Shareholder Return or “TSR§lative to the Integrated Telecommunications SewiGroup (GICS Code 50101020) for
threeyear Measurement Period. Operating cash flow padace is determined at the end of each year amdcatinual results will t
averaged at the end of the thgesar Measurement Period to determine the preliminamber of shares earned under the LTIP aware
TSR performance measure is then applied to decaserease payouts based on the Compatiyee year relative TSR performai
LTIP awards, to the extent earned, will be paid iauhe form of common stock shortly following teed of the thregear Measureme
Period.

On February 15, 2012, the Compensation Committaetgd 930,020 performance shares under the LTIEhé&€20122014 Measureme
Period and set the operating cash flow performagoed for the first year in that Measurement Pedaod the TSR modifier for the thrgeal
Measurement Period. On February 27, 2013, the @osgtion Committee approved 1,123,966 target paefoce shares under the LTIP
the 2013-2015 Measurement Period and set the apgieash flow performance goal for 2013, which &pto the first year of the 2013-
2015 Measurement Period and the second year @0th22014 Measurement Period. The performance sharelawaproved in Februe
2013 will be granted upon stockholder approvalhef Companys 2013 Equity Incentive Plan at the Annual Meetifgtockholders to t
held on May 8, 2013. The number of shares of comstock earned at the end of each thregr Measurement Period may be more ol
than the number of target performance shares grasta result of operating cash flow and TSR perémce. An executive must mainta
satisfactory performance rating during the MeasemnPeriod and must be employed by the Companyhetehd of the thregeal
Measurement Period in order for the award to v&se Compensation Committee will determine the nemdb shares earned for each tl
year Measurement Period in February of the yeéofiahg the end of the Measurement Period.

For the three months ended March 31, 2013, the @oynpecognized an expense of $0.3 million for thgAL
Restricted Stock

The following summary presents information regagdimvested restricted stock as of March 31, 2@it3changes during the three mol
then ended with regard to restricted stock unde2t09 EIP:

Weighted
Average
Number of Grant Date Aggregate
Shares Fair Value Fair Value
$
Balance at January 1, 20 7,049,00( 6.08 $ 30,169,00(
Restricted stock grante® 521,000 $ 4.0¢ $ 2,077,000
Restricted stock veste (1,806,000 $ 6.5C $ 7,205,000
Restricted stock forfeite (422,000 $ 5.6¢
Balance at March 31, 20: 5,342,00C $ 5.77 $ 21,316,00(

@ Amount excludes 2,845,000 restricted shares apfrboyethe Compensation Committee on February 27320hese restricted stc
awards approved in February 2013 will be granteshugtockholder approval of the Company013 Equity Incentive Plan at the Anr
Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 8, 2013.
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FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For purposes of determining compensation expehseatr value of each restricted stock grant isrested based on the average of the
and low market price of a share of our common statkhe date of grant. Total remaining unrecognizatipensation cost associated
unvested restricted stock awards at March 31, 2248$22.9 million and the weighted average perigat avhich this cost is expected tc
recognized is approximately 2 years.

Shares granted during the first three months df220taled 3,667,000. The total fair value of skagranted and vested at March 31, !
was approximately $15.3 million and $4.7 millioaspectively. The total fair value of unvestedrietgd stock at March 31, 2012 was $:
million. The weighted average grant date fair valfieestricted shares granted during the three hsoetded March 31, 2012 was $4.22.

Sock Options
The following summary presents information regagditstanding stock options as of March 31, 20kBdranges during the three mot

then ended with regard to options under the 20@0dald the 2009 EIP:

Weighted Weighted
Shares Average Average Aggregate
Subject to Option Price Remaining Intrinsic
Option Per Share Lifein Years Value
Balance at January 1, 20 540,00C $ 10.9¢ 0.9 $ -
Options grante: - $ -
Options exercise - $ -
Options canceled, forfeited or laps (14,000) $ 12.3(
Balance at March 31, 20: 526,00C $ 10.9¢ 0.6 $ -
Exercisable at March 31, 20 526,00C $ 10.9¢ 0.6 $ -

There were no stock options granted during thé timee months of 2012. There was no intrinsiugdbr the stock options outstanding
exercisable at March 31, 2012.

(12) Segment Information:
We operate in one reportable segment. Frontievigees both regulated and unregulated voice, dath\ateo services to busine
residential and wholesale customers and is tygithé incumbent provider in its service areas.

As permitted by U.S. GAAP, we have utilized the raggtion criteria to combine our operating segmémtsause all of our Front
properties share similar economic characterisiicthat they provide the same products and sert@ssmilar customers using compar
technologies in all of the states in which we ofgerd he regulatory structure is generally similBifferences in the regulatory regime ¢
particular state do not materially impact the ecoiwocharacteristics or operating results of a paldir property.

(23) Investment Income:
The components of investment income are as follows:

For the three months ended March

($in thousands) 2013 2012
Interest and dividend incon $ 1,766 $ 2,62:
Investment gail 1,29¢ -
Equity earnings (los: - (520
Total investment incon $ 3,060 $ 2,10:
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During the first quarter of 2013, we recognizedimestment gain of $1.3 million associated withhcasceived in connection with ¢
previously written-off investment in Adelphia.

(14) Other Income, Net:
The components of other income, net are as follows:

For the three months ended March

($in thousands) 2013 2012

Gain on expiration/settlement of customer adval $ 195 % 3,46:

All other, net (360) 22
Total other income, n $ 159 $ 3,48t

(15) Comprehensive Income
Comprehensive income consists of net income aret gins and losses affecting shareholders’ invesstiand pension/OPEB liabilities
that, under U.S. GAAP, are excluded from net income

The components of accumulated other comprehenssge het of tax at March 31, 2013 and 2012 arelkmss:

Deferred taxe
Pensior Postretiremer  on pension and

($inthousands) Costs Costs OPEB cost: All other Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $ (697,87) $ (74,269 $ 288,71. $ (150) $ (483,570
Other comprehensive income before reclassifica (229) - 29¢ - 64
Amounts reclassified from accumulated ot
comprehensive loss 10,07 70< (4,09%) - 6,68
Net currer-period other comprehensive income (Ic 9,84¢ 703 (3,802 - 6,74¢
Balance at March 31, 20: $ (688,029) $ (73,56) $ 284,91( $ (1500 $ (476,830
Deferred taxe
Pensior Postretiremer  on pension and
($inthousands) Costs Costs OPEB cost: All other Total
Balance at January 1, 20 $ (575,16) $ (41,81) $ 230,16. $ (150) $ (386,969
Other comprehensive income before reclassifica - - (162) - (162)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated ot
comprehensive loss 7,73¢ (592) (2,715 - 4,42¢
Net currer-period other comprehensive income (Ic 7,73¢€ (592) (2,877 - 4,26
Balance at March 31, 20: $ (567,42) $ (42,40) $ 227,28: $ (150 $ (382,690
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The significant items reclassified from each congrarof accumulated other comprehensive loss fotttleee months ended March 31, 2013
and 2012 are as follows:

($in thousands) Amount Reclassified from
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los§&) Affected Line Item in the
For the three months ended March 31 Statement Where Net
Details about Accumulated Other Comprehensive Los§omponents 2013 2012 Income is Presentet
Amortization of Pension Cost Iterf
Prior-service cost $ (2) $ 5C
Actuarial gains/(losses) (10,077 (7,786)
(10,07 (7,73€) Income before income tax
Tax impact 3,82¢ 2,94( Income tax (expense) benefit
$ (6,246) $ (4,796) Net income
Amortization of Postretirement Cost Iteffs
Prior-service cost $ 1,52t $ 2,502
Actuarial gains/(losses) (2,228) (1,91))
(703%) 592 Income before income tax
Tax impact 267 (22E) Income tax (expense) benefit
$ (436) $ 367 Netincome

@Amounts in parentheses indicate los:

(®)These accumulated other comprehensive loss comsoaemincluded in the computation of net perigminsion cost (see Note - Retirement Plans for additional detail
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(16) Retirement Plans:
The following tables provide the components ofpesiodic benefit cost:

Pension Benefit
For the three months end

March 31,
2013 2012

($inthousands)

Components of net periodic pension benefit

Service cos $ 12,83¢ $ 10,49:
Interest cost on projected benefit obligat 18,88( 19,65¢
Expected return on plan ass (24,590 (24,089
Amortization of prior service cost /(cred 2 (50
Amortization of unrecognized lo: 10,07: 7,78¢
Net periodic pension benefit cc $ 17,19¢ $ 13,79¢

Postretirement Benefi
Other Than Pensions (OPE
For the three months end

March 31,
2013 2012

($inthousands)

Components of net periodic postretirement benefit

Service cos $ 3,17¢ $ 2,65t
Interest cost on projected benefit obligat 4,44( 4,46(
Expected return on plan ass (43 (55)
Amortization of prior service cost/(cred (1,525 (2,509
Amortization of unrecognized lo: 2,22¢ 1,917
Net periodic postretirement benefit ¢ $ 8,27¢ $ 6,36¢

During the first three months of 2013 and 2012 capitalized $4.9 million and $4.2 million, respeety, of pension and OPEB expense
the cost of our capital expenditures, as the aestse to our engineering and plant constructidiviies. Based on current assumptions
plan asset values, we estimate that our 2013 peasid OPEB expenses will be approximately $100anillo $110 million before amout
capitalized into the cost of capital expenditurtey were $81.6 million in 2012 before amounts &ged into the cost of capi
expenditures). We made total cash contributionsutr pension plan during the three months endetiMal, 2013 of $12.1 million. V
expect that we will make contributions to our pengplan of approximately $60 million in 2013.

The Plan’s assets have decreased from $1,253.@mit December 31, 2012 to $1,224.3 million at &haB1, 2013, a decrease of $29.3
million, or 2%. This decrease is a result of bérgdyments of $89.1 million, offset by positivevéstment returns and cash contributions
for a combined total of $59.8 million during thestithree months of 2013.

(17) Commitments and Contingencies:
We anticipate total capital expenditures for buseneperations of approximately $625 million to $6i#lion for 2013. Although we froi
time to time make shoterm purchasing commitments to vendors with respethese expenditures, we generally do not enter firm,
written contracts for such activities.
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In connection with the Transaction, the Federal @omications Commission (FCC) and certain statelaggy commissions, in connecti
with granting their approvals of the Transactiqredfied certain capital expenditure and operatewirements for the Acquired Territor
for specified periods of time poslesing. These requirements focus primarily ontatercapital investment commitments to exf
broadband availability to at least 85% of the hbosds throughout the Acquired Territories with mimim download speeds of 3 megz
per second (Mbps) by the end of 2013 and 4 Mbptheyend of 2015. As of March 31, 2013, we had eapd broadband availability
excess of 1 Mbps to 87% of the households througtheuAcquired Territories, in excess of 3 Mbp848+6 of the households throughout
Acquired Territories, and in excess of 4 Mbps t&088f the households throughout the Acquired Teaig

To satisfy all or part of certain capital investthenmmitments to three state regulatory commissiamsplaced an aggregate amour
$115.0 million in cash into escrow accounts anchioled a letter of credit for $190 million in 2018nother $72.4 million of cash in
escrow account (with a cash balance of $23.9 milaod an associated liability of $0.2 million ashérch 31, 2013) was acquired
connection with the Transaction to be used foriserguality initiatives in the state of West Virgin As of March 31, 2013, $145.0 milli
had been released from escrow and the Company hestricted cash balance in these escrow accouritgeiaggregate amount of $4
million, including interest earned. In additiors af March 31, 2013, the letter of credit had bestluced to $20 million. The aggrec
amount of these escrow accounts and the letterreditcwill continue to decrease over time as Femtnakes the required cap
expenditures in the respective states.

In our normal course of business, we have obligatinder certain nocancelable arrangements for services. During 2@&2entered int
a “take or pay’arrangement for the purchase of future long digtanal carrier services. Our total commitmentseutite arrangement :
$132.0 million, $141.8 million and $140.8 millionrfthe years ending December 31, 2013, 2014 an8, 28&pectively. As of March @
2013, we expect to utilize the services includethiwithe arrangement and no liability for the “takgpay” provision has been recorded.

The Company has entered into an agreement to upgranificant portion of its existing vehicledte As of March 31, 2013, the Comp.
has accepted delivery of 3,047 new vehicles aneéagpto accept delivery of 632 additional new vieglsiby June 30, 2013. The r
vehicles expected to be leased under this progrélmepresent approximately 50% of our vehicle fleeThe minimum lease commitm:
for each vehicle is 1 year and the leases are aevat the Company’option. The total annual lease expense forfal@new vehicles
expected to be approximately $30.0 million on anuatized basis.

We are party to various legal proceedings (inclgdimdividual, class and putative class actionsjilagi in the normal course of our busir
covering a wide range of matters and types of ddmaluding, but not limited to, general contradt#ling disputes, rights of access, ta
and surcharges, consumer protection, trademarkpatent infringement, employment, regulatory, totdims of competitors and dispu
with other carriers.

In accordance with U.S. GAAP, we accrue an expérsgending litigation when we determine that afennrable outcome is probable i
the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimategal defense costs are expensed as incurrede dfoour existing accruals for pend
matters is material. We constantly monitor ourdieg litigation for the purpose of adjusting ourca@ls and revising our disclosu
accordingly, in accordance with U.S. GAAP, whenuiegg. Litigation is, however, subject to uncertgj and the outcome of any partict
matter is not predictable. We will vigorously dafeour interests for pending litigation, and agto$ date, we believe that the ultim
resolution of all such matters, after consideringurance coverage or other indemnities to whichameeentitled, will not have a mate
adverse effect on our consolidated financial posijtresults of operations, or our cash flows.

We sold all of our utility businesses as of Aprjl2004. However, we have retained a potential gagnobligation associated with «
previous electric utility activities in the State\ermont. The Vermont Joint Owners (VJO), a catism of 14 Vermont utilities, includir
us, entered into a purchase power agreement withid4@uebec in 1987. The agreement contains “stégprgvisions that state if any V.
member defaults on its purchase obligation underctintract to purchase power from Hydoaebec, then the other VJO participants
assume responsibility for the defaulting party’arehon a pro-rata basis. Our peta share of the purchase power obligation is 1G%ny
member of the VJO defaults on its obligations urtler HydroQuebec agreement, then the remaining members of 3@ including u:
may be required to pay for a substantially lardears of the VIG total purchase power obligation for the remainofethe agreeme
(which runs through 2015). U.S. GAAP rules reqtfirat we disclosethe maximum potential amount of future paymentsligcounted) th
guarantor could be required to make under the gteed U.S. GAAP rules also state that we mustarsich disclosure “..even if the
likelihood of the guarantor’s having to make anyrpants under the guarantee is remoteAs’noted above, our obligation only arises
result of default by another VJO member, such amupankruptcy. Therefore, to satisfy the “maximptential amount'disclosur
requirement we must assume that all members oWf@ simultaneously default, an unlikely scenarieegi that all VJO members
regulated utility providers with regulated costaeery. Despite the remote chance that such antexsuld occur, or that the State
Vermont could or would allow such an event, assgntivat all the members of the VJO defaulted on dgnii, 2013 and remained in def;
for the duration of the contract (another 3 yean®,estimate that our undiscounted purchase oldigdior 2013 through 2015 would
approximately $431.1 million. In such a scenatfie, Company would then own the power and could see&cover its costs. We would
this by seeking to recover our costs from the défegumembers and/or reselling the power to oth#éityuproviders or the northeast pov
grid. There is an active market for the sale ofv@o We could potentially lose money if we wereable to sell the power at cost.
caution that we cannot predict with any degreeeofainty any potential outcome.
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(18) Subsequent Events
We repurchased $208.8 million of the 2017 Notea privately negotiated transaction for $250.6 willthat was settled with cash on h
on April 2, 2013. This repurchase resulted in sslon the early extinguishment of debt of approsétya$41.1 million ($25.4 million ¢
$0.03 per share after tax), which will be recogdiirtethe second quarter of 2013.

On April 10, 2013, the Company completed a registedebt offering of $750.0 million aggregate pnati amount of 7.625% sen
unsecured notes due 2024, issued at a price of Dd@&eir principal amount. We received net pratseef $736.9 million from the offerii
after deducting underwriting fees. The Companydubke net proceeds from the sale of the notesthegevith cash on hand, to finance
cash tender offers discussed below.

On April 10, 2013, the Company accepted for pureh®471.3 million aggregate principal amount ofsé&nior notes tendered for tc
consideration of $532.4 million, consisting of $1B4nillion aggregate principal amount of the 6.625éfior notes due 2015 (the Me
2015 Notes), tendered for total consideration dfés@ million, and $277.1 million aggregate prindipemount of the 7.875% senior nc
due 2015 (the April 2015 Notes), tendered for totaisideration of $316.4 million, respectively. @pril 24, 2013, the Company accef
for purchase $0.7 million aggregate principal ant@frthe March 2015 Notes, tendered for total cdexsition of $0.8 million, $0.8 millic
of the April 2015 Notes, tendered for total consadien of $0.9 million, and $225.0 million aggregairincipal amount of the 8.250% sel
notes due 2017 (the 2017 Notes), tendered for totasideration of $267.7 million, respectively. eTiepurchases in the debt tender o
for the senior notes resulted in a loss on theyeadinguishment of debt of approximately $102.Tliom, ($63.6 million or $0.06 per sh¢
after tax), which will be recognized in the secandhrter of 2013. As of April 30, 2013, approxintat$105.0 million aggregate princiy
amount of the March 2015 Notes, $96.9 million aggte principal amount of the April 2015 Notes aB@€&9 million aggregate princif
amount of the 2017 Notes remained outstanding.

The Company has entered into a new $750.0 milkmolving credit facility (the New Credit Facility)The terms of the New Credit Faci
are set forth in the credit agreement, dated &4agf 3, 2013, among the Company, the Lenders phexeto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N
as Administrative Agent and the joint lead arrasg@int bookrunners, syndication agent and jootuinentation agents named therein
New Revolving Credit Agreement). Associated fagifiees under the New Credit Facility will vary fnotime to time depending on !
Companys debt rating (as defined in the New Revolving @régdyreement). The New Credit Facility is schedul® terminate ¢
November 3, 2016. During the term of the New QrEdcility, the Company may borrow, repay and refaerfunds, and may obtain lett
of credit, subject to customary borrowing condifioroans under the New Credit Facility will beaterest based on the alternate base
or the adjusted LIBO rate (each as determinedérNéw Revolving Credit Agreement), at the Comparefection, plus a margin speci
in the New Revolving Credit Agreement based onGbenpanys debt rating. Letters of credit issued undemMbw Credit Facility will als
be subject to fees that vary depending on the Cappalebt rating. The New Credit Facility is avaibbr general corporate purposes
may not be used to fund dividend payments.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

During 2012, the Company entered into an agreem#htVerizon Wireless to sell its 33 % partnership interest in the Mohave Cell
Limited Partnership, in which Frontier was the Gah@artner. We closed on the sale on April 1, 2@t8l we will recognize a gain on ¢
of approximately $15.3 million before taxes in gexond quarter of 2013. As of March 31, 2013, Mehiawconsolidated within Frontier
financial statements, with the naontrolling interest portion separately identifiadd disclosed, and net assets of approximatelyl
million classified as held-for-sale, consisting%if4.3 million included within “Income taxes and ethtassetsand $2.2 million include

within “Other current liabilities” as of March 32013.
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Iltem 2. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

This quarterly report on Form 10-Q contains forwhraking statements that are subject to risks arainties that could cause actual re:
to differ materially from those expressed or imglia the statements. Statements that are notritistdacts are forwaréboking statemen
made pursuant to the safe harbor provisions of Rifieate Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1998Vords such as “believe,” “anticipate,”
“expect” and similar expressions are intended émiifly forward-looking statements. Forwdabking statements (including oral representati
are only predictions or statements of current plartsich we review continuously. Forwalabking statements may differ from actual fu
results due to, but not limited to, and our futtesults may be materially affected by, potentisksior uncertainties. You should understanc

it is not possible to predict or identify all potiah risks or uncertainties. We note the followiag a partial list:

» The effects of greater than anticipated competititnich could require us to implement new pricingrketing strategies or new produc
service offerings and the risk that we will notgesd on a timely or profitable bas

« Reductions in the number of our voice customersweacannot offset with increases in broadband @ilieys and sales of other prodt
and services

« The effects of competition from cable, wireless atiter wireline carriers
« Our ability to maintain relationships with customegmployees or suppliel

« The effects of ongoing changes in the regulatiothefcommunications industry as a result of fedenal state legislation and regulatior
changes in the enforcement or interpretation ofi $egislation and regulatio

« The effects of any unfavorable outcome with resgecany current or future legal, governmental ayutatory proceedings, audits
disputes

« The effects of changes in the availability of fedemd state universal funding to us and our coitepst

« Our ability to adjust successfully to changes & ¢bmmunications industry and to implement straeépr growth
« Continued reductions in switched access revenuagsesult of regulation, competition or technolegystitutions
« Our ability to effectively manage service qualitydur territories and meet mandated service quiaéjrics;

« Our ability to successfully introduce new produffeongs, including our ability to offer bundledrs&e packages on terms that are |
profitable to us and attractive to custom:

« The effects of changes in accounting policies actices adopted voluntarily or as required by gallyeaccepted accounting principles
regulations

« Our ability to effectively manage our operationgemting expenses and capital expenditures, arepary, reduce or refinance our de

« The effects of changes in both general and loca@mic conditions on the markets that we servechwban affect demand for our prodt
and services, customer purchasing decisions, taligity of revenues and required levels of capitgbenditures related to new construc
of residences and business

« The effects of technological changes and compstitio our capital expenditures, products and sereféerings, including the lack

assurance that our network improvements in spegdapacity will be sufficient to meet or exceed thpabilities and quality of compet
networks;
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« The effects of increased medical, pension and pgstg/ment expenses and related funding requirem
« The effects of changes in income tax rates, tas Jaggulations or rulings, or federal or statedasessment
« Our ability to successfully renegotiate union caats in 2013 and thereaft

« Changes in pension plan assumptions and/or the wdlour pension plan assets, which could requsreounake increased contribution:
the pension plan in 2013 and beyo

« The effects of customer bankruptcies and home limsaces, which could result in difficulty in colléan of revenues and loss of custom:

« Adverse changes in the credit markets or in thiegstgiven to our debt securities by nationallyradited ratings organizations, which cc
limit or restrict the availability, or increase tbest, of financing

« Our cash flow from operations, amount of capitglenditures, debt service requirements, cash paicddome taxes and liquidity may aff
our payment of dividends on our common she

» The effects of state regulatory cash managemeitipea that could limit our ability to transfer baamong our subsidiaries or divide
funds up to the parent company; ¢

« The effects of severe weather events such as hnes; tornadoes, ice storms or other natural o-made disaster:

Any of the foregoing events, or other events, cadldse financial information to vary from managetiseforwarddooking statements includ
in this report. You should consider these impdrfacators, in evaluating any statement in this repa Form 109 or otherwise made by us or
our behalf. The following information is unauditedd should be read in conjunction with the consiéid financial statements and related r
included in this report. We have no obligatiorupmlate or revise these forward-looking statememdsd® not undertake to do so.

Investors should also be aware that while we deaabus times, communicate with securities analyisis against our policy to disclose to tt
selectively any material ngmdblic information or other confidential informatioAccordingly, investors should not assume thatageee witl
any statement or report issued by an analyst e of the content of the statement or repootitfie extent that reports issued by secu
analysts contain any projections, forecasts oriop&) such reports are not our responsibility.

Overview
See Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Finand&tkeSients included in Part I, Item 1 of this regorta discussion of the Transaction.

The Company is the largest communications compaayiging services predominantly to rural areas amdhll and mediunsized towns ar
cities in the U.S. The Company operates in 27estand is the natiom'fourth largest Incumbent Local Exchange CarrieEC), with 3.1
million customers, 1.8 million broadband connetsi@and 14,400 employees as of March 31, 2013.

Requlatory Developments

On November 18, 2011, the FCC released a ReporDader and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemakinghensubject of Universal Serv
Fund and intercarrier compensation reform (the ©rdeéhe Order changed how federal subsidies wilcaleulated and disbursed, with th
changes being phased-in beginning in 2012. Theaegds transition the Federal Universal Service gkt Fund, which supports vo
services in high-cost areas, to the Connect Amedfigad (CAF), which supports broadband deploymenhigh-cost areas. CAF Phase
implemented in 2012, provides for ongoing USF supfur price cap carriers to be capped at the 2&hbunt. In addition, the FCC in C,
Phase | made available for price cap ILECs an madit $300 million in incremental high cost broadBesupport to be used for broadb
deployment to unserved areas. Frontier was eligibleceive $71.9 million of the total $300 milli@AF Phase | interim support. On Jul
2012, Frontier announced that it would accept fathe funding for which it is eligible. On July 22012, Frontier formally notified the FCC ¢
appropriate state commissions of its intent to pictigose funds and identified the unserved locatimnbe served using the funds. The $
million in incremental CAF Phase | support is expddo enable an incremental 92,877 householdsriadband service and will be accoul
for as Contributions in Aid of Construction. Friamtis required to implement, spend and enableetl®2s877 households no later than July
2015. As of March 31, 2013, Frontier has receitregl entire $71.9 million of the CAF Phase | supfdartds and has initially recorded
increases to Cash and Other liabilities in the roasheet. The FCC is currently considering thesrfor distribution of incremental C/
funding in 2013.
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The Order also makes changes to Intercarrier Cosapien. Intercarrier Compensation, which is thenpagt framework that governs h
carriers compensate each other for the exchangeen$tate traffic, will transition over a numbdryears, with the first step being implemer
in July 2012, to a near zero rate for terminatnadfic by 2017. Frontier will be able to recovesignificantportion of those revenues through

user rates and other replacement support mechanigendo not expect the implementation to have &rn@timpact on our revenues in 2013.

Effective December 29, 2011, the Order requiredvideys to pay interstate access rates for the tetion of VolP toll traffic. On April 2¢
2012, the FCC, in an Order on Reconsideration,ifipgchat changes to originating access rates/flP traffic will not be implemented un
July 2014. The Order has been challenged by ceptaties in court and certain parties have alsige¢d the FCC to reconsider various asg
of the Order. With the initial implementation commeeng in July 2012, the impact during the seconifl ¥fa2012 and the first quarter of 2C
was immaterial.

Certain states also have their own open proceedmmgsdress reform to intrastate access chargestaed intercarrier compensation and ¢

universal service funds. Although the FCC hasgmmpted state jurisdiction on most access chargasy states could consider moving forw
with their proceedings. We cannot predict whenaw these matters will be decided or the effect ensnibsidy or switched access revenues.
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The following should be read in conjunction witlerit 7. “Managemerg’ Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiord dResults ¢
Operations” included in our Annual Report on For®aKl for the year ended December 31, 2012.

(&) Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of March 31, 2013, we had cash and cash equitabggregating $875.9 million (excluding totaltriesed cash of $42.7 million, represent
funds escrowed for future broadband expansion andcg quality initiatives). Our primary sourcefahds continued to be cash generated
operations. For the three months ended March @13,2ve used cash flow from operations and caghaon to fund principally all of our ca
investing and financing activities, primarily cagiexpenditures, dividends and debt repayments.

We repurchased $208.8 million of the 2017 Notea privately negotiated transaction for $250.6 willthat was settled with cash on han
April 2, 2013. This repurchase resulted in a lmsghe early extinguishment of debt of approxima@t1.1 million ($25.4 million or $0.03 ¢
share after tax), which will be recognized in teeand quarter of 2013.

On April 10, 2013, the Company completed a registatebt offering of $750.0 million aggregate przatiamount of 7.625% senior unsect
notes due 2024, issued at a price of 100% of theicipal amount. We received net proceeds of ¥¥86llion from the offering after deducti
underwriting fees. The Company used the net paxé®m the sale of the notes, together with cashand, to finance the cash tender o
discussed below.

On April 10, 2013, the Company accepted for puren$471.3 million aggregate principal amount of senior notes tendered for tc
consideration of $532.4 million, consisting of $1®4nillion aggregate principal amount of the 6.6258éfior notes due 2015 (the March Z
Notes), tendered for total consideration of $21@ilion, and $277.1 million aggregate principal amb of the 7.875% senior notes due Z
(the April 2015 Notes), tendered for total considien of $316.4 million, respectively. On April 22013, the Company accepted for purc
$0.7 million aggregate principal amount of the Ma015 Notes, tendered for total consideration@8 $nillion, $0.8 million of the April 201
Notes, tendered for total consideration of $0.9iom| and $225.0 million aggregate principal amoahthe 8.250% senior notes due 2017
2017 Notes), tendered for total consideration 0872 million, respectively. The repurchases in debt tender offers for the senior n
resulted in a loss on the early extinguishmentedft f approximately $102.7 million ($63.6 milliam $0.06 per share after tax), which will
recognized in the second quarter of 2013. As afilA®, 2013, approximately $105.0 million aggregatincipal amount of the March 2(
Notes, $96.9 million aggregate principal amountthef April 2015 Notes and $606.9 million aggregatimgipal amount of the 2017 No
remained outstanding.

We have a revolving credit facility with a line ofedit of $750.0 million that we believe providagfieient flexibility to meet our liquidit
needs. As of March 31, 2013, we had not made amsowings under this facility. At March 31, 201tBe ratio of our net debt to adjus
operating cash flow (leverage ratio) was 3.22 times

At March 31, 2013, we had a working capital surgti$632.2 million. We believe our operating célslws, existing cash balances, and exis
revolving credit facility will be adequate to finea our working capital requirements, fund capitgdenditures, make required debt paym:
pay taxes, pay dividends to our stockholders, apgart our short-term and lorigkm operating strategies through 2013. Howeveyraber o
factors, including but not limited to, losses oficecustomers, pricing pressure from increased etitign, lower subsidy and switched ac«
revenues, and the impact of the current economic@mment are expected to reduce our cash genefratedoperations. In addition, althot
we believe, based on information available to bat the financial institutions syndicated under mwolving credit facility would be able
fulfill their commitments to us, this could chanigethe future. As of March 31, 2013, we had $48ilion of debt maturing during the last n
months of 2013 and $257.9 million and $732.7 millaf debt maturing in 2014 and 2015, respectiv&s/of April 30, 2013, and after reflecti
the debt refinancing activities discussed abovehage$43.4 million of debt maturing during the lagtht months of 2013 and $257.9 million
$259.9 million of debt maturing in 2014 and 205 pectively.

In addition, the FCC and certain state regulat@mmissions, in connection with granting their apaie of the Transaction, specified cer
capital expenditure and operating requirementsherAcquired Territories for specified periods iofi¢ postelosing. These requirements fo
primarily on certain capital investment commitmetatexpand broadband availability to at least 853%he households throughout the Acqu
Territories with minimum download speeds of 3 Mbgshe end of 2013 and 4 Mbps by the end of 2015.
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As of March 31, 2013 and December 31, 2012, we dagzhnded our broadband availability to the hougishéthroughout the Comparsy’
territories as follows:

March 31, 201! December 31, 201
Frontier Acquired Total Total
(In excess of Legacy Territories Company Company
1 Mbps 93% 87% 88% 88%
3 Mbps 80% 84% 83% 83%
4 Mbps 76% 80% 79% 77%
6 Mbps 66% 78% 74% 74%
12 Mbps 51% 55% 54% 51%
20 Mbps 43% 42% 42% 40%

To satisfy all or part of certain capital investrheammitments to three state regulatory commissiagsplaced an aggregate amount of $1
million in cash into escrow accounts and obtainéettar of credit for $190 million in 2010. Anoth$72.4 million of cash in an escrow accc
(with a cash balance of $23.9 million and an asgedi liability of $0.2 million as of March 31, 201®&as acquired in connection with
Transaction to be used for service quality inWiesi in the state of West Virginia. As of March 20,13, $145.0 million had been released |
escrow. As of March 31, 2013, the Company hadsticted cash balance in these escrow accountd? $nillion and the letter of credit t
been reduced to $20 million. The aggregate amotithese escrow accounts and the letter of creiflitcantinue to decrease over time
Frontier makes the required capital expenditurébérrespective states.

Cash Flows provided by Operating Activities

Cash flows provided by operating activities dedi$23.2 million, or 6%, for the three months entiatich 31, 2013, as compared with the
year period. The decrease was primarily the reduéiwer revenue and net income before depreciaticd amortizatior

We paid $0.9 million in net cash taxes during thst three months of 2013. We expect that in 208 cash taxes for the full year will
approximately $125 million to $150 million.

Cash Flows used by Investing Activities

Capital Expenditures

For the three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2flkX%apital expenditures were $189.0 million a@@463 million (including $15.7 millic
of integrationrelated capital expenditures), respectively. Watiooe to closely scrutinize all of our capital jpds, emphasize return
investment and focus our capital expenditures easaand services that have the greatest oppoesimiith respect to revenue growth and
reduction. We anticipate capital expenditureshiasiness operations to decrease in 2013 to appataliyn$625 million to $675 million due
the planned completion of geographic broadbandresipa requirements established in connection vegulatory approval of the Transaction.

Cash Flows used by Financing Activities

Debt Reduction

During the first three months of 2013 and 2012,retired an aggregate principal amount of $517.lioniland $14.5 million, respectively,
debt consisting of $517.0 million and $14.4 millisaspectively, of senior unsecured debt and $0liom respectively, of rural utilities servi
loan contracts in each period.

We may from time to time make additional repurckastour debt in the open market, through tend&aref exchanges of debt securities

exercising rights to call or in privately negot@tigansactions. We may also refinance existing delexchange existing debt for newly iss
debt obligations.
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Bank Financing
The Company has a credit agreement with CoBank, ,A&8Badministrative agent, lead arranger and atemaad the other lenders party thei

for a $575.0 million senior unsecured term loarhvétfinal maturity of October 14, 2016 (the CreMlifreement). The entire loan was dr:
upon execution of the Credit Agreement in Octoli¥r12 Repayment of the outstanding principal badaenade in quarterly installments in
amount of $14.4 million, which commenced on Mardh 3012, with the remaining outstanding principaldnce to be repaid on the fi
maturity date. Borrowings under the Credit Agrerimkear interest based on the margins over the Bade (as defined in the Cre
Agreement) or LIBOR, at the election of the Compaihyterest rate margins under the facility (raiggirom 0.875% to 2.875% for Base F
borrowings and 1.875% to 3.875% for LIBOR borrovejgre subject to adjustments based on the Totarage Ratio of the Company, as <
term is defined in the Credit Agreement. The aurpgicing on this facility is LIBOR plus 2.875%.he maximum permitted leverage ratio is
times.

Credit Facility
We also have a $750.0 million revolving credit kagi As of March 31, 2013, we had not made anyremgs under this facility. On May

2013, the Company entered into a new $750.0 milliewolving credit facility (the New Credit Faciljtyand the existing facility wi
terminated. The terms of the New Credit Facility set forth in the credit agreement, dated asaf B] 2013, among the Company, the Ler
party thereto, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Adstraive Agent and the joint lead arrangers, joimbkrunners, syndication agent and j
documentation agents named therein (the New Rewpl@redit Agreement). Associated facility fees untiee New Credit Facility will var
from time to time depending on the Compangébt rating (as defined in the New Revolving @Grégreement). The New Credit Facility
scheduled to terminate on November 3, 2016. Dutiegterm of the New Credit Facility, the Companyyrbarrow, repay and reborrow fun
and may obtain letters of credit, subject to custgnborrowing conditions. Loans under the New Qré&dicility will bear interest based on
alternate base rate or the adjusted LIBO rate (eactietermined in the New Revolving Credit Agreethat the Companyg’ election, plus
margin specified in the New Revolving Credit Agresmbased on the Compasydebt rating. Letters of credit issued under tlesvNCredi
Facility will also be subject to fees that vary deding on the Comparg/debt rating. The New Credit Facility is availafide general corpora
purposes but may not be used to fund dividend patsne

Letter of Credit Facility

We also have a $20.0 million unsecured letter eflitrfacility, as amended. The terms of the letiecredit facility are set forth in a Cre
Agreement, dated as of September 8, 2010, amon@dhgpany, the Lenders party thereto, and Deutsark B\G, New York Branch (tt
Bank), as Administrative Agent and Issuing Banle (tetter of Credit Agreement). An initial letter afedit for $190.0 million was issued to
West Virginia Public Service Commission to guarantertain of our capital investment commitment$Mast Virginia in connection with tl
Transaction. The initial commitments under thetérebf Credit Agreement expired in September 2@tifh the Bank exercising its option
extend $100.0 million of the commitments to Septeni®012. In September 2012, the Company entetedam amendment to the Lettel
Credit Agreement to extend $40 million of the contmants. Two letters of credit, one for $20 millidvat expired in March 2013, and the o
for $20 million expiring in September 2013, wereusd in September 2012. The Company is requirgghyoan annual facility fee on 1
available commitment, regardless of usage. Theras binding on the Company under the terms oathended Letter of Credit Agreem
are substantially similar to those in the Compargther credit facilities, including limitations ¢iens, substantial asset sales and mergers, $
to customary exceptions and thresholds.

Covenants

The terms and conditions contained in our indestutee Credit Agreement, the Revolving Credit Agreat and the Letter of Credit Agreen
include the timely payment of principal and intéreben due, the maintenance of our corporate existekeeping proper books and recorc
accordance with U.S. GAAP, restrictions on the inence of liens on our assets, and restrictionasset sales and transfers, mergers and
changes in corporate control. We are not subjegtgtrictions on the payment of dividends eithercbytract, rule or regulation, other than
imposed by the General Corporation Law of the Stateelaware. However, we would be restricted untlerCredit Agreement, the Revolv
Credit Agreement and the Letter of Credit Agreenfeorh declaring dividends if an event of defaultoeed and was continuing at the tims
would result from the dividend declaration.
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The Credit Agreement and the Revolving Credit Agrert each contain a maximum leverage ratio covetamder those covenants, we
required to maintain a ratio of (i) total indebteda minus cash and cash equivalents (includingatest cash) in excess of $50.0 million to
consolidated adjusted EBITDA (as defined in theeagrents) over the last four quarters no greater4tt0 to 1.

The Credit Agreement, the Revolving Credit Agreetnéime Letter of Credit Agreement and certain irtdegs for our senior unsecured ¢
obligations limit our ability to create liens or rge or consolidate with other companies and ousiglidries’ability to borrow funds, subject
important exceptions and qualifications.

As of March 31, 2013, we were in compliance withodlour debt and credit facility covenants.

Dividends

We intend to pay regular quarterly dividends. @hility to fund a regular quarterly dividend wilebimpacted by our ability to generate ¢
from operations. The declarations and paymenttoféudividends will be at the discretion of our Bibaf Directors, and will depend upon mi
factors, including our financial condition, resulifsoperations, growth prospects, funding requinetsieapplicable law, restrictions in agreem
governing our indebtedness and other factors oardof Directors deem relevant.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not maintain any offalance sheet arrangements, transactions, oblgatioother relationships with unconsolidated E#ithat would k
expected to have a material current or future effpon our financial statements.

Future Commitments

In our normal course of business we have obligatiomder certain nocancelable arrangements for services. During 2@&2entered into
“take or pay”arrangement for the purchase of future long digtaamd carrier services. Our total commitments utfiarrangement are $13
million, $141.8 million and $140.8 million for thgears ending December 31, 2013, 2014 and 2015¢ctsply. As of March 31, 2013, \
expect to utilize the services included within #meangement and no liability for the “take or paybvision has been recorded.

The Company has entered into an agreement to upgranificant portion of its existing vehicledte As of March 31, 2013, the Company
accepted delivery of 3,047 new vehicles and expectccept delivery of 632 additional new vehidigsJune 30, 2013. The new vehi
expected to be leased under this program will sspreapproximately 50% of our vehicle fleet. Th@mimum lease commitment for e:
vehicle is 1 year and the leases are renewableeaompanys option. The total annual lease expense forfahi@new vehicles is expectec
be approximately $30.0 million on an annualizeddas

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We review all significant estimates affecting oansolidated financial statements on a recurringsbasd record the effect of any neces
adjustment prior to their publication. Uncertadstiwith respect to such estimates and assumptienmizerent in the preparation of finan
statements; accordingly, it is possible that actesallts could differ from those estimates and ghanto estimates could occur in the
term. The preparation of our interim financial tetaents in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires mam@gnt to make estimates |
assumptions that affect (i) the reported amountasskts and liabilities at the date of the findrstiaements, (ii) the disclosure of conting
assets and liabilities, and (iii) the reported antswf revenue and expenses during the reportinggeActual results may differ from thc
estimates. Estimates and judgments are used wiwamirging for revenue recognition (allowance foulokbul accounts), impairment of long-
lived assets, impairment of intangible assets, ef@ation and amortization, pension and other postreent benefits, income tax
contingencies and purchase price allocations, artmeys.

The Company monitors relevant circumstances, imctudieneral economic conditions, enterprise valBdTBA multiples for rural ILEC
properties, the Company’s overall financial perfante and the market prices for the Compamgmmon stock, and the potential impact
changes in such circumstances might have on theatiah of the Compang’ goodwill or other intangible assets. If our geddor othel
intangible assets are determined to be impairgtarfuture, we may be required to record a oash charge to earnings during the peric
which the impairment is determined.
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Management has discussed the development andiseledtthese critical accounting estimates with fhedit Committee of our Board
Directors and our Audit Committee has revieweddisclosures relating to such estimates.

There have been no material changes to our criicabunting policies and estimates from the infdiomaprovided in Item 7. “Managemest’
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition d@ekults of Operations” included in our Annual Repmy Form 10K for the year ende
December 31, 2012.

New Accounting Pronouncements
There were no new accounting standards issueddomtead by the Company during the first three mooth2013, or that have been issued
are not required to be adopted until future periadth any material financial statement impact.

Presentation of Comprehensive Income

In February 2013, the Financial Accounting StandaBdard (FASB) issued Accounting Standards Update 2013-02 (ASU 20182),
“Comprehensive Income: Reporting of Amounts Redli@ssOut of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Incgn@&SC Topic 220). ASU 2013-
02 requires disclosing the effect of reclassifimasi out of accumulated other comprehensive incomehe respective line items in
components of net income in circumstances when GAAP requires the item to be reclassified in itsirety to net income. This new guida
is to be applied prospectively. The Company adogtstd 201302 during the fourth quarter of 2012 with no impantour financial positio
results of operations or cash flows.

Indefinite-Lived Intangible Assets

In July 2012, the FASB issued Accounting Standalpdate No. 2012-02 (ASU 2012-02), “Intangibles—Qaiticand Other — Testing Indefinite-
Lived Intangible Assets for Impairment,” (ASC Tof@60). ASU 20122 permits an entity to first assess qualitativetdes to determine whett

it is more likely than not that an indefinieed intangible asset is impaired as a basis &temnining whether it is necessary to perfor
guantitative impairment test. The more-likely-thaot-threshold is defined as having a likelihoodmafre than 50 percent. This amendment
gives an entity the option not to calculate anrytik fair value of an indefinitbved intangible asset if the entity can determinat it is no
more likely than not that the asset is impairedrifentity concludes that it is not more likelyrth#ot that the indefinitéved intangible asset
impaired, then the entity is not required to talgtfer action. ASU 20122 is effective for annual and interim impairmessts performed fi
fiscal years beginning after September 15, 2012. Cbmpany adopted ASU 2002-during the fourth quarter of 2012 with no matkerinpac
on our financial position, results of operationsash flows.
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(b) Results of Operations

REVENUE

Revenue is generated primarily through the promisiblocal, network access, long distance, datéewiand Internet services. Such revenue
generated through either a monthly recurring fea fe based on usage and revenue recognitiort dependent upon significant judgment:
management, with the exception of a determinatfaprovision for uncollectible amounts.

Revenue for the three months ended March 31, 2@tBedsed $62.7 million, or 5%, to $1,205.4 millas compared with the three mor
ended March 31, 2012. The decline during the tinste months of 2013 is primarily the result otm@ases in voice revenues, and Ic
switched and nonswitched access revenue, partififgt by an $18.3 million, or 9%, increase in dsgavices revenue, each as described in
detail below.

Switched access and subsidy revenue of $142.3omitépresented 12% of our revenues for the thregthmended March 31, 2013. Switc
access revenue was $62.3 million for the three hwahded March 31, 2013, or 5% of our revenuesndosm $76.9 million, or 6% of o
revenues, for the three months ended March 31,.2@ubsidy revenue was $80.0 million for the thremths ended March 31, 2013, or 79
our revenues, down slightly from $80.2 million,686 of our revenues, for the three months ended IMat¢ 2012. We expect declining reve
trends in switched access and subsidy revenuegitivnremainder of 2013.

During the quarter ended March 31, 2013, we los®(32 customers, as compared to a loss of 72,6a0roess during the quarter ended M
31, 2012. We believe the improved customer retariti?013 as compared to 2012 is principally dueuninvestments in our network, our Ic
engagement strategy, improved customer servicesiamalified products and packages. We lost 27,&30dential customers and 5,100 busi
customers during the quarter ended March 31, 2018% on an annual basis, as compared to 64,8@ent&l customers and 7,800 busir
customers lost during the quarter ended March 8122or 9% on an annual basis. Average monthlylessial revenue per customer incre:
$0.99 to $58.82 during the quarter ended Marct2813 as compared to the quarter ended March 32, 20is increase is due to the additic
monthly subscriber line charges to our residertisdtomers that were implemented in the third quate2012, as permitted by the Orc
increased penetration of products and rationalzextiuct pricing. Economic conditions and/or inchegscompetition could make it mc
difficult to sell our bundled service offerings,cacause us to increase our promotions and/or loweprices for our products and services, w
could adversely affect our revenue, profitabilibdacash flows.

During the three months ended March 31, 2013, tagainy added approximately 28,200 net broadbanstsblrs. During the first quarter
2012, the Company added approximately 11,700 metdtiiand subscribers. The Company plans to expaadiband availability and speed ¢
the next several years. We expect to continued@ase broadband subscribers during the remaifi@er13.

Management believes that customer counts and reyagrucustomer are the most important factors @uating our business trends. Among
key services we provide to residential customees\anice service, data service, video service, amgome markets, wireless service.
continue to explore the potential to provide addiil services to our customer base, with the adbatf meeting all of our custome
communications needs, as well as increasing revpaueustomer. For commercial customers we provadee and data services, as well
broad range of value-added services.

For the above reasons, presented in the tabld ti@her Financial and Operating Datbglow is an analysis that presents customer ct
average monthly revenue and churn. It also caitegomrevenue into customer revenue (business asidergial) and regulatory rever
(switched access and subsidy revenue). Despité%hdecline in business customers and the 6% deitliresidential customers since March
2012, customer revenue (all revenue except switaledss and subsidy revenue) declined in thetlirse months of 2013 by 4% as compare
the prior year period. The decline in customess wartially offset by increased penetration ofitamtthl products sold to both business
residential customers, which has increased ourageemonthly revenue per customer. A substantighdu loss of customers, combined \
increased competition and the other factors digtlibgrein, may cause our revenue, profitability eeh flows to decrease during the remai
of 2013 and beyond.
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OTHER FINANCIAL AND OPERATING DATA

As of As of % Increast As of % Increast
March 31, 201! December 31, 201 (Decrease March 31, 201  (Decrease

Customers 3,140,2 3,173,1¢ (1%) 3,341,0€ (6%)
Broadband subscribers 1,782,5 1,754,4. 2% 1,742,71 2%
Video subscribers

DISH and FiO¢ 364,91 346,6: 5% 309,0z 18%

DirecTV® - - - 214,5¢ (100%)
Total video subscribel 364,91 346,6. 5% 523,62 (30%)

For the three months ended March $ Increast % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease

Revenue (in 000's)

Busines: $ 548,3 $ 569,08t $ (20,74 (4%)

Residentia 514,7 541,8¢ (27,09 (5%)
Customer revenu $ 1,063,1 $ 1,110,98 (47,84 (4%)

Switched access and subs 142,2! 157,0¢ (14,81 (9%)
Total revenus $ 1,2053" $ 1,268,05. $ (62,65 (5%)
Switched access minutes of u¢

(in millions) 4,2 4,5: (5%)

As of or for the three months ended March % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease

Business Customer Metrics
Customer: 281,0! 302,1- (7%)
Revenue (in 000' $ 548,3 $ 569,08t (4%)
Average monthly busine:

revenue per custom $ 644. $ 619.8¢ 4%
Residential Customer Metrics:
Customers 2,859,2: 3,038,9: (6%)
Revenue (in 000' $ 514,77 $ 541,89 (5%)
Average monthly residenti

revenue per custom@ $ 58.0 $ 57.8¢ 2%
Customer monthly chur 1.64% 1.58% 4%

() Decline in video subscribers is due to the los20&,100 DirecTV subscribers in the third quartee@f2, as Frontier no longer provic
DirecTV as part of its bundled packag

(@ Calculation excludes the Mohave Cellular LimitedtRarship.

Note: Prior period revenue and certain operatiatistics have been revised from the previouslgldgsed amounts to reflect the immate
reclassification of certain revenues and the rdlateoact on average monthly revenue per customeuats. Broadband subscriber counts have
also been revised to reflect a one-time openingrizal adjustment of 33,139 subscribers.
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REVENUE
($inthousands) For the three months ended March
$ Increast % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Local and long distance servic $ 525,94 $ 576,2 $ (50,29¢ (9%)
Data and internet servic 454,83t 443,8 10,95 2%
Other 82,35¢ 90,8 (8,502 (9%)
Customer revent 1,063,13: 1,110,9 (47,843 (4%)
Switched access and subs 142,25¢ 157,0 (14,811 (9%)
Total revenu $ 1,205,391 $ 1,268,0 $  (62,65¢ (5%)

Local and Long Distance Services

Local and long distance services revenue for theetimonths ended March 31, 2013 decreased $50li8mibr 9%, to $525.9 million, i
compared with the three months ended March 31, p@it2arily due to the continued loss of voice custes and, to a lesser extent, decreas
individual features packages and long distancecalLand enhanced services revenue for the thre¢hended March 31, 2013 decreased ¢
million, or 7%, to $432.7 million, primarily due the continued loss of voice customers and, tsseleextent, decreases in individual fea
packages. Long distance services revenue forthihee months ended March 31, 2013 decreased $18l®nmor 14%, to $93.
million, primarily due to a decrease in the numbgfong distance customers using our bundled serwgiferings, lower minutes of use ar
lower average revenue per minute of use.

Data and I nternet Services

Data and Internet services revenue for the threetmocended March 31, 2013 increased $11.0 millor%, to $454.8 million, as compa
with the three months ended March 31, 2012. Dataces revenue increased $18.3 million, or 9%4281.4 million for the three months en
March 31, 2013, as compared with the same peri@Dd2, primarily due to increased billing for brbadd and Frontier Secure products. £
March 31, 2013, the number of the Compary'oadband subscribers increased by approxima®900, or 2%, since March 31, 2012. Data
Internet services also includes nonswitched acoessnue from data transmission services to othaiecs and highsolume commercii
customers with dedicated higlapacity Internet and ethernet circuits. Nonswéttlaccess revenue decreased $7.3 million, or 3%238.
million for the three months ended March 31, 2@Gk3compared with the comparable period of 2012 talmver monthly recurring charges
the reduction in settlements of disputes with easti

Other

Other revenue for the three months ended Marct2@13 decreased $8.5 million, or 9%, to $82.4 millias compared with the three moi
ended March 31, 2012, primarily due to the reductiocustomers for FiOS video service, lower divegtservices revenue, decreased sal
customer premise equipment and lower wireless tegpartially offset by an increase in revenueaezhfrom our DISH Network partnership.

Switched Access and Subsidy

Switched access and subsidy revenue for the thosghs ended March 31, 2013 decreased $14.8 mithioR%, to $142.3 million, as compa
with the three months ended March 31, 2012. Switcleeess revenue decreased $14.6 million, or 19%62.3 million, for the first quarter
2013, as compared with the same period of 201&)apify due to the impact of a decline in minutesusé related to access line losses an
displacement of minutes of use by wireless, emradl @her communications services combined withdacton due to the impact of the lo
rates enacted by the first phase of the FRO@tercarrier compensation reform. Switched axegsl subsidy revenue includes subsidy payr
we receive from federal and state agencies, inetudurcharges billed to customers that are remitteshiversal service administrators. Sub
revenue decreased $0.2 million to $80.0 milliontfer three months ended March 31, 2013, as compétiedhe same period of 2012.
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Federal and state subsidies and surcharges (wtedbilked to customers and remitted to universalise administrators) for the Company w
$41.8 million, $8.4 million and $29.8 million, resgively, and $80.0 million in total, or 7% of owgvenues, for the three months ended V
31, 2013. The federal and state subsidy revenuthéothree months ended March 31, 2013 repredéftsf our consolidated revenues. T
federal and state subsidies and surcharges wer2 g8lllon, or 6% of our revenues, for the threentis ended March 31, 2012.

On November 18, 2011, the FCC released a ReporDader and Further Notice of Proposed Rulemakinghensubject of Universal Serv
Fund and intercarrier compensation reform (the ©rdehe Order changed how federal subsidies wilchkeulated and disbursed, with th
changes being phased-in beginning in 2012. Theaegds transition the Federal Universal Service gkt Fund, which supports vo
services in high-cost areas, to the CAF, which stgroadband deployment in higbst areas. CAF Phase |, implemented in 2012, gesvio
ongoing USF support for price cap carriers to hgped at the 2011 amount.

The Order also makes changes to Intercarrier Cosgpien. Intercarrier Compensation, which is thgnpent framework that governs h
carriers compensate each other for the exchangaev$tate traffic, will transition over a numbdry@ars, with the first step being implemer
in July 2012, to a near zero rate for terminatnadfic by 2017. Frontier will be able to recovesignificant portion of those revenues through
user rates and other replacement support mechanisms

Effective December 29, 2011, the Order requiredvideys to pay interstate access rates for the tetion of VolP toll traffic. On April 2¢
2012, the FCC, in an Order on Reconsideration,ifipg¢hat changes to originating access rated/fP traffic will not be implemented un
July 2014. The Order has been challenged by ceptaties in court and certain parties have alsige¢d the FCC to reconsider various asg
of the Order. With the initial implementation commeéng in July 2012, the impact during the seconlfl ¥fa2012 and the first quarter of 2C
was immaterial.

Certain states also have their own open proceedingsldress reform to intrastate access chargestaed intercarrier compensation and ¢

universal service funds. Although the FCC hasgmmpted state jurisdiction on most access chargasy states could consider moving forw

with their proceedings. We cannot predict whenaw ithese matters will be decided or the effect mnsoibsidy or switched access revenues.
OPERATING EXPENSES

NETWORK ACCESS EXPENSES

($inthousands) For the three months ended March
$ Increase % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Network acces $ 109,39: $ 115,56 $ (6,171 (5%)

Network access expenses for the three months evidech 31, 2013 decreased $6.2 million, or 5%, t69%4 million, as compared with 1
three months ended March 31, 2012, primarily duetiuced data network and backbone costs, reftectist efficiencies in moving traffic or
the Frontier legacy backbone, and decreased lostgriie carriage costs in 2013, including a reduociiocosts for our originating traf
associated with the implementation of the Ordeeatife with the second half of 2012 and reducedestrcosts related to fewer customers
FiOS video service. Network access expenses atdoded promotional gift costs of $6.9 million a$id.2 million in the three months enc
March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively, for varibubsadband and video subscriber promotions. Exctudhe impact of promotion cos
network access expenses for the three months evideth 31, 2013 decreased $12.9 million, or 11%;ampared with the same period of
prior year.
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OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

($inthousands) For the three months ended March
$ Increast % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Wage and benefit expens $ 291,57 $ 292,5¢ $ (1,021 -
All other operating expens: 249,92 258,9 (9,062 (3%)
$ 541,49 $ 551,5¢ $ (10,08¢ (2%)

Wage and benefit expenses

Wage and benefit expenses for the three monthsldvidech 31, 2013 decreased $1.0 million to $291ilom, (including $2.4 million and $6
million of severance costs for the three monthqebsiin 2013 and 2012, related to 67 and 219 eme#yespectively), as compared to the 1
months ended March 31, 2012, primarily due to loeasts for compensation resulting from lower averamployee headcount offset by hig
costs for certain other benefits, including pengind OPEB expense, as discussed below.

Since closing the Transaction, the Company has beducing its reliance on outside contractors aedders by bringing work ilouse t
employees. With the systems and network convessiompleted, the Company is focusing on simplifyitsgprocesses to reduce wage and non
wage costs. In the fourth quarter of 2012, the @ammy recorded severance costs of $17.2 milliorieelto the termination of 537 employee
connection with the workforce reduction. We exp=aployee headcount to decline further during émeainder of 2013.

Pension and OPEB costs for the Company are inclidedr wage and benefit expenses. Pension andB@BEts for the three months en
March 31, 2013 and 2012 were approximately $20lBomiand $16.0 million, respectively. Pension &EEB costs include pension and Ol
expense of $25.5 million and $20.2 million, lessoants capitalized into the cost of capital expamdi of $4.9 million and $4.2 million for t
three months ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, régplgct

Based on current assumptions and plan asset valgesstimate that our 2013 pension and other postreent benefit expenses (which w
$81.6 million in 2012 before amounts capitalizetithe cost of capital expenditures) will be apjmately $100 million to $110 million befc
amounts capitalized into the cost of capital exjienes.

All other operating expenses

All other operating expenses for the three monttded March 31, 2013 decreased $9.1 million, or 84249.9 million, as compared with
three months ended March 31, 2012, primarily dudbéoelimination of redundant information techngl@psts associated with the completio
the systems conversions, and lower outside secasts, as described above.

DEPRECIATION AND AMORTIZATION EXPENSE

($inthousands) For the three months ended March
$ Increast % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Depreciation expens $ 216,65 $ 210,34t % 6,30 3%
Amortization expens 87,02 146,9 (59,93) (41%)
$ 303,67 $ 357,300 $ (53,62) (15%)
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Depreciationand amortization expense for the three months endimath 31, 2013 decreased $53.6 million, or 15%$363.7 million, a
compared to the three months ended March 31, 2B8hibrtization expense decreased $59.9 million prindue to lower amortization exper
associated with the accelerated woféduring the first quarter of 2012 of certaintsadre licenses no longer required for operations @sult ¢
the completed systems conversions, certain Frofegacy properties that were fully amortized in 2Cdnd the amortization related to
customer base that is amortized on an acceleratttioch Depreciation expense increased $6.3 milidmarily due to changes in 1
remaining useful lives of certain assets.

We annually commission an independent study to tepithe estimated remaining useful lives of our pkssets. The latest study was comp
in the fourth quarter of 2012, and after review andlysis of the results, we adopted new liveséotain plant assets as of October 1, 2012.
“composite depreciation ratddr plant assets was 6.65% as a result of the stUdy anticipate depreciation expense of approxmab85(
million to $870 million for 2013.

Amortization expense for the three months endeccmad, 2013 and 2012 included $87.0 million andé8a.3nillion, respectively, for intangik
assets (primarily customer base) that were acqiiréte Transaction based on an estimated uséfublinine years for the residential custo
base and 12 years for the business customer basetized on an accelerated method. We anticipatertization expense of approximat
$330 million for 2013.

INTEGRATION COSTS

For the three months ended March

($in thousands) $ Increast % Increast
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Integration cost $ - $ 35,14 $ (35,144 (100%)

Integration costs included expenses incurred giatte the network and information technology platfs, and to enable other integration
cost savings initiatives. In the first quarter28f12, the Company successfully converted the dpgraystems in the remaining nine states ¢
Acquired Business to our legacy systems after atimgefour states of the Acquired Business durimg fourth quarter of 2011. Therefore, a
March 31, 2012, the Company had completed its métvemd systems integration into one platform. \Whihese conversions have b
completed, the Company continued throughout 201mplify its processes, eliminate redundancies fantther reduce its cost structure wi
improving its customer service capabilities. Thar@any incurred $35.1 million of operating expereed $15.7 million in capital expenditu
related to integration activities during the fitlstee months of 2012. All integration activitiesne completed as of the end of 2012.

INVESTMENT INCOME / OTHER INCOME, NET / INTEREST EX PENSE / INCOME TAX EXPENSE

For the three months ended Ma

31,
($inthousands) $ Increast % Increase
2013 2012 (Decrease (Decrease
Investment incom $ 3,06 % 2,10 % 95¢ 46%
Other income, ne $ 159: $ 3,48t % (1,897 (54%)
Interest expens $ 17142  $ 164,86. $ 6,55¢ 4%
Income tax expens $ 33,27 % 18,69: $ 14,58: 78%

I nvestment I ncome

Investment income for the three months ended Maict013 increased $1.0 million to $3.1 million,cagnpared with the three months er
March 31, 2012, primarily due to $1.3 million investment gains associated with cash received dinadirst quarter of 2013 in connect
with our previously written-off investment in Addiia.
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Our average cash balances were $1,101.2 million$846.0 million for the three months ended March 3113 and 2012, respectively. (
average total restricted cash balance was $42lipménd $142.0 million for the three months entiéattch 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net for the three months ended Maic2013 decreased $1.9 million to $1.6 millioncampared with the three months er
March 31, 2012, primarily due to a decrease of $dilkon in the settlement of customer advancesasapared with the first quarter of the p
year.

I nterest expense

Interest expense for the three months ended MarcRB®L3 increased $6.6 million, or 4%, to $171.4iom, as compared with the three mor
ended March 31, 2012, primarily due to higher agerdebt levels and lower capitalized interest i6300ur average debt outstanding
$8,684.0 million and $8,342.3 million for the thne®nths ended March 31, 2013 and 2012, respectiv@ly composite average borrowing
as of March 31, 2013 and 2012 was 7.94% and 7.828pectively.

I ncome tax expense

Income tax expense for the three months ended M2t¢cl2013 increased $14.6 million to $33.3 milli@s, compared with the three mot
ended March 31, 2012. The variance is primarilg thuhigher pretax income in 2013. The effectaserate for the first three months of 2
and 2012 was 39.6% and 38.0%, respectively.

The amount of our uncertain tax positions whoseutgeof limitations are expected to expire durihg hext twelve months and which wc
affect our effective tax rate is $5.2 million ashdirch 31, 2013.

We paid $0.9 million in net cash taxes and recefd@d million in cash tax refunds, net during theee months ended March 31, 2013, and ©
respectively. Absent any legislative changes ib32@ve expect that our cash tax payments will i@apmately $125 million to $150 millic
for the full year of 2013. Our 2013 cash tax eatignreflects the continued impact of bonus deptiecien accordance with the Americ
Taxpayer Relief Act of 2012.

Net income attributable to common shareholders of Frontier
Net income attributable to common shareholdersrohfter for the first quarter of 2013 was $48.1liwil, or $0.05 per share, as compare
$26.8 million, or $0.03 per share, in the first qanof 2012.

Iltem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosuresabout Market Risk

We are exposed to market risk in the normal coafsaur business operations due to ongoing investimg) funding activities, including thc
associated with our pension plan assets. Marletefers to the potential change in fair value dihancial instrument as a result of fluctuati
in interest rates and equity prices. We do nodhml issue derivative instruments, derivative comityoinstruments or other financ
instruments for trading purposes. As a resultda@ot undertake any specific actions to coveresyposure to market risks, and we are not |
to any market risk management agreements otherithidne normal course of business. Our primaryketarisk exposures are interest rate
and equity price risk as follows:

Interest Rate Exposure

Our exposure to market risk for changes in interatss relates primarily to the interéstaring portion of our pension investment portfaia
related obligations, and floating rate indebtedné&3sr longterm debt as of March 31, 2013 was 94% fixed ratat evith minimal exposure
interest rate changes. We had no interest ratp agrieements related to our fixed rate debt irceieMarch 31, 2013.

Our objectives in managing our interest rate rigk ta limit the impact of interest rate changeseamings and cash flows and to lower
overall borrowing costs. To achieve these objestiall but $503.1 million of our outstanding bevings at March 31, 2013 have fixed inte
rates. In addition, our undrawn $750.0 millionoking credit facility has interest rates that fleeth LIBOR, as defined. Consequently,
have limited material future earnings or cash feposures from changes in interest rates on ogrtlenm debt. An adverse change in inte
rates would increase the amount that we pay orvatable rate obligations and could result in fliattons in the fair value of our fixed r
obligations. Based upon our overall interest esggosure at March 31, 2013, a n&amrn change in interest rates would not materiifgct ou
consolidated financial position, results of openasi or cash flows.
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Sensitivity analysis of interest rate exposure

At March 31, 2013, the fair value of our loteym debt was estimated to be approximately $8l@ti based on our overall weighted avel
borrowing rate of 7.94% and our overall weightedrage maturity of approximately 9 years. As ofréha31l, 2013, there has been no mat
change in the weighted average maturity appliceb@ur obligations since December 31, 2012,

Equity Price Exposure

Our exposure to market risks for changes in eqgetyurity prices as of March 31, 2013 is limitedbts pension plan assets. We have no
security investments of any material amount.

The Companys pension plan assets have decreased from $1,85i¢h at December 31, 2012 to $1,224.3 millionMarch 31, 2013,
decrease of $29.3 million, or 2%. This decrease rissult of benefit payments of $89.1 million,seff by positive investment returns and
contributions for a combined total of $59.8 millidaring the first three months of 2013. We madaltcash contributions to our pension j
during the first three months of 2013 of $12.1 imill We expect that we will make contributionsowr pension plan of approximately ¢
million in 2013.
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Item 4. Controls and Procedures

(a) Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedi

We carried out an evaluation, under the superviaiwh with the participation of our management,udiig our principal executive officer g
principal financial officer, regarding the effeaivess of our disclosure controls and procedureddfised in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d.5{e
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as as®ndBased upon this evaluation, our principalcakge officer and principal financi
officer concluded, as of the end of the period cedédy this report, March 31, 2013, that our disate controls and procedures were effective.

(b) Changes in internal control over financial repay

We reviewed our internal control over financial ogjng at March 31, 2013. As a result of the Teati®n, we have integrated the busi
processes and systems of the Acquired Businessaaraf,March 31, 2012, the Company had completedetwork and systems integration
one platform. Accordingly, certain changes werelei® our internal controls over financial repagtaoturing 2012.

There have been no other changes in our intermafalcover financial reporting identified in an éwation thereof that occurred during the -
fiscal quarter of 2013 that materially affectedjreasonably likely to materially affect, ouramal control over financial reporting.
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ltem 1. Legal Proceedings

See Note 17 of the Notes to Consolidated Finar8tiements included in Part |, Item 1 of this répdhere have been no material chang
our legal proceedings from the information providedtem 3. “Legal Proceedings” included in ourrAmal Report on Form 1B-for the yea
ended December 31, 2012.

We are party to various legal proceedings (inclgdimdividual, class and putative class actions3imgi in the normal course of our busir
covering a wide range of matters and types of ddmoluding, but not limited to, general contradtling disputes, rights of access, taxes
surcharges, consumer protection, trademark andtpateingement, employment, regulatory, tort, olaiof competitors and disputes with o
carriers. Litigation is subject to uncertainty ath@ outcome of individual matters is not predi@atHowever, we believe that the ultim
resolution of all such matters, after considerimgurance coverage or other indemnities to whiclargeentitled, will not have a material adv
effect on our financial position, results of opamas, or our cash flows.

Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

There have been no changes to the Risk Factorslidin Part 1 “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the Cpamy’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the fiscal year ended December 31, 2012, as fiidutive SEC.

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securés and Use of Proceeds

There were no unregistered sales of equity seesritiring the quarter ended March 31, 2013.
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ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Total
Number ol Average

Shares Price Pai
Period Purchase: per Share
January 1, 2013 to January 31, 2
Employee Transactions ( 4,26¢ $ 4.2¢
February 1, 2013 to February 28, 2(
Employee Transactions ( 693,44 $ 4.1¢
March 1, 2013 to March 31, 20
Employee Transactions ( 4,00z $ 4.1¢
Totals January 1, 2013 to March 31, 2(
Employee Transactions ( 701,70¢ $ 4.1¢

(1) Includes restricted shares withheld (under the sesfrgrants under employee stock compensation Jptansffset minimum tax withholdir
obligations that occur upon the vesting of restdcshares. The Compasystock compensation plans provide that the vafushare
withheld shall be the average of the high and lowepof the Compar's common stock on the date the relevant transactionrs.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure

Not applicable
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(a) Exhibits:

10.1

311
31.2

32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH
101.PRE
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.DEF
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Credit Agreement, dated as of May 3, 2013, ambadXompany, the Lenders party thereto and JPMdZhase Bank
N.A., as Administrative Agen

Certification of Principal Executive Officer pursudo Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!
Certification of Principal Financial Officer purquao Rule 13-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1!

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuamt 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant ¢bo8e906 of th
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuantaiio8e906 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

XBRL Instance Documen

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Presentation Linkbase Docum:

XBRL Taxonomy Calculation Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Label Linkbase Docume

XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docurhe

42




PART Il. OTHER INFORMATION
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIE S

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgph Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caussdeport to be signed on its behalf
by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATIO!
(Registrant’

By: /s/ Susana’Emic
Susana [ Emic
Senior Vice Presidand Controlle

Date: May 7, 201.
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J.P.MORGAN

CREDIT AGREEMENT
dated as of
May 3, 2013
among
FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION
The LENDERS Party Hereto

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N. A.
as Administrative Agent

J.P. MORGAN SECURITIES LLC
CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC,
as Joint Lead Arrangers and Joint Bookrunners

CREDIT SUISSE SECURITIES (USA) LLC
as Syndication Agent

MERRILL LYNCH, PIERCE, FENNER & SMITH INCORPORATED,
as Joint Bookrunner

BANK OF AMERICA, N.A,,
as Joint Documentation Agent

and

BARCLAYS BANK PLC
CITIGROUP GLOBAL MARKETS INC.
DEUTSCHE BANK SECURITIES INC.
MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.
THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC,
as Joint Bookrunners and Joint Documentation Agents

$750,000,000
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CREDIT AGREEMENT dated as of May 3, 2013, betweBONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION, a Delaware
corporation (the “ Borrowet), the LENDERS party hereto and JPMORGAN CHASE BAN. A., as Administrative Agent.

WHEREAS, the Borrower has requested that the Len@er so defined) extend credit to it in an aggeegencipal or face
amount not exceeding $750,000,000 (as such amaaybmdecreased or increased pursuant to the térinis Agreement) at any one time
outstanding;

NOW, THEREFORE, the Lenders are prepared to exdentl credit upon the terms and conditions herexf, accordingly,
the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE |
DEFINITIONS
SECTION 1.01 Defined TermsAs used in this Agreement, the following ternasdthe meanings specified below:

“ABR ", when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowieders to whether such Loan, or the Loans comyisiich
Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate deterchimereference to the Alternate Base Rate.

“ Additional Lender” has the meaning assigned to such term in Se2tdr(e).

“ Adjusted LIBO Raté’ means, for the Interest Period for any Euroddarrowing, an interest rate per annum (rounded
upwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of 1%pktpi(a) the LIBO Rate for such Interest Periodtiplied by (b) the Statutory Reserve Rate
for such Interest Period.

“ Administrative Agenf’ means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A, in its capastgdministrative agent for the Lenders hereunder
and its successors in such capacity.

“ Administrative Questionnairémeans an Administrative Questionnaire in a foupgied by the Administrative Agent.

“ Affiliate " means, with respect to a specified Person, anétbeson that directly, or indirectly through onevore
intermediaries, Controls or is Controlled by ouigler common Control with the Person specified.

“ Alternate Base Ratémeans, for any day, a rate per annum equal tgtbatest of (a) the Prime Rate in effect on swagh d
(b) the Federal Funds Effective Rate for such day /2 of 1% and (c) the Adjusted LIBO Rate fare month Interest Period on such day (or
if such day is not a Business Day, the immedigtedceding Business Day) plus 1ptovided that, for the avoidance of doubt, the Adjusted
LIBO Rate for any day shall be based on the rapeagng on the Reuters Screen LIBOR01 Page (ongis@ccessor or substitute page) at
approximately 11:00 a.m. London time on such dajh@ut any rounding). Any change in the AlternBeese Rate due to a change in the Prime
Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate or the AejukIBO Rate shall be effective from and includthg effective date of such change in the
Prime Rate, the Federal Funds Effective Rate oAtljasted LIBO Rate, respectively.




“ Applicable Percentagémeans, with respect to any Lender, the percentagfee total Commitments represented by such
Lender's Commitmengprovided that in the case of Section 2.17 when a Defaultigder shall exist, any such Defaulting Lendé&@ommitmen
shall be disregarded in the calculation. If thenBatments have terminated or expired, the Appliedtdrcentages shall be determined based
upon the Commitments most recently in effect, givffect to any assignments.

“ Applicable Raté’ means, for any day, with respect to any ABR Loafurodollar Loan, or with respect to the committne
fees payable hereunder, as the case may be, theajpgprate per annum set forth below, based uperbebt Rating of the Borrower as set f
below:

Pricing Debt Rating of the Borrower Applicable Rate for ABR  Applicable Rate for Applicable Rate for
Level Loans Eurodollar Loans Commitment Fee
1 > Baa3/ BBI- 0.50% 1.50% 0.250%
2 Bal/ BB+ 0.75% 1.75% 0.350%
3 Ba2 / BB 1.00% 2.00% 0.400%
4 < Ba3/BE- 1.50% 2.50% 0.450%

Initially, the Applicable Rate shall be determir®bed upon Pricing Level 3. Thereafter, each ahamthe Applicable Rate resulting from a
publicly announced change in the Debt Rating dtakffective, in the case of an upgrade, duringpdreod commencing on the date of the
public announcement thereof and ending on theidateediately preceding the effective date of thetisexch change and, in the case of a
downgrade, during the period commencing on the afatiee public announcement thereof and endindherdaite immediately preceding the
effective date of the next such change.

“ Asset Exchangé means the exchange or other transfer of telecomications assets between or among the Borrower and
another Person or other Persons in connectionwtitbh the Borrower would transfer telecommunicagi@ssets and/or other property in
consideration of the receipt of telecommunicatiassets and/or other property having a fair maréktevsubstantially equivalent to those
transferred by the Borrower (as determined in dadtl by the Borrower’'s Board of Directorgkovided that the principal value of the assets
being transferred to the Borrower shall be represkhy telecommunications assets.

“ Assignment and Assumptidrmeans an assignment and assumption enteredyrad_bnder and an assignee (with the
consent of any party whose consent is requireddayi@ 9.04), and accepted by the Administrativem{gin substantially the form of Exhibit A
or any other form approved by the AdministrativeeAty




“ Availability Period” means the period from and including the EffeciDate to but excluding the earlier of the Commitinen
Termination Date and the date of termination ofGloenmitments.

“ Bankruptcy Event means, with respect to any Person, such Persoonies the subject of a bankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding, or has had a receiver, conservat@tegyadministrator, custodian, assignee for thefiieof creditors or similar Person charged
with reorganization or liquidation of its busineappointed for it, or, in the good faith determioatof the Administrative Agent, has taken any
action in furtherance of, or indicating its consentapproval of, or acquiescence in, any suchgeding or appointment, provided that a
Bankruptcy Event shall not result solely by virafeany ownership interest, or the acquisition of awnership interest, in such Person by a
Governmental Authority or instrumentality thereafovided that such ownership interest does not result jprovide such Lender or its direct or
indirect parent company with immunity from the gdiction of courts within the United States or frtime enforcement of judgments or writs of
attachment on its assets or permit such Pers@su@dr Governmental Authority or instrumentality) régect, repudiate, disavow or disaffirm any
contracts or agreements made by such Person.

“ Board” means the Board of Governors of the Federal ResBystem of the United States of America.
“ Borrower”. has the meaning assigned to such term in thenpioée hereto.

“ Borrowing” means (a) all ABR Loans made or converted on threesdate or (b) Eurodollar Loans of the same Typehhawv
the same Interest Period.

“ Borrowing Approvals’ has the meaning assigned to such term in Se8tah(b).

“ Borrowing Request means a request by the Borrower for a Borrowimgdcordance with Section 2.03.

“ Business Day means any day (a) that is not a Saturday, Suondayher day on which commercial banks in New YOity
are authorized or required by law to remain clcmedl (b) if such day relates to a borrowing, a caration or conversion of or into, or the
Interest Period for, a Eurodollar Borrowing, ofatootice by the Borrower with respect to any sumtidwing, payment, prepayment,
continuation, conversion, or Interest Period, thailso a day on which dealings in Dollar depasitscarried out in the London interbank mar

“ Capital Lease Obligatiorisof any Person means the obligations of such Pets@ay rent or other amounts under any lease
of (or other arrangement conveying the right to) usal or personal property, or a combination tbEnehich obligations are required to be
classified and accounted for as capital leaseshmiaace sheet of such Person under GAAP andhdopurposes of this Agreement, the amount
of such obligations at any time shall be the ctipéd amount thereof at such time determined imatance with GAAP.




A “ Change in Contral shall be deemed to have occurred if (a) any Reos@roup (within the meaning of Rule 13d-5 of the
Securities and Exchange Commission as in effethewlate hereof) shall own directly or indirectigneficially or of record, shares representing
more than 50% of the aggregate ordinary voting poeresented by the issued and outstanding capitelk of the Borrower; or (b) a majority
of the seats (other than vacant seats) on the ldalicectors of the Borrower shall at any time é&deen occupied by Persons who were neither
(i) nominated by the board of directors or the nggemaent of the Borrower, nor (ii) appointed by dioes so nominated.

“ Change in Law means (a) the adoption of any law, rule or retioteafter the date of this Agreement, (b) any cjeaim any
law, rule or regulation or in the interpretationagplication thereof by any Governmental Authoatter the date of this Agreement or (c)
compliance by any Lender or any Issuing Bank @r plurposes of Section 2.15(b), by any lendingceffif such Lender or by such Lender’s or
the Issuing Banls holding company, if any) with any request, guitebr directive (whether or not having the forééagv) of any Government
Authority made or issued after the date of thisegnentprovided that notwithstanding anything herein to the comtrél) the Dodd-Frank Wall
Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act andegliests, rules, guidelines or directives thereyrisiemed in connection therewith or in
implementation thereof, and (ii) all requests, sulguidelines and directives promulgated by thekBanInternational Settlements, the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision (or any successsimilar authority) or the United States or fgreregulatory authorities, in each case
relating to Basel lll, shall in the case of eaclhaf foregoing clauses (i) and (ii), be deemedeta bChange in Law,” regardless of the date
enacted, adopted, issued or implemented.

“ Code” means the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as asdend

“ Commitment” means, with respect to each Lender, the commitnifeainy, of such Lender to make Loans and to aequ
participations in Letters of Credit hereunder, esged as an amount representing the maximum aggi@gaunt of such Lender’s Revolving
Credit Exposure hereunder, as such commitment m&g)reduced or increased from time to time pursteaSection 2.07 and (b) reduced or
increased from time to time pursuant to assignmiaynts to such Lender pursuant to Section 9.04e ifhial amount of each Lender's
Commitment is set forth on Schedule 1 or in theigxgrent and Assumption pursuant to which such Lesball have assumed its Commitme
as applicable. The initial aggregate amount olLimeders’ Commitments is $750,000,000.

“ Commitment Termination Datemeans the date that is three years and six calendnths after the Effective Date (or, if
there is no numerically corresponding date to tfiedve Date in the month that in the sixth moatfter the three year anniversary of the
Effective Date, the last day of such calendar mpmttovided that if such date is not a Business Day then tteni@itment Termination Date”
shall be the immediately preceding Business Day.

“ Companies' has the meaning assigned to such term in Sebtiti2(a).




“ Consolidated EBITDA means, with respect to the Borrower and its Slibses for any period, the sum of (i) operating
income for such period (excluding integration aestructuring costs)plus (i) to the extent resulting in reductions in swgerating income for
such period, (a) depreciation and amortization rgpdor such period and (b) the amount of non-chaahges for such periodnus (iii) to the
extent resulting in increases in such operatingrime for such period, the non-cash gains for sudbgeall determined on a consolidated basis
in accordance with GAAP. For any period of caltola “Consolidated EBITDA” shall be adjusted togipro forma effect to any Material
Transaction, as determined reasonably and in gaittdlfy a Financial Officer, during the period alaulation as if such Material Transaction
occurred on the first day of such period of caltiata provided that such pro forma calculations shall only inclsdeh adjustments as (1) are
permitted under Regulation S-X of the Securitied BRchange Commission or (2)(a) are reasonablytifdehie and factually supportable, in
each case as determined in good faith by the Bamcand expected by the Borrower to be realizebimit2 months after any Material
Transaction and (b) do not in the aggregate ext6éd of Consolidated EBITDA for such period priomiing effect to such adjustments. As
used in this definition, “ Material Transactibmeans any acquisition or disposition outsidedfdinary course of business of any property or
assets that (x) constitute assets comprising allibstantially all of an operating unit of a busger equity interests of a Person representing a
majority of the ordinary voting power or econonigarests in such Person that are represented lty alltstanding capital stock and (y) invol
aggregate consideration in excess of $50,000,000.

“ Consolidated Net Worthmeans, as at any date of determination, the disleded stockholders’ equity of the Borrower and
its consolidated Subsidiaries, including redeempbiéerred securities where the redemption datarsafter the Commitment Termination
Date, mandatorily redeemable convertible or exchahlg preferred securities, mandatorily convertilexchangeable Indebtedness (or
Indebtedness subject to mandatory forward purcbasgacts for equity or similar securities) and anity equity interests in other persons, as
determined on a consolidated basis in conformith @AAP consistently applied.

“ Consolidated Tangible Assetsneans, for any Person, total assets of such Renso its consolidated Subsidiaries,
determined on a consolidated basis, less googwilents, trademarks and other assets classifiedaagjible assets in accordance with GAAP.

“ Control” means the possession, directly or indirectlythef power to direct or cause the direction of ttenagement or
policies of a Person, whether through the abibtgxercise voting power, by contract or otherwis€ontrolling” and “ Controlled’ have
meanings correlative thereto.

“ Debt Rating” means, as of any date of determination, the ratindetermined by the Nationally Recognized Ratkgencie:
(collectively, the “ Debt Ratingy of the Borrower’s non-credit-enhanced, seniosecured long-term delgrovided that () if the respective
Debt Ratings issued by the foregoing rating agendiier by one level, then the Pricing Level foethigher of such Debt Ratings shall apply
(with the Debt Rating for Pricing Level 1 being thighest and the Debt Rating for Pricing Level thbahe lowest); (b) if there is a split in Debt
Ratings of more than one level, then the PricingelLéhat is one level higher than the Pricing Lesfehe lower Debt Rating shall apply; (c) if
the Borrower has only one Debt Rating, the Pritiagel that is one level lower than that of such OR&ting shall apply; and (d) if the Borrow
does not have any Debt Rating, Pricing Level 4lstply.




“ Debtor Relief Laws means the Bankruptcy Code of the United StateSmoérica, and all other liquidation, conservatopshi
bankruptcy, assignment for the benefit of credjtorsratorium, rearrangement, receivership, insalyereorganization, or similar debtor relief
Laws of the United States of America or other agtile jurisdictions from time to time in effect aafliecting the rights of creditors generally.

“ Default” means any event or condition which, upon notigpse of time or both would, unless cured or wai\metome an
Event of Default.

“ Defaulting Lender means any Lender (a) that has failed to fund@onion of its Loans or participations in LettefsQyedit
within three Business Days of the date requirdoetéunded by it hereunder, unless such Lenderiestifie Administrative Agent in writing that
such failure is the result of Lender’s good failtedmination that a condition precedent to fundspgcifically identified and supported by facts)
has not been satisfied, (b) that has notified thieddver, the Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bamlany Lender in writing that it does not
intend to comply with any of its funding obligat®onder this Agreement or has made a public statetmehe effect that it does not intend to
comply with its funding obligations under this Agreent, (c) that has failed, within three Busineag<after written request by the
Administrative Agent, to confirm that it will complwith the terms of this Agreement relating todtdigations to fund prospective Loans and
participations in then outstanding Letters of Craghless such failure is the result of a goodhfdittermination that a condition precedent to
funding (specifically identified and supported lagts) has not been satisfied, (d) that has otherfaiked to pay over to the Administrative Ag
or any other Lender any other amount (other thde minimis amount) required to be paid by it hedssrwithin three Business Days of the date
when due, unless the subject of a good faith déspute) if a Bankruptcy Event has occurred wigpeet to such Lender (or any holding
company parent of such Lender).

“Dollars” or “ $ " refers to lawful money of the United States of énga.

“ Effective Date” means the date on which the conditions specifieglection 4.01 are satisfied (or waived in accoogawith
Section 9.02).

“ Environmental Laws$ means all national, federal, state, provincialinicipal or local laws, statutes, ordinances, arder
judgments, decrees, injunctions, writs, policied guidelines (having the force of law), directivapprovals, notices, rules and regulations
other applicable laws relating to environmentabocupational health and safety matters, includinge relating to the Release or threatened
Release of Specified Substances and to the gemerate, storage or transportation of Specifieds&uizes, each as in effect as of the date of
determination.




“ERISA " means the Employee Retirement Income Security At9d4 and the regulations promulgated and thagalissue
thereunder.

“ ERISA Affiliate " means each trade or business (whether or notpocated) which together with the Borrower or a
Subsidiary of the Borrower would be deemed to beragle employer” within the meaning of Section 408)(1) of ERISA.

“ ERISA Termination Event means (i) a “Reportable Event” described in Setd043 of ERISA (other than a “Reportable
Event” not subject to the provision for 30-day netto the PBGC under such regulations), or (ilwitadrawal of the Borrower or any of its
ERISA Affiliates from a Plan during a plan yeamhich it was a “substantial employer” as define&gttion 4001(a)(2) of ERISA, or (iii) the
filing of a notice of intent to terminate a Plantbe treatment of a Plan amendment as a terminatidar Section 4041 of ERISA, or (iv) the
institution of proceeding to terminate a Plan by BBGC or (v) any other event or condition whiclgimiconstitute grounds under Section 4042
of ERISA for the termination of, or the appointmeft trustee to administer, any Plan.

“ Eurodollar”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrownefers to whether such Loan, or the Loans commgisuch
Borrowing, are bearing interest at a rate deterchinereference to the Adjusted LIBO Rate.

“ Event of Defaulf’ has the meaning assigned to such term in Se€tidh

“ Excluded Taxes$ means, with respect to the Administrative Agemty Lender or the Issuing Bank or any other renipié
any payment to be made by or on account of angatitin of the Borrower hereunder or under any oltlo@n Document, (a) Taxes imposed on
or measured by its overall net income (however denated), and franchise taxes imposed on it (im diEnet income taxes), by the jurisdiction
(or any political subdivision thereof) under thevdaof which such recipient is organized or in whishprincipal office is located or, in the case
of any Lender, in which its applicable lending offiis located, (b) any Tax in the nature of theabdngprofits tax under Section 884(a) of the
Code that is imposed by any jurisdiction descrileclause (a), (c) in the case of a Foreign Lelfd#rer than an assignee pursuant to a request
by the Borrower under Section 2.16(b)), any U.8efal withholding Tax that is imposed on amountgpée to such Foreign Lender pursuar
any Law in effect at the time such Lender becomearty hereto (or designates a new lending offiee¢ept to the extent that such Lender (c
assignor, if any) was entitled, at the time of geation of a new lending office (or assignmentyceive additional amounts from the Borrower
with respect to such withholding Tax pursuant toti®a 2.14(a), (d) Taxes attributable to a Lendesther recipient’s failure to comply with
Section 2.14(e), and (e) any U.S. federal withimgdiaxes imposed under FATCA.

“ Existing Credit Agreemeritmeans the Credit Agreement dated as of Marct2@B0, among the Borrower, the lenders party
thereto, and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as admatiig agent, as in effect on the date hereof.




“EATCA " means Sections 1471 through 1474 of the Codef thee date of this Agreement (or any amended ocessor
version that is substantively comparable and ndérizdly more onerous to comply with), any currenfuture regulations or official
interpretations thereof and any agreements entetegursuant to Section 1471(b)(1) of the Code\ated that such code section is
substantively comparable and no material more arsetmcomply with, as compared to the current eejsi

“ Federal Funds Effective Rte” means, for any day, the weighted average (fedimpwards, if necessary, to the next 1/100 of
1%) of the rates on overnight Federal funds traiwas with members of the Federal Reserve Systeamged by Federal funds brokers, as
published on the next succeeding Business Dayé¥¢deral Reserve Bank of New York, or, if suck isnot so published for any day that is a
Business Day, the average (rounded upwards, ifssacg, to the next 1/100 of 1%) of the quotatiamsstich day for such transactions received
by the Administrative Agent from three Federal fafmokers of recognized standing selected by it.

“ Einancial Officer” of any Person means the President, Chief Fina@facer, Chief Executive Officer, Vice President
Finance, Executive Vice President, Chief Accountifficer, Treasurer or Controller of such corparati Any document delivered hereunder
that is signed by a Financial Officer shall be dasiwely presumed to have been authorized by akssary corporate action on the part of the
Borrower and such Financial Officer shall be cosilaly presumed to have acted on behalf of the®oer.

“ Foreign Lendef’ means any Lender or Issuing Bank that is not @ddrStates person within the meaning of Sectidil &)
(30) of the Code.

“ GAAP " means generally accepted accounting principleeénUnited States of America.

“ Governmental Approvdl means any authorization, consent, order, apprdicahse, franchise, lease, ruling, tariff, rate,
permit, certificate, exemption of, or filing or iegation with, any Governmental Authority.

“ Governmental Authority means the government of the United States of Agaesr any other nation, or of any political
subdivision thereof, whether state or local, angagency, authority, instrumentality, regulatondippocourt, central bank or other entity
exercising executive, legislative, judicial, taximggulatory or administrative powers or functiafir pertaining to government (including any
supra-national bodies such as the European Unitimedeuropean Central Bank).

“ Guarante€ means, as to any Person, any obligation, contingeotherwise, of such Person guaranteeing angdtie
economic effect of guaranteeing any Indebtednesshar obligation payable or performable by anofPerson (the “ primary obligd) in any
manner, whether directly or indirectly, and inchagliany obligation of such Person, direct or indirGrto purchase or pay (or advance or supply
funds for the purchase or payment of) such Indetetssi or other obligation, (ii) to purchase or lga®perty, securities or services for the
purpose of assuring the obligee in respect of sutkbtedness or other obligation of the paymemeoformance of such Indebtedness or other
obligation, (iii) to maintain working capital, edquicapital or any other financial statement comwditor liquidity or level of income or cash flow
the primary obligor so as to enable the primarygalto pay such Indebtedness or other obligatoriiv) entered into for the purpose of
assuring in any other manner the obligee in resgfesiich Indebtedness or other obligation of theent or performance thereof or to protect
such obligee against loss in respect thereof (iolevbr in part). The amount of any Guarantee dfetleemed to be an amount equal to the
stated or determinable amount of the related psirohligation, or portion thereof, in respect of ahisuch Guarantee is made or, if not stated or
determinable, the maximum reasonably anticipatdalliy in respect thereof as determined by thergnieing Person in good faith. The term “
Guaranteé as a verb has a corresponding meaning.




“ Guaranty Agreemeritmeans, collectively, each Guarantee executeddafidered pursuant to Section 6.08(a).

“ Hostile Acquisition” means any Target Acquisition (as defined belawpiving a tender offer or proxy contest that has n
been recommended or approved by the board of dise@r similar governing body) of the Person ihdahe subject of such Target Acquisition
prior to the first public announcement or discl@stglating to such Target Acquisition. As usethis definition, the term “ Target Acquisitidn
means any transaction, or any series of relatedacions, by which the Borrower and/or any oSitsidiaries is to directly or indirectly (i)
acquire any ongoing business or all or substantllof the assets of any Person or division tbEnehether through purchase of assets, merger
or otherwise, (ii) acquire (in one transaction ®itlze most recent transaction in a series of trdioge) control of at least a majority in ordinary
voting power of the securities of a Person whichehardinary voting power for the election of direrst or (iii) otherwise acquire control of a
more than 50% ownership interest in any such Person

“ Increased Commitment Datéhas the meaning assigned to such term in Se2tidi(e).

“ Indebtedness of any Person means, without duplication, (apaligations of such Person for borrowed money it w
respect to deposits or advances of any kind (dt@r customer deposits made in the ordinary cafrbeasiness), (b) all obligations of such
Person evidenced by bonds, debentures, notes tarsinstruments, (c) all obligations of such Person which interest charges are
customarily paid, (d) all obligations of such Persmder conditional sale or other title retentigne@ments relating to property or assets
purchased by such Person, (e) all obligations cfi ®erson issued or assumed as the deferred penghies of property or services (other than
current trade payables, expense accruals and eéefesmpensation items arising, in each case, im Bacson’s ordinary course of business), (f)
all Indebtedness of others secured by (or for wthiehholder of such Indebtedness has an existiing, tontingent or otherwise, to be secured
by) any Lien on property owned or acquired by sRerson, whether or not the obligations secureatiyehave been assumedovided that if
such Person has not assumed such obligationstiteimount of Indebtedness of such Person for gegoof this clause (f) shall be equal to the
lesser of the amount of the obligations of the aplaf such obligations and the fair market valuéhefassets of such Person that secure such
obligations, (g) all Capital Lease Obligations ofls Person, (h) all obligations of such Persorespect of Swap Contracts (except to the extent
such obligations are used as a bona fide hedgthef thdebtedness of such Pers@nyided the amount of such obligations shall be deemed to
be the net termination obligations of such Persencunder calculated as if such Swap Contracts tgerénated on such date of calculation (
such net termination shall not be less than zarpdgposes of this definition), (i) all obligation§ such Person as an account party in respect of
letters of credit and bankers’ acceptances (exoepe extent any such obligations are incurreslipport of other obligations constituting
Indebtedness of such Person and other than, &xteat reimbursed if drawn, letters of creditupgort of ordinary course performance
obligations), and (j) all Guarantees of such Pemarspect of any of the foregoing;ovided that the term Indebtedness shall not include
endorsements for collection or deposit, in eittegecin the ordinary course of business.




“ Indemnified Taxes$ means (a) Taxes, other than Excluded Taxes, igghos or with respect to any payment made by or on
account of any obligation of the Borrower under &ngn Document and (b) to the extent not otherdéesribed in (a), Other Taxes.

“ Indemnite€” has the meaning assigned to such term in Se8tia(b).
“ Information” has the meaning assigned to such term in Se8tith

“ Interest Election Reque$imeans a request by the Borrower to convert oticaa a Borrowing in accordance with Section

2.06.

“ Interest Payment Datemeans (a) with respect to any ABR Loan, each €uigrDate, and (b) with respect to any Eurodollar
Loan, the last day of each Interest Period ther@fidk, in the case of any Interest Period of masa three monthguration, each day prior to tl
last day of such Interest Period that occurs aetmonth intervals after the first day of suchiesé Period.

“ Interest Period means, for any Eurodollar Loan or Borrowing, ffegiod commencing on the date of such Loan or
Borrowing and ending on the numerically correspogdiay in the calendar month that is one, twogtlresix months (or, with the consent of
each Lender, nine or twelve months) thereaftespasified in the applicable Borrowing Request éelest Election Request;ovided that (i) if
any Interest Period would end on a day other thBnsiness Day, such Interest Period shall be erttalthe next succeeding Business Day
unless such next succeeding Business Day woulihfie next calendar month, in which case suotrést Period shall end on the next
preceding Business Day, and (ii) any Interest Bethat commences on the last Business Day of adatenonth (or on a day for which there is
no numerically corresponding day in the last cademdonth of such Interest Period) shall end orldbeBusiness Day of the last calendar month
of such Interest Period. For purposes hereofd#te of a Loan initially shall be the date on whicich Loan is made and thereafter shall be the
effective date of the most recent conversion otinaation of such Loan.

10




“Issuing Bank’ means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A, in its capastgn issuer of Letters of Credit hereunder, tnd i
successors in such capacity as provided in Se2td(j). The Issuing Bank may, in its good faithadetion, arrange for one or more Letters of
Credit to be issued by Affiliates of the IssuingnBain which case the term “Issuing Bargtiall include any such Affiliate with respect tottees
of Credit issued by such Affiliate.

“ Joint Lead Arrangers means the entities identified as such on the coféhis Agreement.

“ Laws” means, collectively, all international, foreigfederal, state and local statutes, treaties, rgleédelines, regulations,
ordinances, codes and administrative or judiciatedents or authorities, including the interpretatir administration thereof by any
Governmental Authority charged with the enforcematiérpretation or administration thereof, andaglplicable administrative orders, directed
duties, requests, licenses, authorizations andifseofp and agreements with, any governmental aityhian each case whether or not having the
force of law.

“ LC Disbursement means a payment made by the Issuing Bank pursoantetter of Credit.

“ LC Exposure’ means, at any time, the sum of (a) the aggregadeawn amount of all outstanding Letters of Cratiguch
time plus (b) the aggregate amount of all LC Diskurents that have not yet been reimbursed by belbalf of the Borrower at such time. The
LC Exposure of any Lender at any time shall béiplicable Percentage of the total LC Exposureuahgime.

“ Lenders” means the Persons listed on Schedule 1, any Btrson that shall have become a party hereto gmirsoi an
Assignment and Assumption and any “ Additional Lexridoursuant to Section 2.07(e), other than any $mtson that ceases to be a party
hereto pursuant to an Assignment and Assumption.

“ Letter of Credit’ means any letter of credit issued pursuant t® ffgreement.

“ Letter of Credit Documentsmeans, with respect to any Letter of Credit, ectively, any application therefor and any other
agreements, instruments, guarantees or other dodsiifvehether general in application or applicalvi/do such Letter of Credit) governing or
providing for (a) the rights and obligations of erties concerned or at risk with respect to dwetter of Credit or (b) any collateral security for
any of such obligations, each as the same may biigtband supplemented and in effect from timértee.

“ Leverage Ratid means, as of the last day of any fiscal quatter ratio of (a) Total Indebtedness as of suchtddip)
Consolidated EBITDA for the four consecutive fisgahrters ending on such day.

“ LIBO Rate” means, with respect to any Eurodollar Borrowingdny Interest Period, the rate appearing on Re@ereen
LIBORO1 Page (or on any successor or substitute paguch screen) at approximately 11:00 a.rm¢lap time, two Business Days prior to
the commencement of such Interest Period, as tadaaDollar deposits in the London interbank nednkith a maturity comparable to such
Interest Period. In the event that such rate doeappear on such page (or on any such successobstitute page), the “LIBO Rate” shall be
determined by reference to such other publiclylaléé service for displaying interest rates for |[Botieposits in the London interbank market as
may be selected by the Administrative Agent othimabsence of such availability, by referencééoraite at which Dollar deposits of $5,000,
and for a maturity comparable to such Interestdélesire offered by the principal London office of thdministrative Agent in immediately
available funds in the London interbank marketptraximately 11:00 a.m., London time, two BusinBsys prior to the commencement of s
Interest Period.
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“Lien " means, with respect to any asset, (a) any moetgdeed of trust, lien, pledge, encumbrance, charggecurity interest
in or on such asset, (b) the interest of a vendarlessor under any conditional sale agreemepitatdease, or title retention agreement relating
to such asset and (c) in the case of securitigsparchase option, call, or similar right of a thparty with respect to such securities.

“ Loan Document$ means, collectively, this Agreement, the RatiAgency Letter Agreement, any Guaranty Agreement and
each note issued pursuant to Section 2.08(f).

“ Loans” means the loans made by the Lenders to the Bemrpursuant to this Agreement.

“ Margin Regulation$ means Regulations T, U and X of the Board.

“ Material Adverse Effect means a material adverse effect on the busiassgts, operations, financial condition or resflts
operations of the Borrower and the Subsidiariesriads a whole.

“ Material Transactiori has the meaning assigned to such term in thaitiefi of Consolidated EBITDA.

“ Maximum Priority Amount’ shall mean, at any time, the sum of (a) 10% ef\talue of the consolidated total assets of the
Borrower and (b) 20% of the sum of the total coitlsted current assets and net property, plant gqoighement of the Borrower, in each case, as
shown on, or computed from, the most recent qugrterannual consolidated balance sheet of thed®eer delivered by the Borrower pursuant
to Section 5.02(a) or 5.02(b).

“ Nationally Recognized Ratings Agentyneans each ratings agency determined in accordéticéhe Ratings Agency Lett

Agreement.

“ Obligations” means all advances to, and debts, liabilitiesgakitbns, covenants and duties of, the Borroweiragrisnder an
Loan Document or otherwise with respect to any Loabetter of Credit, whether direct or indireai¢iuding those acquired by assumption),
absolute or contingent, due or to become due, nastirg or hereafter arising and including interast fees that accrue after the commence
by or against the Borrower or any Affiliate ther@éfany proceeding under any Debtor Relief Laws ingrsuch Person as the debtor in such
proceeding, regardless of whether such interesfesaslare allowed claims in such proceeding.
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“ Other Taxes means any and all present or future stamp or hectiary taxes or any other excise or property teotesrges
or similar levies arising from any payment madeshader or under any other Loan Document or fronetteeution, delivery or enforcement of,
or otherwise with respect to, this Agreement or ather Loan Document.

“ Participant” means any Person to whom a participation is asldermitted by clause (d) of Section 9.04.

“ Participant Registet has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(d).

“ PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporatiferired to and defined in ERISA.

“ Person” means any natural person, corporation, limite@ility company, trust, joint venture, associatioompany,
partnership, Governmental Authority or other entity

“Plan” means any pension plan (including a multiemplgylen) subject to the provisions of Title IV of EF! or Section 412
of the Code which is maintained for or to which trinutions are made for employees of the Borrowaary ERISA Affiliate.

“ Prime Rate’ means the per annum rate of interest establifioed time to time by the Administrative Agent, & principal
office in New York, New York as its prime lendingte. Any change in the interest rate resultinghfeochange in the Prime Rate shall become
effective as of 12:01 a.m. of the Business Day bitlweach change in the Prime Rate is announcéleb¥dministrative Agent. The prime
lending rate is a reference rate used by the Aditnative Agent in determining interest rates onaeroans and is not intended to be the lowest
rate of interest charged on any extension of ctediny debtor. The Administrative Agent may ma&emercial loans or other loans at rates of
interest at, above, or below its prime lending.rate

“ Principal Subsidiary means any Subsidiary of the Borrower whose Cadatdd Tangible Assets comprise in excess of 10%
of the Consolidated Tangible Assets of the Borroaret its consolidated Subsidiaries as of the datedf or at any time hereafter.

“ Quarterly Dates means the last Business Day of March, June, 8d@eand December in each year, the first of whiell
be the first such day after the date hereof.

“ Ratings Agency Letter Agreemehimeans that certain ratings agency letter agregndated as of the Effective Date, by and
between the Borrower and the Administrative Agent.

“ Register” has the meaning set forth in Section 9.04(c).
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“ Related Parties means, with respect to any Person, such Pergdfilates and the partners, directors, officemsoyees,
agents and advisors of such Person and of suchrPeisffiliates.

“ Release’ means any spilling, emitting, discharging, defingi escaping, leaching, dumping or other relagdimcluding the
movement of any Specified Substance through theaiir surface water, groundwater or property, @hén used as a verb has a like meaning.

“ Required Lenders means, at any time, Lenders having Revolving &fexposures representing more than 50% of the
aggregate Revolving Credit Exposures at such timat@ny time when there are no Revolving Cregfidsures outstanding, Lenders having
Commitments representing more than 50% of the dulmedotal Commitments at such tinpepvided that the Revolving Credit Exposures and
Commitments of any Defaulting Lender shall be djarded for all purposes of this definition for sag as such Lender is a Defaulting Lender.

“ Restricted Paymeritmeans any dividend or other distribution (whetimecash, securities or other property) with respec
any capital stock or other equity interest of theerBwer or any Subsidiary, or any payment (whetheash, securities or other property),
including any sinking fund or similar deposit, acaunt of the purchase, redemption, retirementjiaitipn, cancellation or termination of any
such capital stock or other equity interest, orocount of any return of capital to the Borrowesteckholders, partners or members (or the
equivalent Person thereof).

“ Revolving Credit Exposuremeans, with respect to any Lender at any time stim of the outstanding principal amount of
such Lender’s Loans and its LC Exposure at such.tim

“ Securitization Transactichmeans (a) any transfer of accounts receivablaterests therein (i) to a trust, partnership,
corporation or other entity (other than a Subsidiavhich transfer or pledge is funded by suchtgriti whole or in part by the issuance to oni
more lenders or investors of indebtedness or ctheurities that are to receive payments princigadign the cash flow derived from such
accounts receivable or interests in accounts rabkdyor (i) directly to one or more investorsotiner purchasers (other than any Subsidiary), or
(b) any transaction in which the Borrower or a $dibsy incurs Indebtedness secured principally Bnk on accounts receivable. The “amount”
of any Securitization Transaction shall be deemethg time to be (A) in the case of a transactiesctdbed in clause (a) of the preceding
sentence, the aggregate uncollected amount ottwiats receivable transferred pursuant to sucbriiieation Transaction, net of any such
accounts receivable that have been written offn@sliectible, and (B) in the case of a transactiescribed in clause (b) of the preceding
sentence, the aggregate outstanding principal anuuhe Indebtedness secured by Liens on accoeogdvable incurred pursuant to such
Securitization Transaction.

14




“ Specified Substancemeans (i) any chemical, material or substancenddfas or included in the definition of “hazardous
substances”, “hazardous wastes”, “hazardous misgriextremely hazardous waste”, “restricted halpars waste” or “toxic substances” or
words of similar import under any applicable Ennineental Laws; (ii) any (A) oil, natural gas, pe&am or petroleum derived substance, any
drilling fluids, produced waters and other wastesoaiated with the exploration, development or patidn of crude oil, natural gas or
geothermal fluid, any flammable substances or estpds, any radioactive materials, any hazardousesas substances, any toxic wastes or
substances or (B) other materials or pollutantg thahe case of both (A) and (B), (1) pose a héita the property of the Borrower or any of its
Subsidiaries or any part thereof or to personsra@bout such property or to any other property thay be affected by the Release of such
materials or pollutants from such property or aast thereof or to persons on or about such otheepty or (2) cause such property or such
other property to be in violation of any EnvironrtedriLaw; (i) asbestos, urea formaldehyde foanuiason, toluene, polychlorinated biphenyls
and any electrical equipment which contains anypodielectric fluid containing levels of polychioated biphenyls in excess of fifty parts per
million; and (iv) any sound, vibration, heat, rada or other form of energy and any other chemicglterial or substance, exposure to which is
prohibited, limited or regulated by any Governméaathority.

“ Statutory Reserve Rataneans, for the Interest Period for any Euroddarrowing, a fraction (expressed as a decimad), th
numerator of which is the number one and the denatoii of which is the number om@nus the arithmetic mean, taken over each day in such
Interest Period, of the aggregate of the maximware percentages (including any marginal, spemia&rgency or supplemental reserves)
expressed as a decimal established by the BoavHith the Administrative Agent is subject for ewraency funding (currently referred to as
“Eurocurrency liabilities” in Regulation D of theord). Such reserve percentages shall include thgzosed pursuant to Regulation D of the
Board. Eurodollar Loans shall be deemed to canstiéurocurrency funding and to be subject to sesérve requirements without benefit of or
credit for proration, exemptions or offsets thatyrba available from time to time to any Lender uridegulation D of the Board or any
comparable regulation. The Statutory Reserve &a# be adjusted automatically on and as of tfect¥e date of any change in any reserve
percentage.

“ Subsidiary” means, with respect to any Person (herein reddo@s the “ pareri}, any corporation, partnership, association,
or other business entity (a) of which securitiestbier ownership interests representing more tiedf &f the equity or more than 50% of the
ordinary voting power or more than 50% of the gahpartnership interests are, at the time any oetettion is being made, owned, controlled,
or held by the parent, or (b) which is, at the temg determination is made, otherwise Controlledhgyparent or one or more subsidiaries of the
parent or by the parent and one or more subsidiafiéhe parent. Unless otherwise indicated eddirences in this Agreement to “Subsidiaries”
shall be construed as references to Subsidiarigeeddorrower.

“ Swap Contract means (a) any and all rate swap transactionss ba&ps, credit derivative transactions, forwate r
transactions, commodity swaps, commodity optioosydrd commodity contracts, equity or equity ind@aps or options, bond or bond price
bond index swaps or options or forward bond or #achbond price or forward bond index transactiamterest rate options, forward foreign
exchange transactions, cap transactions, floosaaions, collar transactions, currency swap ti@itses, cross-currency rate swap transactions,
currency options, spot contracts, or any otherlaimtiansactions or any combination of any of th@foing (including any options to enter into
any of the foregoing), whether or not any suchdaation is governed by or subject to any mastezeagent, and (b) any and all transactions of
any kind, and the related confirmations, whichsreject to the terms and conditions of, or goveimgdany form of master agreement publis
by the International Swaps and Derivatives Assamatnc., any International Foreign Exchange Masigreement, or any other master
agreement (any such master agreement, togetheamjthelated schedules, a “ Master Agreenignihcluding any such obligations or liabilities
under any Master Agreement.
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“ Swap Termination Valué means, in respect of any one or more Swap Castratter taking into account the effect of any
legally enforceable netting agreement relatinguithsSwap Contracts, (a) for any date on or afiedtite such Swap Contracts have been closec
out and termination value(s) determined in accazddherewith, such termination value(s), and (bafoy date prior to the date referenced in
clause (a), the amount(s) determined as the mankariet value(s) for such Swap Contracts, as reddpietermined based upon one or more
mid-market or other readily available quotationsviled by any recognized dealer in such Swap Catst{ahich may include a Lender or any
Affiliate of a Lender).

“ Syndication Agent means the entity identified as such on the co¥e¢his Agreement.

“ Taxes” means all present or future taxes, levies, impa#itties, deductions, withholdings, assessmes#s, dr other charges
imposed by any Governmental Authority, includiny amerest, additions to tax or penalties applieaghkreto.

“ Total Indebtednessmeans, as of any date, the aggregate principalatof Indebtedness of the Borrower and its
consolidated Subsidiaries outstanding as of suteh dathe amount and only to the extent that $ndebtedness would be reflected on a balance
sheet prepared as of such date on a consolidaseslibaccordance with GAARInus the amount of the cash and cash equivalents of the
Borrower and its consolidated Subsidiaries in ex@#$50,000,000 that would be reflected on sudarioa sheet.

“ Transactions means the execution, delivery and performancthbyBorrower of this Agreement and the other Loan
Documents, the borrowing of Loans, the use of tioegeds thereof and the issuance of Letters ofiCreceunder.

“Type”, when used in reference to any Loan or Borrowieders to whether the rate of interest on sucml.oaon the Loans
comprising such Borrowing, is determined by refeesto the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the Alternate BRsge.

SECTION 1.02 _Terms GenerallyThe definitions of terms herein shall apply dtyui® the singular and plural forms of the
terms defined. Whenever the context may requing paonoun shall include the corresponding mascufgminine and neuter forms. The words
“include”, “includes” and “including” shall be deesd to be followed by the phrase “without limitatioiThe word “will” shall be construed to
have the same meaning and effect as the word *sHailless the context requires otherwise (a) agfinition of or reference to any agreement,
instrument or other document herein shall be caedtas referring to such agreement, instrumenthar @ocument as from time to time
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified (stuitgeany restrictions on such amendments, supplesm@emmodifications set forth herein),

(b) any reference herein to any Person shall bstnged to include such Person’s successors arghas$c) the words “herein”, “hereof” and
“hereunder”, and words of similar import, shalldmnstrued to refer to this Agreement in its engigid not to any particular provision hereof,
(d) all references herein to Articles, Sectionghiiits and Schedules shall be construed to refértioles and Sections of, and Exhibits and
Schedules to, this Agreement, (e) any referenemydaw or regulation herein shall, unless othesvgisecified, refer to such law or regulation as
amended, modified or supplemented from time to tme: (f) the words “asset” and “property” shalldmnstrued to have the same meaning and
effect and to refer to any and all tangible andngible assets and properties, including cashyisiesyaccounts and contract rights.

16




SECTION 1.03 _Accounting Terms; GAAPEXxcept as otherwise expressly provided herditerans of an accounting or
financial nature shall be construed in accordaritie @AAP as in effect from time to timerovided that (a) the effects of any changes to FASB
ASC 840 after the Effective Date shall be disregdrand (b) other than in respect of any changd®BFASC 840 after the Effective Date, if
the Borrower notifies the Administrative Agent tiia¢ Borrower requests an amendment to any provigéoeof to eliminate the effect of any
change occurring after the date hereof in GAARdhe application thereof on the operation of guavision (or if the Administrative Agent
notifies the Borrower that the Required Lendersiestjan amendment to any provision hereof for pucpose), regardless of whether any such
notice is given before or after such change in GAlh the application thereof, then such provisball be interpreted on the basis of GAAI
in effect and applied immediately before such cleastmall have become effective until such noticdl slaze been withdrawn or such provision
amended in accordance herewith. To enable the eradi consistent determination of compliance with¢ovenants set forth in Article VI, the
Borrower will not change the last day of its fisgahr from December 31, or the last days of thet firee fiscal quarters in each of its fiscal g
from March 31, June 30 and September 30, respéctive

ARTICLE Il
THE CREDITS

SECTION 2.01 _The CommitmentsSubject to the terms and conditions set fortieingeach Lender agrees to make Loans
to the Borrower from time to time during the Avéillity Period in an aggregate principal amount thélt not result in (a) such Lender's
Revolving Credit Exposure exceeding such Lendeos@itment or (b) the total Revolving Credit Expasiexceeding the total
Commitments. Within the foregoing limits and subj® the terms and conditions set forth hereia,Bbrrower may borrow, prepay and
reborrow Loans.
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SECTION 2.02 Loans and Borrowings

(a) Obligations of LendersEach Loan shall be made as part of a Borrowingsisting of Loans made by the Lenders
ratably in accordance with their respective Comraiita. The failure of any Lender to make any Laajuired to be made by it shall not relieve
any other Lender of its obligations hereungheoyvided that the Commitments of the Lenders are severaharicender shall be responsible for
any other Lender’s failure to make Loans as requirfEhe amounts payable at any time hereunder Bbalseparate and independent debt of the
Borrower to each Lender and each Lender shall ideehto protect and enforce its rights under thiseement and the other Loan Documents,
and it shall not be necessary for any other Letwlbe joined as an additional party in any proasgsifor such purpose.

(b)  Type of Loans Subject to Section 2.11, each Borrowing shaltdmprised entirely of ABR Loans or of Eurodollar
Loans as the Borrower may request in accordan@wiiter Each Lender at its option may make any Hoitar Loan by causing any domestic
foreign branch or Affiliate of such Lender to makech Loanprovided that any exercise of such option shall not affeetdbligation of the
Borrower to repay such Loan in accordance withi¢neas of this Agreement.

() Minimum Amounts; Limitation on Number of Bowings. Each Borrowing shall be in an aggregate amofint o
$10,000,000 or a larger multiple of $1,000,008@vided that an ABR Borrowing may be in an aggregate amthattis equal to the entire unu:
balance of the total Commitments or that is requicefinance the reimbursement of an LC Disburserasmcontemplated by Section 2.04
(f). Borrowings of more than one Type may be aurtding at the same timpr,ovided that there shall not at any time be more thanal tdtten
Eurodollar Borrowings outstanding.

(d) Limitations on Interest PeriodsNotwithstanding any other provision of this Agneent, the Borrower shall not be
entitled to request (or to elect to convert to@amtmue as a Eurodollar Borrowing) any Borrowinghié Interest Period requested therefor would
end after the Commitment Termination Date.

SECTION 2.03 Requests for Borrowings

() Notice by the Borrower To request a Borrowing, the Borrower shall notife Administrative Agent of such request
(i) in the case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, not fatean 11:00 a.m., New York City time, three Busg®ays before the date of the proposed
Borrowing, or (ii) in the case of an ABR Borrowinmpt later than 12:00 noon, New York City time,the date of the proposed Borrowing. E
such Borrowing Request shall be irrevocable.

(b) Content of Borrowing RequestEach Borrowing Request shall specify the follogvinformation in compliance with

Section 2.02:
(i) the aggregate amount of the requested Bormpwi
(i)  the date of such Borrowing, which shall bBasiness Day;

(i)  whether such Borrowing is to be an ABR Bmwing or a Eurodollar Borrowing;
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(iv)  inthe case of a Eurodollar Borrowing, tielrest Period therefor, which shall be a periautemplated by the
definition of the term “Interest Period” and per®ad under Section 2.02(d); and

(v)  the location and number of the Borrower'sagott to which funds are to be disbursed, whichl stathply with
the requirements of Section 2.05.

() Notice by the Administrative Agent to the ldems. Promptly following receipt of a Borrowing Reqti@saccordance
with this Section, the Administrative Agent shallése each Lender of the details thereof and oatheunt of such Lender’s Loan to be made as
part of the requested Borrowing.

(d) Failure to Elect If no election as to the Type of a Borrowingjcified, then the requested Borrowing shall bABR
Borrowing. If no Interest Period is specified wilspect to any requested Eurodollar BorrowingBbeower shall be deemed to have selected
an Interest Period of one month’s duration.

SECTION 2.04 Letters of Credit

(&) _General Subject to the terms and conditions set fortieingin addition to the Loans provided for in $Sect2.01, the
Borrower may request the Issuing Bank to issuangttime and from time to time during the Avail#liPeriod, Letters of Credit for its own
account in such form as is acceptable to the Adsirative Agent and the Issuing Bank in its reastedbtermination. Letters of Credit issued
hereunder shall constitute utilization of the Cornmnaints.

(b)  Natice of Issuance, Amendment, Renewal oeBsibn. To request the issuance of a Letter of Credith{e
amendment, renewal or extension of an outstandattgt of Credit), the Borrower shall hand delivetedecopy (or transmit by electronic
communication, if arrangements for doing so haventspproved by the Issuing Bank) to the IssuingkBard the Administrative Agent
(reasonably in advance of the requested date wdiie®, amendment, renewal or extension) a notipeesting the issuance of a Letter of Credit,
or identifying the Letter of Credit to be amendezhewed or extended, and specifying the date o&igse, amendment, renewal or extension
(which shall be a Business Day), the date on whiath Letter of Credit is to expire (which shall qg@ynwith paragraph (d) of this Section), the
amount of such Letter of Credit, the name and adoéthe beneficiary thereof and such other in&diom as shall be necessary to prepare,
amend, renew or extend such Letter of Creditediuested by the Issuing Bank, the Borrower alst shlamit a letter of credit application on
Issuing Bank’s standard form in connection with aeguest for a Letter of Credit. In the eventmf anconsistency between the terms and
conditions of this Agreement and the terms and itimmd of any form of letter of credit application other agreement submitted by the
Borrower to, or entered into by the Borrower withe Issuing Bank relating to any Letter of Crettig terms and conditions of this Agreement
shall control.

(c) Limitations on Amounts A Letter of Credit shall be issued, amendedewead or extended only if (A) (and upon
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of eeitérlof Credit the Borrower shall be deemed toasgnt and warrant that) immediately a
giving effect to such issuance, amendment, renemaktension (i) the aggregate LC Exposure shaleroeed $50,000,000 and (ii) the total
Revolving Credit Exposures shall not exceed thal @ommitments, and (B) the Issuing Bank shalllvate received written notice from the
Administrative Agent (at the request of the Reqliicenders) at least one Business Day prior toéhaested date of issuance, amendment,
renewal or extension that one or more of the camditcontained in Section 4.02 shall not be satilsfiith respect thereto.
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(d) Expiration Date Each Letter of Credit shall expire at or priothe close of business on the earlier of (i) tate dwelve
months after the date of the issuance of such Lett€redit and (ii) the date that is five Busin&ssys prior to the Commitment Termination
Date;provided , that a Letter of Credit may provide for the ausdicrenewal thereof for additional one-year pesi¢laut shall in no event extend
beyond the date referred to in clause (ii) above).

(e) Participations By the issuance of a Letter of Credit (or an mdmeent to a Letter of Credit increasing the amount
thereof) by the Issuing Bank, and without any ferthction on the part of the Issuing Bank or thedegs, the Issuing Bank hereby grants to «
Lender, and each Lender hereby acquires from thgnlg Bank, a participation in such Letter of Ctedjual to such Lender’s Applicable
Percentage of the aggregate amount available doaven under such Letter of Credit. Each Lendenaskedges and agrees that its obligatic
acquire participations and fund ABR Loans purstiaihis sentence of this clause (e) and the nenesee hereof in respect of Letters of Credit
is absolute and unconditional and shall not bectdfieby any circumstance whatsoever, includingangndment, renewal or extension of any
Letter of Credit or the occurrence and continuasfce Default or reduction or termination of the Goitments.

In consideration and in furtherance of the foregpegach Lender hereby absolutely and unconditiprzgjtees to pay to the
Administrative Agent, for the account of the IsguBank, such Lender’s Applicable Percentage of é&tbisbursement made by the Issuing
Bank promptly upon the request of the Issuing Batrdny time from the time of such LC Disbursementil such LC Disbursement is
reimbursed by the Borrower or at any time after gigbursement payment is required to be refundéklet Borrower for any reason. Each ¢
payment shall be deemed to be an ABR Loan by seddé¢r and shall be made without any offset, abateméthholding or reduction
whatsoever. Each such payment shall be made isathe manner as provided in Section 2.05 with mtdpd oans made by such Lender (and
Section 2.05 shall applyutatis mutandis, to the payment obligations of the Lenders), dr@dAdministrative Agent shall promptly pay to the
Issuing Bank the amounts so received by it fromLreders. Promptly following receipt by the Adnsimative Agent of any payment from the
Borrower pursuant to the next following paragrable, Administrative Agent shall distribute such paymto the Issuing Bank or, to the extent
that the Lenders have made payments pursuantstpahagraph to reimburse the Issuing Bank, thend¢b Lenders and the Issuing Bank as-
interests may appeatr.

(H  Reimbursement If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursetie respect of a Letter of Credit, the Borrowealt
reimburse the Issuing Bank in respect of such Lé€bDisement by paying to the Administrative Agenaarount equal to such LC Disbursem
not later than 3:00 p.m., New York City time, ontfie Business Day that the Borrower receives aaifcsuch LC Disbursement, if such notic
received prior to 10:00 a.m., New York City time (i) the Business Day immediately following thaydthat the Borrower receives such notice,
if such notice is not received prior to such tintiethe Borrower fails to make such payment whea,dhe Administrative Agent shall notify e
Lender of the applicable LC Disbursement, the payrtteen due from the Borrower in respect thereaf such Lender’s Applicable Percentage
thereof. The Borrower’s obligations under thisuska (f) shall be satisfied to the extent of the imgof ABR Loans under clause (e) above.
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(g) Obligations Absolute The Borrower’s obligation to reimburse LC Diskements as provided in paragraph (f) of this
Section shall be absolute, unconditional and ircabte, and shall be performed strictly in accoréanith the terms of this Agreement under any
and all circumstances whatsoever and irrespecfifi¢ any lack of validity or enforceability of arlyetter of Credit, or any term or provision
therein, (ii) any draft or other document presenteder a Letter of Credit proving to be forgeduftalent or invalid in any respect or any
statement therein being untrue or inaccurate inraggect, (iii) payment by the Issuing Bank undeetter of Credit against presentation of a
draft or other document that does not comply $yrietth the terms of such Letter of Credit, or (a)y other event or circumstance whatsoever,
whether or not similar to any of the foregoing,tthight, but for the provisions of this Sectionnstitute a legal or equitable discharge of, or
provide a right of setoff against, the Borrowersgigations hereunder.

Neither the Administrative Agent, the Lenders @ kssuing Bank, nor any of their Related Partha]l have any liability or
responsibility by reason of or in connection witle issuance or transfer of any Letter of Creditigylssuing Bank or any payment or failure to
make any payment thereunder (irrespective of arlge@tircumstances referred to in the precedinteser), or any error, omission, interrupti
loss or delay in transmission or delivery of angfimotice or other communication under or refatin any Letter of Credit (including any
document required to make a drawing thereundey)eamor in interpretation of technical terms or aoynsequence arising from causes beyond
the control of the Issuing Bangrovided that the foregoing shall not be construed to extiuséssuing Bank from liability to the Borrowerttee
extent of any direct damages (as opposed to coamtgldamages, claims in respect of which areldyewaived by the Borrower to the extent
permitted by applicable law) suffered by the Boreowhat are caused by the Issuing Bank’s failurextercise care when determining whether
drafts and other documents presented under a laftteredit comply with the terms thereof. The rtereto expressly agree that, in the
absence of gross negligence or willful miscondurcthe part of the Issuing Bank (as finally determimy a court of competent jurisdiction), the
Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have exercisedrcaach such determination, and that:

(i)  the Issuing Bank may accept documents thpeapon their face to be in substantial compliamitie the terms
of a Letter of Credit without responsibility forrther investigation, regardless of any notice émrimation to the contrary, and may
make payment upon presentation of documents tiestaaon their face to be in substantial compliamitie the terms of such Letter of
Credit;
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(i)  the Issuing Bank shall have the right, i $ble discretion, to decline to accept such doatsrend to make
such payment if such documents are not in strictgdimnce with the terms of such Letter of Creditgla

(i) this sentence shall establish the standdirchre to be exercised by the Issuing Bank wheéeroéning whether
drafts and other documents presented under a laft@redit comply with the terms thereof (and tlaetigs hereto hereby waive, to the
extent permitted by applicable law, any standardaoé inconsistent with the foregoing).

(h) Disbursement Procedure§he Issuing Bank shall, within a reasonable tiallewing its receipt thereof, examine all
documents purporting to represent a demand for paymmder a Letter of Credit. The Issuing Banklgiramptly after such examination notify
the Administrative Agent and the Borrower of suem@nd for payment and whether the Issuing Bankrzae or will make an LC
Disbursement thereundgrovided that any failure to give or delay in giving sucttioe shall not relieve the Borrower of its obligatito
reimburse the Issuing Bank and the Lenders withaetsto any such LC Disbursement.

() Interim Interest If the Issuing Bank shall make any LC Disbursetnthen, unless the Borrower shall reimburse such
LC Disbursement in full on the date such LC Diskunsnt is made, the unpaid amount thereof shallibesest, for each day from and
including the date such LC Disbursement is madmiteexcluding the date that the Borrower reimbusseh LC Disbursement, at the rate per
annum then applicable to ABR Loamspvided that, if the Borrower fails to reimburse such LGRirsement (including through the making of
ABR Loans as contemplated above), when due pursaagraragraph (f) of this Section, then Sectiod@)Lshall apply. Interest accrued
pursuant to this paragraph shall be for accoutii®issuing Bank, except that interest accruedndredter the date of payment by any Lender
pursuant to paragraph (f) of this Section to reirebuhe Issuing Bank shall be for account of suehder to the extent of such payment.

() Replacement of the Issuing Bankhe Issuing Bank may be replaced at any timevtityen agreement between the
Borrower, the Administrative Agent, the replacesbiag Bank and the successor Issuing Bank. Theididirative Agent shall notify the
Lenders of any such replacement of the Issuing Ba&tikthe time any such replacement shall becorfextfe, the Borrower shall pay all unp:
fees accrued for the account of the replaced Ig€Bank pursuant to Section 2.09(b). From and #fieeffective date of any such replacement,
(i) the successor Issuing Bank shall have all itjets and obligations of the Issuing Bank undes fgreement with respect to Letters of Credit
to be issued thereafter and (ii) references héodihe term “Issuing Bank” shall be deemed to ré&desuch successor or to any previous Issuing
Bank, or to such successor and all previous IsdBarks, as the context shall require. After tiaeement of an Issuing Bank hereunder, the
replaced Issuing Bank shall remain a party heretbshall continue to have all the rights and oltliges of an Issuing Bank under this
Agreement with respect to Letters of Credit issidt prior to such replacement, but shall not éguired to issue additional Letters of Credit.

(k)  Cash Collateralization If any Event of Default shall occur and be couitng, on the Business Day that the Borrower
receives notice from the Administrative Agent ce fRequired Lenders (or, if the maturity of the Lo&ias been accelerated, Lenders with LC
Exposure representing more than 50% of the totaEk@osure) demanding the deposit of cash collapenaduant to this paragraph, the Borro
shall immediately deposit into an account estabtisind maintained on the books and records of timeiistrative Agent, which account may
be a “securities account” (within the meaning ot 8-501 of the Uniform Commercial Code as ifeetfin the State of New York), in the
name of the Administrative Agent and for the benaffthe Lenders, an amount in cash equal to thé&kgbsure as of such date plus any acc
and unpaid interest theregmpvided that the obligation to deposit such cash collatgiall become effective immediately, and such dégballl
become immediately due and payable, without deroamther notice of any kind, upon the occurrencargf Event of Default with respect to
the Borrower described in clause (h) or (i) of 8c¥.01. Such deposit shall be held by the Adstiative Agent as collateral for the payment
and performance of the obligations of the Borroumer this Agreement.
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The Administrative Agent shall have exclusive damrnand control, including the exclusive right otiwdrawal, over such
account. Other than any interest earned on thestment of such deposits, which investments slkeathade at the option and sole discretion of
the Administrative Agent and at the Borrower’s résld expensepfovided that absent the Borrower’s express written agregntigmonly such
investments will be in cash equivalent investmersts¢h deposits shall not bear interest. Inteneptofits, if any, on such investments shall
accumulate in such account. Moneys in such acchait be applied by the Administrative Agent tomeurse the Issuing Bank for LC
Disbursements for which it has not been reimbuesel] to the extent not so applied, shall be haldhie satisfaction of the reimbursement
obligations of the Borrower for the LC Exposuresath time or, if the maturity of the Loans has baerelerated (but subject to the consent of
Lenders with LC Exposure representing 100% of ¢ii@ 1.C Exposure), be applied to satisfy othergdtions of the Borrower under this
Agreement. If the Borrower is required to provadeamount of cash collateral hereunder as a restiie occurrence of an Event of Default,
such amount (to the extent not applied as aforeshall be returned to the Borrower (together withinterest or profits, if any, thereon) within
three Business Days after all Events of Defaulehasen cured or waived.

SECTION 2.05 Funding of Borrowings

€)) Funding by LendersEach Lender shall make each Loan to be madehgréunder on the proposed date thereof by
wire transfer of immediately available funds by1(®:00 noon, New York City time, in the case ofiadglollar Borrowing, and (ii) 3:00 p.m.,
New York City time, in the case of an ABR Borrowjrig each case to the account of the Administratigent most recently designated by it
such purpose by notice to the Lenders. The Adinatise Agent will make such Loans available to Bwrower by promptly crediting the
amounts so received, in like funds, to an accofititeBorrower agreed between the Borrower anditirainistrative Agentprovided that ABR
Borrowings made to finance the reimbursement di@misbursement as provided in Section 2.04(f) Idm@akemitted by the Administrative
Agent to the Issuing Bank.

(b) _Presumption by the Administrative Agent/nless the Administrative Agent shall have reedinotice from a Lender
prior to (i) the proposed date of any EurodollarBwing or
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(ii) in the case of any proposed ABR Borrowing,B@m., New York City time, on the proposed datswfh ABR Borrowing
that such Lender will not make available to the Amstrative Agent such Lender’s share of such Being, the Administrative Agent may
assume that such Lender has made such share &vaitakuch date in accordance with paragraph (#ji®Section and may, in reliance upon
such assumption, make available to the Borrowarigesponding amount. In such event, if a Lendsrriw in fact made its share of the
applicable Borrowing available to the Administratikgent, then the applicable Lender and the Borr@seerally agree to pay to the
Administrative Agent forthwith on demand such cepending amount with interest thereon, for eachfday and including the date such
amount is made available to the Borrower to butueing the date of payment to the AdministrativeeAg at (i) in the case of a payment to be
made by such Lender, the greater of the Federal§-Hifective Rate and a rate determined by the Athtnative Agent in accordance with
banking industry rules on interbank compensatiah(@hin the case of a payment to be made by thed®ver, the interest rate applicable to
ABR Loans. If the Borrower and such Lender shayl puch interest to the Administrative Agent fag #ame or an overlapping period, the
Administrative Agent shall promptly remit to the lBower the amount of such interest paid by the &wer for such period. If such Lender pays
its share of the applicable Borrowing to the Admiirdtive Agent, then the amount so paid shall déortstsuch Lender’s Loan included in such
Borrowing. Any payment by the Borrower shall behout prejudice to any claim the Borrower may hagainst a Lender that shall have failed
to make such payment to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 2.06 Interest Elections

(&) _Elections by the BorrowerThe Loans comprising each Borrowing initiallyalitbe of the Type specified in the
applicable Borrowing Request and, in the caseEdidollar Borrowing, shall have the Interest Peépecified in such Borrowing
Request. Thereafter, the Borrower may elect tovedrsuch Borrowing to a Borrowing of a differentpe or to continue such Borrowing as a
Borrowing of the same Type and, in the case ofdallar Borrowing, may elect the Interest Peribdrefor, all as provided in this
Section. The Borrower may elect different optiorith respect to different portions of the affecBalrowing, in which case each such portion
shall be allocated ratably among the Lenders hgltie Loans comprising such Borrowing, and the lsammprising each such portion shall be
considered a separate Borrowing.

(b) Notice of Elections To make an election pursuant to this SectiomBbrrower shall notify the Administrative Agent
such election by the time that a Borrowing Requesild be required under Section 2.03 if the Bornowere requesting a Borrowing of the
Type resulting from such election to be made oreffective date of such election. Each such listetection Request shall be irrevocable.

(c) Content of Interest Election Requestach Interest Election Request shall specifyfdiewing information in
compliance with Section 2.02:
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()  the Borrowing to which such Interest ElectiRequest applies and, if different options are ¢peillected with
respect to different portions thereof, the portitivereof to be allocated to each resulting Borrgwin which case the information to be
specified pursuant to clauses (iii) and (iv) bekivall be specified for each resulting Borrowing);

(i)  the effective date of the election made par# to such Interest Election Request, which el Business
Day;

(i) whether the resulting Borrowing is to be ABR Borrowing or a Eurodollar Borrowing; and

(iv)  if the resulting Borrowing is a EurodollaoBowing, the Interest Period therefor after giveffgct to such
election, which shall be a period contemplatedhgydefinition of the term “Interest Period” and méted under Section 2.02(d).

(d)  Notice by the Administrative Agent to the ldems. Promptly following receipt of an Interest ElectiRequest, the
Administrative Agent shall advise each Lender efdetails thereof and of such Lender’s portionaafheresulting Borrowing.

(e) Failure to Elect; Events of Defaultf the Borrower fails to deliver a timely androplete Interest Election Request with
respect to a Eurodollar Borrowing prior to the efthe Interest Period therefor, then, unless statodollar Borrowing is repaid as provided
herein, the Borrower shall be deemed to have ssleant Interest Period of one month’s duration.

Notwithstanding any contrary provision hereof,nflavent of Default has occurred and is continuing the Administrative
Agent, at the request of the Required Lenderspsifies the Borrower, then, so long as an Everdefault is continuing (i) no outstanding
Borrowing may be converted to or continued as aé&witar Borrowing and (ii) unless repaid, each Ealtar Borrowing shall be converted to
ABR Borrowing at the end of the Interest Period ¢ffier.

SECTION 2.07 Termination, Reduction and Incregfshe Commitments

() _Scheduled TerminationUnless previously terminated, the Commitmengdl serminate on the Commitment
Termination Date.

(b)  Voluntary Termination or ReductionThe Borrower may at any time terminate, or fitomme to time reduce, the
Commitmentsprovided that (i) each partial reduction of the Commitmesttall be in an amount that is $10,000,000 or alamgultiple of
$1,000,000 and (ii) the Borrower shall not terménat reduce the Commitments if, after giving efiecany concurrent prepayment of the Loans
in accordance with Section 2.08, the total Revg\@redit Exposures would exceed the total Commitmen

(c) Notice of Voluntary Termination or Reductiomhe Borrower shall notify the Administrative Ageof any election to
terminate or reduce the Commitments under paragigpdf this Section at least three Business Daigs o the effective date of such
termination or reduction, specifying such electonl the effective date thereof. Promptly followiegeipt of any such notice, the
Administrative Agent shall advise the Lenders & tlontents thereof. Each notice delivered by thiedver pursuant to this Section shall be
irrevocable provided that a notice of termination of the Commitmentswéekd by the Borrower may state that such noanditioned upon
the effectiveness of other credit facilities or o transaction (such as a change of controlactio) or other incurrence of Indebtedness, in
which case such notice may be revoked by the Bardly notice to the Administrative Agent on orqgprio the specified effective date) if such
condition is not satisfied.
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(d) Effect of Termination or ReductionAny termination or reduction of the Commitmesitgll be permanent. Each
reduction of the Commitments shall be made ratabipng the Lenders in accordance with their resge@bmmitments.

(e) Increase of CommitmentsThe Borrower shall have the right at any timentyease the aggregate Commitments
hereunder to the extent that the sum of the agtgégammitments hereunder (after giving effect tchsimcrease) do not exceed $850,000,0C
adding to this Agreement one or more other lendengh may include any Lender (each such lendérAgiditional Lender”) with the approva
of the Administrative Agent (not to be unreasonabithheld), each of which Additional Lenders shele entered into an agreement in form
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Bemrand the Administrative Agent pursuant to whigbrsAdditional Lender shall undertake a
Commitment (if any such Additional Lender is a Lendts Commitment shall be in addition to such des Commitment hereunder) which
such Commitment shall be in an amount at leastleéqu$10,000,000 or a larger multiple of $1,000,080d upon the effectiveness of such
agreement (the date of the effectiveness of anly agoeement being hereinafter referred to as theréased Commitment Ddtesuch
Additional Lender shall thereupon become a “Lender’all purposes of this Agreement.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the increase inabgregate Commitments hereunder pursuant to thkigo8e.07(e) shall not
be effective unless:

(i)  the Borrower shall have given the AdministratAgent notice of any such increase at leastey® gbrior to any
such Increased Commitment Date;

(i) no Default shall have occurred and be continuingherincreased Commitment Date (both immediately po
and after giving effect to the increase in Committaen the Increased Commitment Date);

(i)  no existing Lender shall be under any ohtign to increase its Commitment and any such aecishether to
increase its Commitment shall be in such Lenderfs and absolute discretion; and

(iv)  if any Loan or Letter of Credit shall be standing, the Borrower shall have borrowed Loaosifeach of the
Additional Lenders on the Increased Commitment Patel the Additional Lenders shall have made Laarise Borrower (in the case
of Eurodollar Loans, with Interest Period(s) endimgthe date(s) of any then outstanding Intereso&@)) and shall be deemed to have
acquired participations in any outstanding Lett#r€redit, and (notwithstanding the provisions et&on 2.15 requiring that
borrowings and prepayments be made ratably in dacoe with the principal amounts of the Loans lhgithe Lenders) the Borrower
in coordination with the Administrative Agent shllive taken such actions, including, if necesgagpaying Loans held by the other
Lenders (together with accrued interest thereonaziydamounts owing pursuant to Section 2.13 asudtref such payment) in such
amounts as may be necessary so that after giviagtéd such Loans, purchases and prepaymentsodnesl(and Interest Period(s) of
Eurodollar Loan(s)) and the LC Exposure shall Hd bg the Lenders pro rata in accordance with #spective amounts of their
Commitments (as so increased) and, in that cororedtie Issuing Bank shall be deemed to have rtdeasy Lenders so deemed to
have sold participations in outstanding Letter€mddit on the date of such replacement from sulthgarticipation.
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Promptly following any increase of Commitments manst to this Section 2.07(e), the AdministrativeeAgshall provide notice thereof to each
of the Lenders. Without limiting the Obligationtbe Borrower provided for in this Section 2.07e tAdministrative Agent and the Lenders
agree that they will use commercially reasonalfieresfto attempt to minimize the costs of the tygkerred to in Section 2.13 that the Borrower
would otherwise incur in connection with an inceea$ the Commitments.

SECTION 2.08 Repayment and Prepayment of LoavisgBce of Debt

(@) _Repayment and Prepaymerkhe Borrower hereby unconditionally promisepay to the Administrative Agent for
account of the Lenders the outstanding principalarhof the Loans on the Commitment TerminationeDathe Borrower shall have the righ
any time and from time to time to prepay any Boiirgnin whole or in part, subject to the requirensenitthis Section.

(b) Manner of PaymentPrior to any repayment or prepayment of any @eimgs hereunder, the Borrower shall select the
Borrowing or Borrowings to be paid and shall notifie Administrative Agent of such selection andrpamt (i) in the case of payment of a
Eurodollar Borrowing, not later than 11:00 a.m.yN¢éork City time, three Business Days before thiee dd such payment or (i) in the case of
payment of an ABR Borrowing, not later than 12:@@m, New York City time, on the date of such paytnprovided that each simultaneous
repayment or prepayment of ABR and Eurodollar Bemgs shall be applied, first, to pay any outstagdhBR Borrowings and, second, to
other Borrowings in the order of the remaining dioraof their respective Interest Periods (the Bating with the shortest remaining Interest
Period to be repaid first). Each repayment or gyepent of a Borrowing shall be applied ratablytte Loans included in such Borrowing. Each
such notice shall be irrevocable and shall spehi#repayment or prepayment date and the prinaipalunt of each Borrowing or portion ther
to be repaid or prepaigrovided that, if such notice is given in connection witbanditional notice of termination of the Commitmeas
contemplated by Section 2.07, then such noticeeggyment may be revoked if such notice of ternonas revoked in accordance with
Section 2.07. Promptly following receipt of anykunotice, the Administrative Agent shall advise tienders of the contents thereof. Each
partial repayment or prepayment of any Borrowinglldhe in an aggregate amount of $5,000,000 orgetanultiple of $1,000,000. Repayme
and Prepayments shall be accompanied by accrue@shto the extent required by Section 2.10.
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(c) Maintenance of Records by LenderSach Lender shall maintain in accordance withugiual practice records
evidencing the indebtedness of the Borrower to sertder resulting from each Loan made by such Lendeuding the amounts of principal
and interest payable and paid to such Lender fiora to time hereunder.

(d) Maintenance of Records by the Administratheeent. The Administrative Agent shall maintain reco(tieluding the
Register maintained pursuant to Section 9.04(cihich it shall record (i) the amount of each L@aade hereunder, the Type thereof and each
Interest Period therefor, (ii) the amount of anyngipal or interest due and payable or to becongeahd payable from the Borrower to each
Lender hereunder and (i) the amount of any sureived by the Administrative Agent hereunder faramt of the Lenders and each Lender’s
share thereof.

(e) Effect of Entries The entries made in the records maintained patdo paragraph (c) or (d) of this Section (inahgd
the Register maintained pursuant to Section 9.D4(@ll beprima facie evidence of the existence and amounts of the dldigarecorded
therein;provided that the failure of any Lender or the Administratigent to maintain such records or any error thesieall not in any manner
affect the obligation of the Borrower to repay timans in accordance with the terms of this Agredmen

(H  Promissory Notes Any Lender may request that Loans made by éhéenced by a promissory note. In such event,
the Borrower shall prepare, execute and deliveutd Lender a promissory note payable to such ligodef requested by such Lender, to such
Lender and its registered assigns) and in a fornosed by the Administrative Agent. Thereafteg ttoans evidenced by such promissory note
and interest thereon shall at all times (includifigr assignment pursuant to Section 9.04) be septed by one or more promissory notes in
form payable to the payee named therein (or, ifiaromissory note is a registered note, to suclke@ayd its registered assigns).

SECTION 2.09 Fees

(@ _Commitment FeesThe Borrower agrees to pay to the Administratigent for account of each Lender a commitment
fee, which shall accrue at the Applicable Ratehenaverage daily unused amount of the Commitmesticti Lender during the period from and
including the Effective Date to but excluding tretelsuch Commitment terminates. Accrued commitifes# shall be payable in arrears on
each Quarterly Date and on the date the Commitntentsnate, commencing on the first such date twoafter the Effective Date. All
commitment fees shall be computed on the basig/efinof 360 days and shall be payable for theahotwmber of days elapsed (including the
first day but excluding the last day). For purmosEcomputing commitment fees, the Commitment béader shall be deemed to be used to the
extent of the outstanding Loans and LC Exposuraioh Lender.

(b) Letter of Credit Fees The Borrower agrees to pay (i) to the Admints#Agent for account of each Lender a
participation fee with respect to its participasdn Letters of Credit, which shall accrue at @ @r annum equal to the Applicable Rate
applicable to interest on Eurodollar Loans on terage daily amount of such Lender’'s LC Exposuxel@gling any portion thereof attributable
to unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the pefriach and including the Effective Date to but extihg the later of the date on which such
Lender's Commitment terminates and the date ontwéich Lender ceases to have any LC Exposurejiatmthe Issuing Bank a fronting fee,
which shall accrue at the rate of 0.125% per anonrthe average daily amount of the LC Exposurel{eeg any portion thereof attributable to
unreimbursed LC Disbursements) during the periothfand including the Effective Date to but exclgpihe later of the date of termination of
the Commitments and the date on which there ceadssany LC Exposure, as well as the Issuing Bastdndard fees with respect to the
issuance, amendment, renewal or extension of attgriaf Credit or processing of drawings thereundearticipation fees and fronting fees
accrued through and including each Quarterly Dasdl e payable on the third Business Day followsngh Quarterly Date, commencing on
first such date to occur after the Effective Datevided that all such fees shall be payable on the datetoch the Commitments terminate and
any such fees accruing after the date on whiclCtimamitments terminate shall be payable on demamy. other fees payable to the Issuing
Bank pursuant to this paragraph shall be payalilimAd0 days after demand. All participation fees fronting fees shall be computed on the
basis of a year of 360 days and shall be payabléoactual number of days elapsed (includinditseday but excluding the last day).
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(c) Administrative Agent FeesThe Borrower agrees to pay to the Administrafigent, for its own account, fees payable
in the amounts and at the times separately agneed lbetween the Borrower and the Administrative tge

(d) _Payment of FeesAll fees payable hereunder shall be paid orddtes due, in immediately available funds, to the
Administrative Agent (or to the Issuing Bank, irttase of fees payable to it) for distributionthie case of facility fees and participation fees, t
the Lenders entitled thereto. Fees paid shalbacstfundable under any circumstances.

SECTION 2.10 Interest

(@ _ABR Loans The Loans comprising each ABR Borrowing shaliiaterest at a rate per annum equal to the Adtern
Base Rate plus the Applicable Rate.

(b)  Eurodollar Loans The Loans comprising each Eurodollar Borrowihglkbear interest at a rate per annum equal &
Adjusted LIBO Rate for the Interest Period for sBzrrowing plus the Applicable Rate.

() Default Interest Notwithstanding the foregoing, if any princigdlor interest on any Loan or any fee or other amhou
payable by the Borrower hereunder is not paid whex whether at stated maturity, upon acceleratiamtherwise, such overdue amount shall
bear interest, after as well as before judgmerg,rate per annum equal to 2% plus the AlternaseBate.

(d) Payment of InterestAccrued interest on each Loan shall be payabéeriears on each Interest Payment Date for such
Loan and upon termination of the Commitmeptsyided that (i) interest accrued pursuant to paragrapbf(t)is Section shall be payable on
demand; (i) in the event of any repayment or pyepent of any Loan (other than a prepayment of aRRABan prior to the Commitment
Termination Date), accrued interest on the prinapaount repaid or prepaid shall be payable ord#ie of such repayment or prepayment and
(iii) in the event of any conversion of any EurddoBorrowing prior to the end of the Interest Bdrtherefor, accrued interest on such
Borrowing shall be payable on the effective datsuafh conversion.
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(e) _Computation All interest hereunder shall be computed orbih&s of a year of 360 days, except that inte@sipeited
by reference to the Alternate Base Rate at time=wthe Alternate Base Rate is based on the PrirteedRall be computed on the basis of a year
of 365 days (or 366 days in a leap year), and éh ease shall be payable for the actual numbeays dlapsed (including the first day but
excluding the last day). The applicable Alterriaése Rate or Adjusted LIBO Rate shall be determinethe Administrative Agent, and such
determination shall be conclusive absent manifest.e

SECTION 2.11 _Alternate Rate of Interestf prior to the commencement of the Interegidekfor any Eurodollar

Borrowing:

(@ the Administrative Agent determines (whichetimination shall be conclusive absent manifestrthat
adequate and reasonable means do not exist fotaeogy the Adjusted LIBO Rate or the LIBO Rats,applicable, for such Interest
Period; or

(b) the Administrative Agent is advised by thejRieed Lenders that the Adjusted LIBO Rate or th@Q Rate, as
applicable, for such Interest Period will not adegly and fairly reflect the cost to such Lenddrmaking or maintaining their
respective Loans included in such Borrowing forrslnterest Period;

then the Administrative Agent shall give noticertha to the Borrower and the Lenders as promptlgrasticable thereafter and, until the
Administrative Agent notifies the Borrower and thenders that the circumstances giving rise to sutlte no longer exist, (i) any Interest
Election Request that requests the conversionyBanrowing to, or the continuation of any Borrowias, a Eurodollar Borrowing shall be
ineffective and such Borrowing (unless prepaid)ldt@continued as, or converted to, an ABR Borrayénd, (ii) if any Borrowing Request
requests a Eurodollar Borrowing, such Borrowindldleamade as an ABR Borrowing.

SECTION 2.12 Increased Costs

@) Increased Costs Generallyf any Change in Law shall:

(i)  impose, modify or deem applicable any resegspecial deposit, compulsory loan, insurance ehargsimilar
requirement against assets of, deposits with othisaccount of, or credit extended or participatelay, any Lender (except any reserve
requirement reflected in the Adjusted LIBO Ratejha Issuing Bank;

(i)  change the basis of taxation of paymentsuch Lender or the Issuing Bank in respect theeafept for

Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes covered by Se@i@s and the imposition of, or any change in #te of, any Excluded Tax paya
by such Lender or the Issuing Bank); or
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(i) impose on any Lender or the Issuing Bank or thedborinterbank market any other condition, costquease
(other than Taxes) affecting this Agreement or Hallar Loans made by such Lender or any Letterrefi® or participation therein;

and the result of any of the foregoing shall bintwease the cost to such Lender of making or ragimgy any Eurodollar Loan (or of maintain

its obligation to make any such Loan) or to incestlie cost to such Lender or the Issuing Bank dfgi@ating in, issuing or maintaining any
Letter of Credit (or of maintaining its obligatidm participate in or to issue any Letter of Credit)to reduce the amount of any sum received or
receivable by such Lender or the Issuing Bank heteu(whether of principal, interest or any oth@oant), in each case by an amount
reasonably deemed by such Lender to be materéd, tipon request of such Lender or the Issuing BéekBorrower will pay to such Lender
the Issuing Bank, as the case may be, such adalitmnount or amounts as will compensate such Lemdre Issuing Bank, as the case may be,
for such additional costs incurred or reductiorfexefd.

(b) Capital Requirementsif any Lender or the Issuing Bank determines dmy Change in Law affecting such Lender or
the Issuing Bank or any lending office of such Lemdr such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holdingpany, if any, regarding capital or
liguidity requirements has or would have the efffateducing the rate of return on such Lender'therlssuing Bank’s capital or on the capital
of such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding camy if any, as a consequence of this AgreemeatCthmmitment of such Lender or the
Loans made by, or participations in Letters of @rkdld by, such Lender, or the Letters of Creshuied by the Issuing Bank, to a level below
that which such Lender or the Issuing Bank or dueriider’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding companyrif/, could have achieved but for such
Change in Law (taking into consideration such Leisdar the Issuing Bank’s policies and the policdésuch Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s
holding company with respect to capital adequatyn from time to time the Borrower will pay to &ucender or the Issuing Bank, as the case
may be, such additional amount or amounts as wifigensate such Lender or the Issuing Bank or senldér’s or the Issuing Bank’s holding
company for any such reduction suffered.

(c) Certificates for ReimbursementA certificate of a Lender or the Issuing Bantkting forth the amount or amounts
necessary to compensate such Lender or the IsBainigor its holding company, as the case may bspesified in paragraph (a) or (b) of this
Section and delivered to the Borrower shall be kwsive absent manifest error. The Borrower shajl guch Lender or the Issuing Bank, as the
case may be, the amount due hereunder within 1% aftgr receipt of any such certificate.

(d) Delay in RequestsFailure or delay on the part of any Lender erl8suing Bank to demand compensation pursuant to
this Section shall not constitute a waiver of suehder’s or the Issuing Bank’s right to demand stmimpensatiorprovided that the Borrower
shall not be required to compensate a Lender distugng Bank pursuant to this Section for anyeased costs incurred or reductions suffered
more than 120 days prior to the date that such &eadthe Issuing Bank, as the case may be, retiiie Borrower in writing of the Change in
Law giving rise to such increased costs or reduastiand of such Lender’s or the Issuing Bank’s ifbarnto claim compensation therefor (except
that, if the Change in Law giving rise to such @ased costs or reductions is retroactive, thed2Beday period referred to above shall be
extended to include the period of retroactive éffieereof).
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(e) _Termination or Assignmentlf any Lender shall have delivered a noticeatificate pursuant to paragraph (c) above,
the Borrower shall have the right, at its own exgggmupon notice to such Lender and the Administaligent, to require such Lender to (i)
terminate its Commitment or (ii) transfer and assigthout recourse (in accordance with and sulifethe restrictions contained in Section 9.
all or a portion of its interest, rights and obtigas under this Agreement to another financiditution (which must be reasonably acceptable to
the Administrative Agent) which shall assume subligations;provided that (A) no such termination or assignment shaiflact with any law,
rule, or regulation or order of any GovernmentathAuity and (B) the Borrower or the assignee, asctiise may be, shall pay to the affected
Lender in immediately available funds on the ddtsugh termination or assignment the principalraf aterest accrued to the date of payment
on the Loans made by it hereunder and all otheatsaccrued for its account or owed to it hereunfideluding under Section 2.13).

SECTION 2.13 Break Funding Paymentl the event of (a) the payment of any princigfehny Eurodollar Loan other
than on the last day of the Interest Period ther@fialuding as a result of an Event of Defaully), the conversion of any Eurodollar Loan other
than on the last day of the Interest Period theré6) the failure to borrow, convert, continuepoepay any Eurodollar Loan on the date specified
in any notice delivered pursuant hereto (regardiésghether such notice is permitted to be revaeainider Section 2.08(b) and is revoked in
accordance herewith), or (d) the assignment asudt ref a request by the Borrower pursuant to $aci16(b) of any Eurodollar Loan other tt
on the last day of the Interest Period theref@mntlin any such event, the Borrower shall compensath Lender for its loss, cost and expense
(excluding lost profits) attributable to such eveht the case of a Eurodollar Loan, the lossiplaender attributable to any such event shall be
deemed to include an amount reasonably determiynaddh Lender to be equal to the excess, if anfi) dfe amount of interest that such Ler
would pay for a deposit equal to the principal antaf such Loan for the period from the date ofrspayment, conversion, failure or
assignment to the last day of the Interest Penodich Loan (or, in the case of a failure to barrconvert or continue, the duration of the
Interest Period that would have resulted from samiowing, conversion or continuation) if the irgst rate payable on such deposit were equal
to the Adjusted LIBO Rate for such Interest Peravy (ii) the amount of interest that such Lender waeddin on such principal amount for si
period if such Lender were to invest such princgrabunt for such period at the interest rate tlatlavbe bid by such Lender (or an affiliate of
such Lender) for Dollar deposits from other bamk&ie eurodollar market at the commencement of padod. A certificate of any Lender
setting forth any amount or amounts that such Leisdentitled to receive pursuant to this Sectiballsbe delivered to the Borrower and shall be
conclusive absent manifest error. The Borrowell glag such Lender the amount due hereunder witBidays after receipt of any such
certificate.
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SECTION 2.14 _Taxes

(@  Anyand all payments by or on account of abljgation of the Borrower hereunder or under atiyepLoan Document
shall be made free and clear of and without rednabr withholding for any Taxeprovided that if the Borrower or other applicable withholglin
agent shall be required by applicable law (as detexd in the good faith discretion of the applieabithholding agent) to deduct and withhold
any Taxes, then the applicable withholding ageatl §fe entitled to make such deduction or withhagdand shall timely pay the full amount
deducted or withheld to the relevant Governmentah@rity in accordance with applicable law andsuth Tax is an Indemnified Tax, then the
sum payable shall be increased by the Borroweeesssary so that after all required deductions baee made (including deductions
applicable to additional sums payable under thidi®@e) the Administrative Agent, Lender or IssulBgnk, as the case may be, receives an
amount equal to the sum it would have receivedrttasuch deductions been made.

(b)  Without limiting the provisions of paragrafd) above, the Borrower shall timely pay any Offigxes to the relevant
Governmental Authority in accordance with appliealaiw.

(c)  The Borrower shall indemnify the AdministregtiAgent, each Lender and the Issuing Bank, witBinlays after demand
therefor, for the full amount of any IndemnifiedXga payable by the Administrative Agent, such Lemuehe Issuing Bank, as the case may be,
on or with respect to any payment by or on accofiany obligation of the Borrower hereunder or uratey other Loan Document and any O
taxes payable by the Administrative Agent, suchdsgror the Issuing Bank (including Indemnified Teuoe Other Taxes imposed or asserted on
or attributable to amounts payable under this Sertind reasonable expenses arising therefromtbrrespect thereto, whether or not such
Indemnified Taxes or Other Taxes were correctliegally imposed or asserted by the relevant Govertah Authority. A certificate as to the
amount of such payment or liability delivered te Borrower by a Lender or the Issuing Bank (witopy to the Administrative Agent), or by
the Administrative Agent on its own behalf or orhak of a Lender or the Issuing Bank, shall be dasize absent manifest error.

(d)  Assoon as practicable after any paymenndéinnified Taxes or Other Taxes by the Borrowex @overnmental
Authority, the Borrower shall deliver to the Adnsirative Agent the original or a certified copyaofeceipt issued by such Governmental
Authority evidencing such payment, a copy of thenmereporting such payment or other evidence offaayment reasonably satisfactory to the
Administrative Agent.

(e) (i) Each Lender or Issuing Bank that is édito an exemption from or reduction of withholglifax (including backup
withholding Tax) under the law of the jurisdictionwhich the Borrower is resident for tax purposesany treaty to which such jurisdiction is a
party, with respect to any payment under any Loaauinent shall deliver to the Borrower and the Adstiative Agent at any time or times
reasonably requested by the Borrower or the Adinatise Agent, such properly completed and execdtemimentation as may be prescribe
applicable law or reasonably requested by the Barmr the Administrative Agent to permit such pays to be made without such
withholding Tax or at a reduced rate.
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(i) Without limiting the generality of the foregwj, any Foreign Lender or Issuing Bank shall, todhktent it is legally eligible
to do so, deliver to the Borrower and the Admisit'e Agent (in such number of copies as shalogiested by the recipient) on or prior to the
date on which such Foreign Lender or Issuing Badolmes a party under this Agreement (and from tintene thereafter upon the request of
the Borrower or the Administrative Agent, but oiflguch Foreign Lender or Issuing Bank is legallgible to do so), whichever of the
following is applicable:

0] duly completed copies of Internal Reue Service Form W-8BEN (or any successor fortaghing eligibility for
benefits of an income tax treaty to which the UWhitates is a party,

(1)) duly completed copies of Internalieaue Service Form W-8ECI (or any successor forms),

(1 in the case of a Foreign Lendelssuing Bank claiming the benefits of the exempfamportfolio interest under
Section 881(c) of the Code, (x) a certificate,ubstantially the form of Exhibit F-1, or any otlferm approved by the Administrative
Agent, to the effect that such Foreign Lender suilsg Bank is not (A) a “bank” within the meaninigSection 881(c)(3)(A) of the
Code, (B) a “10 percent shareholder” of the applie®@orrower within the meaning of Section 881(¥83 of the Code, or (C) a
“controlled foreign corporation” described in Secti881(c)(3)(C) of the Code, and that no paymentohnnection with the Loan
Documents are effectively connected with such fgoréiender’s or Issuing Bank’s conduct of a U.Sdérar business and (y) duly
completed copies of Internal Revenue Service For8BEN (or any successor forms),

(Iv) to the extent a Foreign Lender auisig Bank is not the beneficial owner (for examplbere the Foreign Lender or
Issuing Bank is a partnership, or a participatiegder granting a typical participation), an IntéfRavenue Service Form W-8IMY,
accompanied by a Form W-8ECI, W-8BEN, a certifigatsubstantially the form of Exhibit F-2, Exhilit3 or Exhibit F-4, as
applicable, Form W-9, and/or other certificatiorcdments from each beneficial owner, as applicailayided that, if the Foreign
Lender or Issuing Bank is a partnership (and nmaréicipating Lender) and one or more partnersiohd~oreign Lender or Issuing
Banks are claiming the portfolio interest exemptisunch Foreign Lender or Issuing Bank shall proadertificate, in substantially the
form of Exhibit F-3, on behalf of such beneficialmer(s) (in lieu of requiring each beneficial owbeiprovide such certificate);

V) any other form prescribed by appliedlaws as a basis for claiming exemption from eeduction in U.S. federal

withholding tax duly completed together with sucipglementary documentation as may be prescribegppljcable requirements of
law to permit the applicable Borrower and the Adistiiative Agent to determine the withholding or detibn required to be made; and
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(VI if a payment made to a Lender oulsg Bank under any Loan Document would be sultgett.S. federal
withholding Tax imposed by FATCA if such Lenderlssuing Bank were to fail to comply with the applite reporting requirements
FATCA (including those contained in Section 1471¢b)1472(b) of the Code, as applicable), such Lendéssuing Bank shall deliver
to the Borrower and the Administrative Agent at tinge or times prescribed by law and at such timgnees reasonably requested by
the Borrower or the Administrative Agent such doemtation prescribed by applicable law (includingpeesscribed by Section 1471(b)
(3)(C)(i) of the Code) and such additional docuragah reasonably requested by the Borrower or tthaiAistrative Agent as may be
necessary for the Borrower and the Administratige®t to comply with their obligations under FATCAdato determine whether such
Lender or Issuing Bank has complied with such Lesd® Issuing Banls obligations under FATCA or to determine the antpifiany,
to deduct and withhold from such payment. Solelypurposes of this clause (D), “FATCA” shall indeiany amendments made to
FATCA after the date of this Agreement.

(iiiy Each Foreign Lender or Issuing Bank shalbrfrtime to time after the initial delivery by sugbreign Lender or Issuing
Bank of the forms described above, whenever a lapsee or change in such Lender’s or Issuing Bawskcumstances renders such forms,
certificates or other evidence so delivered obsadetinaccurate, promptly (1) deliver to the Boreovand the Administrative Agent (in such
number of copies as shall be requested by theieatjgenewals, amendments or additional or suoccdsamns, properly completed and duly
executed by such Foreign Lender or Issuing Bargetteer with any other certificate or statementx@meption required in order to confirm or
establish such Foreign Lender’s or Issuing Barsitatus or that such Foreign Lender or IssuingkBaantitled to an exemption from or reduct
in any applicable withholding tax or (2) notify Adimistrative Agent and the Borrower of its inability deliver any such forms, certificates or
other evidence.

(iv) Any Lender or Issuing Bank that is a “Uniteth®s person” (within the meaning of Section 770B@ of the Code) shall
deliver to the Borrower and the Administrative Agen or prior to the date on which such Person imesoa party under this Agreement (and
from time to time thereafter as prescribed by aygylie law or upon the request of the Borrower erAlministrative Agent), duly executed and
properly completed copies of Internal Revenue $erflFiorm W-9 certifying that it is not subject tdSUfederal backup withholding.

® If the Administrative Agent, a Lender or ttesuing Bank determines, in its sole discretioat thhas received a refund
of any Taxes or Other Taxes as to which it has lrdemnified by the Borrower or with respect to ehthe Borrower has paid additional
amounts pursuant to this Section, it shall pay&Borrower an amount equal to such refund (bt tmthe extent of indemnity payments me
or additional amounts paid, by the Borrower unties Section with respect to the Taxes or Other $axkeing rise to such refund), net of all out-
of-pocket expenses of the Administrative Agent, suehder or the Issuing Bank, as the case may beyglndut interest (other than any inter
paid by the relevant Governmental Authority witBpect to such refund), provided that the Borrowpon the request of the Administrative
Agent, such Lender or the Issuing Bank, agreespay the amount paid over to the Borrower (pluspamalties, interest or other charges
imposed by the relevant Governmental Authoritylht® Administrative Agent, such Lender or the Isgudank in the event the Administrative
Agent, such Lender or the Issuing Bank is requiceepay such refund to such Governmental Authofitiis paragraph shall not be construed
to require the Administrative Agent, any Lendettar Issuing Bank to make available its tax retonsny other information relating to its ta
that it deems confidential in its reasonable dis@ng to the Borrower or any other Person.
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SECTION 2.15 Payments Generally; Pro Rata TreaitnSharing of Setoffs

() _Payments by the BorroweiThe Borrower shall make each payment requirdietmade by it hereunder (whether of
principal, interest, fees or reimbursement of LGHirsements, or of amounts payable under Sectid) Section 2.13 or Section 2.14, or
otherwise), or under any other Loan Document (eixtethe extent otherwise provided therein), ptao2:00 pm, New York City time, on the
date when due, in immediately available funds, sutrsetoff or counterclaim. Any amounts receivitdrasuch time on any date may, in the
discretion of the Administrative Agent, be deemztiave been received on the next succeeding Bgsides for purposes of calculating interest
thereon. All such payments shall be made to thmiAidtrative Agent at its offices at the addressvjted pursuant to Section 9.01, except as
otherwise expressly provided in the relevant Loacubnent and except payments to be made directhettssuing Bank as expressly provided
herein and payments pursuant to Section 2.12,8e2t13, Section 2.14 and Section 9.03, which dfethade directly to the Persons entitled
thereto. The Administrative Agent shall distribatgy such payments received by it for account of@hgr Person to the appropriate recipient
promptly following receipt thereof. If any paymédregreunder shall be due on a day that is not anBssiDay, the date for payment shall be
extended to the next succeeding Business Day atlde icase of any payment accruing interest, istéhereon shall be payable for the period of
such extension. All payments hereunder or undgio#rer Loan Document (except to the extent otrezwirovided therein) shall be made in
Dollars.

(b) _Application of Insufficient Paymentslf at any time insufficient funds are receiveddnd available to the
Administrative Agent to pay fully all amounts ofipzipal, unreimbursed LC Disbursements, interestfaes then due hereunder, such funds
shall be applied (i) first, to pay interest andsfé®en due hereunder, ratably among the partiétedrthereto in accordance with the amounts of
interest and fees then due to such parties, angke@ond, to pay principal and unreimbursed LC irisbments then due hereunder, ratably ai
the parties entitled thereto in accordance withatim@unts of principal and unreimbursed LC Disbuesgtisithen due to such parties.

(c) Pro Rata TreatmentExcept to the extent otherwise provided hergineach Borrowing shall be made from the
Lenders, each payment of commitment fee under @e2tD9 shall be made for account of the Lendeid,emch termination or reduction of the
amount of the Commitments under Section 2.07 $teafipplied to the respective Commitments of thedees) pro rata according to the amounts
of their respective Commitments; (ii) each Borrogvghall be allocated pro rata among the Lendemsrditg to the amounts of their respective
Commitments (in the case of the making of Loangheir respective Loans that are to be includeglith Borrowing (in the case of conversions
and continuations of Loans); (iii) each paymenpm@payment of principal of Loans by the Borrowleallsbe made for account of the Lenders
pro rata in accordance with the respective unpaittipal amounts of the Loans held by them; anjiéach payment of interest on Loans by the
Borrower shall be made for account of the Lendessrata in accordance with the amounts of intevastuch Loans then due and payable to the
respective Lenders.
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(d)  Sharing of Payments by Lenderf any Lender shall, by exercising any rightsetoff or counterclaim or otherwise,
obtain payment in respect of any principal of deiast on any of its Loans or other obligationghader resulting in such Lender’s receiving
payment of a proportion of the aggregate amouitsdfoans and accrued interest thereon or othér ghligations greater than its pro rata share
thereof as provided herein, then the Lender rewgisiich greater proportion shall (A) notify the Adistrative Agent of such fact and
(B) purchase (for cash at face value) participationthe Loans and such other obligations of therotenders, or make such other adjustments
as shall be equitable, so that the benefit ofladhgpayments shall be shared by the Lenders raitablgcordance with the aggregate amount of
principal of and accrued interest on their respedtioans and other amounts owing thenayvided that:

(i)  ifany such participations are purchased alhdr any portion of the payment giving rise theris recovered,
such participations shall be rescinded and theh@asee price restored to the extent of such recowvétigout interest; and

(i)  the provisions of this paragraph shall netdonstrued to apply to (x) any payment made bBtireower
pursuant to and in accordance with the expressstefrthis Agreement or (y) any payment obtaine@ hender as consideration for the
assignment of or sale of a participation in anit®foans or participations in LC Disbursementary assignee or participant, other
than to the Borrower or any Subsidiary thereoft¢ashich the provisions of this paragraph shalllgpp

The Borrower consents to the foregoing and agtedhe extent it may effectively do so under apgilie law, that any Lender acquiring a
participation pursuant to the foregoing arrangemsemy exercise against the Borrower rights of $etad counterclaim with respect to such
participation as fully as if such Lender were adircreditor of the Borrower in the amount of spelticipation.

(e) _Payments by the Borrower; Presumptions byAdiainistrative Agent Unless the Administrative Agent shall have
received notice from the Borrower prior to the datewhich any payment is due to the Administrathgent for the account of the Lenders or
Issuing Bank hereunder that the Borrower will natken such payment, the Administrative Agent may mgsthat the Borrower has made such
payment on such date in accordance herewith andimagliance upon such assumption, distributdéoltenders or the Issuing Bank, as the
case may be, the amount due. In such event, Bénewer has not in fact made such payment, tleh ef the Lenders or the Issuing Bank, as
the case may be, severally agrees to repay todh@mstrative Agent forthwith on demand the amosmtistributed to such Lender or the
Issuing Bank with interest thereon, for each daynfiand including the date such amount is distrithtibdt to but excluding the date of payment
to the Administrative Agent, at the greater of Begleral Funds Effective Rate and a rate deternigeéle Administrative Agent in accordance
with banking industry rules on interbank compersati
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(H  Certain Deductions by the Administrative Agenf any Lender shall fail to make any paymentuieed to be made by it
pursuant to Section 2.04(e), Section 2.05 or Se@it5(e), then the Administrative Agent may, sdtscretion (notwithstanding any contrary
provision hereof), apply any amounts thereafteeiresd by the Administrative Agent for account ofsu.ender to satisfy such Lender’s
obligations under such Sections until all such tisad obligations are fully paid.

SECTION 2.16 Mitigation Obligations; Replacemeht.enders

(@) _Designation of a Different Lending Officdf any Lender requests compensation under Segtit?, or requires the
Borrower to pay any additional amount to any Leratesiny Governmental Authority for the account o§ &ender pursuant to Section 2.14, t
such Lender shall use reasonable efforts to detsigndifferent lending office for funding or boogiits Loans hereunder or to assign its rights
and obligations hereunder to another of its offiteanches or affiliates, if, in the judgment oflsuLender, such designation or assignment
(i) would eliminate or reduce amounts payable pamsto Section 2.12 or Section 2.14, as the cagebman the future and (ii) would not
subject such Lender to any unreimbursed cost ceresgpand would not otherwise be disadvantageasctoLender. The Borrower hereby
agrees to pay all reasonable costs and expensgseiddy any Lender in connection with any suchgiegion or assignment.

(b) Replacement of Lenderdf any Lender requests compensation under Segtib2, or if the Borrower is required to pay
any additional amount to any Lender or any Govemtaiéduthority for the account of any Lender pursiu Section 2.14, or if any Lender
becomes a Defaulting Lender, or if any Lender shlihold its consent to any amendment to this €igreement that requires the consent of
all the Lenders or each affected Lender and thebkan consented to by the Required Lenders, ligeBdrrower may, at its sole expense and
effort, upon notice to such Lender and the Admiaiste Agent, require such Lender to assign andgige, without recourse (in accordance
and subject to the restrictions contained in, amsents required by, Section 9.04), all of itsriesés, rights and obligations under this Agreer
and the related Loan Documents to an assignesltalitassume such obligations (which assignee raanbther Lender, if a Lender accepts
such assignmentprovided that:

(i) the Borrower shall have paid to the Admirasitre Agent the assignment fee specified in Se@iod;

(i)  such Lender shall have received paymentofimount equal to the outstanding principal oLdans and
participations in LC Disbursements, accrued intetesreon, accrued fees and all other amounts payalt hereunder and under the
other Loan Documents (including any amounts unéetiGn 2.13) from the assignee (to the extent ohswtstanding principal and
accrued interest and fees) or the Borrower (ircttee of all other amounts);
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(i) inthe case of any such assignment resgifiom a claim for compensation under Section 2r1@ayments
required to be made pursuant to Section 2.14, assignment will result in a reduction in such congagion or payments thereafter;
and

(iv)  such assignment does not conflict with aqgdble law.

A Lender shall not be required to make any suclyasgent or delegation if, prior thereto, as a resfib waiver by such Lender or otherwise,
circumstances entitling the Borrower to requirehsassignment and delegation cease to apply. Eawotidr agrees that, if the Borrower elects to
replace such Lender in accordance with this Se@ib, it shall promptly execute and deliver to tministrative Agent an Assignment and
Assumption to evidence the assignment and shallete¢b the Administrative Agent any Notes issueddspect of such Lender’s Loans;
provided that the failure of any such Lender to execute asighment and Assumption shall not render suclgmasgnt invalid and such
assignment shall be recorded in the Register.

SECTION 2.17 Defaulting Lenders

Notwithstanding any provision of this Agreementhe contrary, if any Lender becomes a Defaultingdeg, then the
following provisions shall apply for so long as Bu@nder is a Defaulting Lender:

(@ commitment fees shall cease to accrue oarthended portion of the Commitment of such Defaglti ender pursuant
to Section 2.09(a);

(b) the Commitments and Revolving Credit Exposafreuch Defaulting Lender shall not be includedétermining
whether all Lenders or the Required Lenders hakentar may take any action hereunder (including@msent to any amendment or waiver
pursuant to Section 9.03);ovided that any waiver, amendment or modification requgitine consent of all Lenders or each affected Liende
which affects such Defaulting Lender differenthathother affected Lenders shall require the corsfesuich Defaulting Lender;

(c) ifany LC Exposure exists at the time a Leritlcomes a Defaulting Lender then:

(i)  all or any part of such LC Exposure shallrballocated among the non-Defaulting Lenders imatance with
their respective Applicable Percentages but onthéoextent (x) the sum of all non-Defaulting Lergd®evolving Credit Exposures a
LC Exposure does not exceed the total of all nofalleng Lenders’ Commitments and (y) the condiiaet forth in Section 4.02 are
satisfied at such time;

(i)  if the reallocation described in clauseghove cannot, or can only partially, be effectbd,Borrower shall
within three Business Days following notice by h@ministrative Agent, without prejudice to any rigtor remedies of the Borrower
against such Defaulting Lender, cash collateralimeh Defaulting Lender’'s LC Exposure (after giveftgct to any partial reallocation
pursuant to clause (i) above) in accordance withptiocedures set forth in Section 2.04(k) for smylas such LC Exposure is
outstanding;
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(i) if the Borrower cash collateralizes any fion of such Defaulting Lender’'s LC Exposure purgua Section
2.17(c), the Borrower shall not be required to pay fees to such Defaulting Lender pursuant toi@e& 09(b) with respect to such
Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure during the periadts Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure is cash cotkdired;

(iv)  if the LC Exposure of the non-Defaulting ldsrs is reallocated pursuant to Section 2.17(e)) the fees
otherwise payable to the Defaulting Lender purst@&ection 2.09(b) shall be allocated among threDefaulting Lenders in
accordance with such non-Defaulting Lenders’ Aggilie Percentages; and

(v)  if any Defaulting Lender’s LC Exposure is their cash collateralized nor reallocated pursua®ection 2.17
(c), then, without prejudice to any rights or remesdf the Issuing Bank or any Lender hereundecomhmitment fees that otherwise
would have been payable to such Defaulting Lensiadely with respect to the portion of such DefaugtLenders Commitment that wi
utilized by such LC Exposure) and letter of créeés payable under Section 2.09(b) with respestith Defaulting Lender’s LC
Exposure shall be payable to the Issuing Bank aanth LC Exposure is cash collateralized and/dloesed,;

(d) solong as any Lender is a Defaulting Lentler,Issuing Bank shall not be required to issoegrad or increase any
Letter of Credit, unless the related exposure bglll00% covered by the Commitments of the non-Difigu_enders and/or cash collateral will
be provided by the Borrower in accordance with i8ac2.17(c), and participating interests in anyhsnewly issued or increased Letter of Credit
shall be allocated among non-Defaulting Lendeis manner consistent with Section 2.17(c)(i) (anéaDking Lenders shall not participate
therein); and

(e) any amount payable to such Defaulting Lender heteufwhether on account of principal, interestsfeeotherwise ar
including any amount that would otherwise be pagablsuch Defaulting Lender pursuant to SectioB@)lbut excluding Section 2.16(b)) sh
in lieu of being distributed to such Defaulting ldem, be retained by the Administrative Agent iregregated account and, subject to any
applicable requirements of law, be applied at dimb or times as may be determined by the Admatiste Agent (i) first, to the payment of any
amounts owing by such Defaulting Lender to the Adstiative Agent hereunder, (ii) second, pro raddhe payment of any amounts owing by
such Defaulting Lender to the Issuing Bank heregn@g third, if so determined by the Administie¢ Agent or requested by an Issuing Bank,
to be held in such account as cash collateralftré funding obligations of the Defaulting Lendémany participating interest in any Letter of
Credit, (iv) fourth, to the funding of any Loannespect of which such Defaulting Lender has faiteflind its portion thereof as required by this
Agreement, as determined by the Administrative Age) fifth, if so determined by the AdministragivAgent and the Borrower, held in such
account as cash collateral for future funding ailgns of the Defaulting Lender of any Loans urtties Agreement, (vi) sixth, to the payment of
any amounts owing to the Lenders or an Issuing Bark result of any judgment of a court of compgteisdiction obtained by any Lender or
such Issuing Bank against such Defaulting Lender @sult of such Defaulting Lender’s breach obltigations under this Agreement, (vii)
seventh, to the payment of any amounts owing t@tireower as a result of any judgment of a coutarhpetent jurisdiction obtained by the
Borrower against such Defaulting Lender as a residtich Defaulting Lender’s breach of its obligas under this Agreement, and (viii) eighth,
to such Defaulting Lender or as otherwise direttgad court of competent jurisdictioprovided that if such payment is (x) a prepayment of the
principal amount of any Loans or reimbursementgations in respect of LC Disbursements for whidbefdaulting Lender has funded its
participation obligations and (y) made at a timeewkhe conditions set forth in Section 4.02 arisfad, such payment shall be applied solely to
prepay the Loans of, and reimbursement obligatiomed to, all non-Defaulting Lenders pro rata ptobeing applied to the prepayment of any
Loans, or reimbursement obligations owed to, anfallléng Lender.
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In the event that the Administrative Agent, the Barer and the Issuing Bank each agrees that a Diefauender has
adequately remedied all matters that caused suattereo be a Defaulting Lender, then the LC Expesidthe Lenders shall be readjusted to
reflect the inclusion of such Lender's Commitmemd @n such date such Lender shall purchase atiphras the Loans of the other Lenders as
the Administrative shall determine may be necessaoyder for such Lender to hold such Loans iroagance with its Applicable Percentage.

ARTICLE Il

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

The Borrower represents and warrants to the Adtnittige Agent, the Issuing Bank and each of thedees that:

SECTION 3.01 Organization; Power&overnmental Approvals

(@ The Borrower and each Principal Subsidiary (i)ufydrganized, validly existing and in good stamdimder the laws ¢
the jurisdiction of its organization, (ii) has edlquisite power and authority to own its properg assets and to carry on its business as now
conducted and (iii) is qualified to do businesgwery jurisdiction where such qualification is reqd, except where the failure so to qualify
would not have a Material Adverse Effect. The Barer's execution, delivery and performance of tbam.Documents are within its corporate
powers, have been duly authorized by all necessaiyn and do not violate or create a default ugdeapplicable law, (B) its constituent
documents, or (C) any contractual provision bindipgn it, except to the extent (in the case ofatiohs or defaults described under clauses (A)
or (C)) such violation or default would not reasolyebe expected to result in a Material AdverseeEiffand would not have an adverse effect on
the validity, binding effect or enforceability dfis Agreement or any other Loan Documents and woaotdnaterially adversely affect any of the
rights of the Administrative Agent or any Lendedenor in connection with this Agreement or anyeothoan Documents. Each of the Loan
Documents constitutes the legal, valid and bindibligation of the Borrower enforceable againshiaccordance with its terms (except as such
enforceability may be limited by applicable bankaoyp reorganization, insolvency, moratorium andeotlaws affecting the rights of creditors
generally and general principles of equity, inchgdan implied covenant of good faith and fair degli
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(b) Except for (i) any Governmental Approvalsuiggd in connection with any Borrowings (such amate being “
Borrowing Approvals’) and (ii) any Governmental Approvals the failtoeobtain which could not reasonably be expecteddalt in a Material
Adverse Effect or affect the validity or enforcdapiof this Agreement or any other Loan Documettit Governmental Approvals required in
connection with the execution and delivery by tlwerBwer of this Agreement and the other Loan Doauihand the performance by the
Borrower of its obligations hereunder and thereuh@®e been, and, prior to the time of any Borrayadl Borrowing Approvals will be, duly
obtained, are (or, in the case of Borrowing Apptewvaill be) in full force and effect without haxgrbeen amended or modified in any manner
that may impair the ability of the Borrower to pmrh its obligations under this Agreement, and ate(or, in the case of Borrowing Approvals,
will not be) the subject of any pending appealy staother challenge.

SECTION 3.02 Financial Statement3he Borrower has furnished its most recentdinvith the Securities and Exchange
Commission on Forms 10-K and 10-Q. Such Forms HwK10-Q do not contain any untrue statementno&t@rial fact or omit to state a
material fact necessary to make any statementithéndight of the circumstances under which itsvaade, not misleading. Each of the
financial statements in such Forms 10-K and 10-Qteen, and each of the most recent financialnstates to be furnished pursuant to
Section 5.02 will be, prepared in accordance wi#AB applied consistently with prior periods, excapttherein noted and except for change
FASB ASC 840, and fairly presents or will fairlygsent in all material respects the consolidatezhfiral position of the Borrower and its
Subsidiaries as of the date thereof and the residte operations of the Borrower and its Subsiel&afor the period then ended.

SECTION 3.03 _No Material Adverse Chang8ince the date of the Borrower’s most recerarfgial statements contained
in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscabyended December 31, 2012, there has been noiahathkrerse change in, and there has
occurred no event or condition which is likely &sult in a material adverse change in, the findwcoiadition, results of operations, business,
assets or operations of the Borrower and the Sialosid taken as a whole (it being understood tiemtbnsummation of an Asset Exchange shall
not constitute such a material adverse change).

SECTION 3.04 Titles to Properties; Possessionddhdases

(&) To the best of the Borrower’s knowledge, eaictne Borrower and the Principal Subsidiaries ¢@sd and marketable
title to, or valid leasehold interests in, or othights to use or occupy, all its material propestand assets, except for minor defects in tiledh
not interfere with its ability to conduct its bueBs as currently conducted or to utilize such ptmseand assets for their intended purposes. All
such material properties and assets are free anda Liens, other than Liens expressly permite&ection 6.01.

(b) Each of the Borrower and the Principal Sulasiels has complied with all obligations undemaditerial leases to which
it is a party and all such leases are in full faxod effect, except where such failure to complgnaintain such leases in full force and effect
would not have a Material Adverse Effect. Eaclthef Borrower and the Subsidiaries enjoys peacefillusmdisturbed possession under all such
material leases except where such failure wouldhawe a Material Adverse Effect.
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SECTION 3.05 _Ownership of Subsidiarie$he Borrower owns, free and clear of any Ligihéothan Liens expressly
permitted by Section 6.01), all of the issued ant$tanding shares of common stock of each of theipal Subsidiaries.

SECTION 3.06 Litigation Compliance with Laws

(@ There is no action, suit, or proceeding,ryr governmental investigation or any arbitrationeach case pending or, to
the knowledge of the Borrower, threatened agaimesBorrower or any of the Subsidiaries or any ni@teroperty of any thereof before any
court or arbitrator or any governmental or admmaiste body, agency, or official which (i) challegthe validity of this Agreement or any other
Loan Document, (ii) may reasonably be expectecht@ta material adverse effect on the ability ofBberower to perform any of its obligations
under this Agreement or any other Loan Documemtnathe rights of or benefits available to the Lesdender this Agreement or any other Loan
Document or (iii) except as disclosed in the Borow Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal yeaded December 31, 2012, may
reasonably be expected to have a Material AdveffeetE

(b)  Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsieis in violation of any law, rule, or regulatjar in default with respect
to any judgment, writ, injunction or decree of &gvernmental Authority, where such violation oraléf could reasonably be expected to result
in a Material Adverse Effect.

(c) Except as set forth in or contemplated byfifencial statements or other reports referreid t®ection 3.02, (i) the
Borrower and each of its Subsidiaries have compliigl all Environmental Laws, except to the exttvat failure to so comply is not reasonably
likely to have a Material Adverse Effect, (ii) regtr the Borrower nor any of its Subsidiaries h#lsdao obtain, maintain or comply with any
permit, license or other approval under any Envitental Law, except where such failure is not reabbylikely to have a Material Adverse
Effect, (iii) neither the Borrower nor any of itsilSsidiaries has received notice of any failuredmply with any Environmental Law or become
subject to any liability under any Environmentali,@xcept where such failure or liability is noasenably likely to have a Material Adverse
Effect, (iv) no facilities of the Borrower or any its Subsidiaries are used to manage any Spedfidxtance in violation of any law, except to
the extent that such violations, individually ortle aggregate, are not reasonably likely to haMatrial Adverse Effect, and (v) the Borrower
is aware of no events, conditions or circumstanoedving any Release of a Specified Substanceishaasonably likely to have a Material
Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.07 Agreements

€)) Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidirs a party to any agreement or instrument bjestito any corporate
restriction that has resulted, or could reasonbblgxpected to result, in a Material Adverse Effect
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(b) Neither the Borrower nor any of the Subsieigis in default in any manner under any provisibany indenture or
other agreement or instrument evidencing Indebt&irar any other material agreement or instrumeewhich it is a party or by which it or any
of its properties or assets are or may be boundrevbuch default could reasonably be expectedstdti@ a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.08 Federal Reserve Regulatioméo part of the proceeds of the Loans will bedusehether directly or
indirectly, and whether immediately, incidentalty,ultimately, for any purpose which entails a gt@n of, or which is inconsistent with, the
provisions of the Margin Regulations.

SECTION 3.09 _Investment Company AcNeither the Borrower nor any of the Subsidiaigean “investment company” as
defined in, or subject to regulation under, theebtment Company Act of 1940.

SECTION 3.10 _Use of Proceed§ he Borrower will use the proceeds of the Loamly for general corporate purposes,
including working capital and Securitization Tractans permitted hereunder as well as one or mogaisitions or Asset Exchanggspvided
that no such proceeds shall be used (i) to makdRastricted Payment or (i) directly or indirecityconnection with any Hostile Acquisition.

SECTION 3.11 _Tax ReturnsEach of the Borrower and each of the Subsididrés filed or caused to be filed all Federal,
state and local and non-U.S. tax returns requodthte been filed by it and has paid or causee todid all taxes (whether or not shown in such
tax returns) and satisfied all of its withholdirax tobligations, except (i) taxes that are beingested in good faith by appropriate proceedings
and for which the Borrower shall have set asidéhooks adequate reserves in accordance with G&AR) where such failure to file or pay
would not reasonably be expected to result in eetdtAdverse Effect.

SECTION 3.12 _No Material Misstatement®o statement, information, report, financiatataent, exhibit or schedule
furnished by or on behalf of the Borrower to theridistrative Agent or any Lender in connection whie syndication or negotiation of this
Agreement or any other Loan Document or include@iheor therein or delivered pursuant hereto ordftecontained, contains, or will contain
any material misstatement of fact or intentionaltgitted, omits, or will omit to state any matefiatt necessary to make the statements therein,
in the light of the circumstances under which theye, are, or will be made, not misleading.

SECTION 3.13 Employee Benefit Plans

€)) Each Plan is in compliance with ERISA, exdepisuch noncompliance that has not resultedcanttl not reasonably
be expected to result, in a Material Adverse Effect

(b)  No Plan has an accumulated or waived fundifigiency within the meaning of Section 412 ort#er418B of the
Code and no failure to satisfy the minimum fundstandard under Section 412 of the Code has occuatesther or not waived, with respect to
any Plan, except for any such deficiency or failing has not resulted, and could not reasonabgxpected to result, in a Material Adverse
Effect.
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(c) No proceedings have been instituted to testeimany Plan, except for such proceedings wherth@enation of a Plan
has not resulted, and could not reasonably be &gbéa result, in a Material Adverse Effect.

(d)  Neither the Borrower nor any Subsidiary ol &R Affiliate has incurred any liability to or orceount of a Plan under
ERISA (other than obligations to make contributionaccordance with such Plan), and no conditiastexvhich presents a material risk to the
Borrower or any Subsidiary of incurring such aliliyg except for such liabilities that have not resulted, andldaot reasonably be expected to
result, in a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 3.14 _lInsuranceEach of the Borrower and the Principal Subsidé&amaintains insurance with financially sound
and reputable insurers, or self-insurance, witheesto its properties and business against lodamage of the kind customarily insured against
by reputable companies in the same or similar legsimnd of such types and in such amounts (with deductible amounts) as is customary for
such companies under similar circumstances.

ARTICLE IV
CONDITIONS

SECTION 4.01 _Effective Date The obligations of the Lenders to make Loansdadrtte Issuing Bank to issue Letters of
Credit hereunder shall not become effective uhéldate on which each of the following conditiohsatisfied (or waived in accordance with
Section 9.02):

(a) _Executed CounterpartsThe Administrative Agent shall have receivediireach party hereto either (i) a
counterpart of this Agreement signed on behaliushgarty or (ii) written evidence reasonably $ati®ry to the Administrative Agent
(which may include telecopy transmission of a sihjgignature page to this Agreement) that such pesysigned a counterpart of this
Agreement.

(b)  Opinion of General Counsel to the Borrowéfhe Administrative Agent shall have receive@weofable writtel
opinion (addressed to the Administrative Agent trelLenders and dated the Effective Date) of Andbev€rain, Esq., General
Counsel to the Borrower, substantially in the farhiExhibit B, and covering such other matters retato the Borrower, this Agreeme
or the Transactions as the Administrative Agentlshasonably request (and the Borrower herebyuntt such counsel to deliver such
opinion to the Lenders and the Administrative Agent

(c) Opinion of Special New York Counsel to therf®aver. The Administrative Agent shall have received a
favorable written opinion (addressed to the Adntiatb/e Agent and the Lenders and dated the Effeddate) of Jones Day, special
New York Counsel to the Borrower, substantiallyhie form of Exhibit C, and covering such other mattrelating to the Borrower, this
Agreement or the Transactions as the Administradigent shall reasonably request (and the Borrowesly instructs such counsel to
deliver such opinion to the Lenders and the Adniafve Agent).
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(d)  Corporate DocumentsThe Administrative Agent shall have receivedfdnm and substance reasonably
satisfactory to it, such documents and certificakethe Administrative Agent or its counsel maysoeebly request relating to the
organization, existence and good standing of theeddeer and the authorization of the Transactions.

(e) Officets Certificate The Administrative Agent shall have receivediorm and substance reasonably
satisfactory to it, a certificate, dated the EffieztDate and signed by an officer of the Borroveenfirming that as of the Effective Date
(i) the representations and warranties of the Beercset forth in this Agreement and in the otheah®ocuments are true and correc
all material respects and (ii) no Default shalldaecurred and be continuing.

(H Fees The Administrative Agent and the Lenders shalldreceived payment of all fees as the Borrowalt sh
have agreed to pay to the Administrative Agentryr laender in connection herewith, including thes@@ble fees and expenses of
Cahill Gordon & ReindelLr , special New York counsel to JPMorgan Chase Birk,, in connection with the negotiation,
preparation, execution and delivery of this Agreatand the other Loan Documents and the extensiba®dit hereunder (to the
extent that statements in reasonable detail fdn fers and expenses have been delivered to thevigan):

() Termination of Existing Credit Agreementhe Administrative Agent shall have receivedievice that the
principal of and interest on the loans under, dhdtler amounts owing under or in respect of,Exésting Credit Agreement shall have
been (or shall simultaneously be) paid in full aficcommitments to extend credit thereunder of langer thereunder shall have been
terminated, in each case in a manner reasonalidyesabry to the Administrative Agent.

(h) PATRIOT Act. The Administrative Agent shall have receiveddaitumentation and other information
required by regulatory authorities under applicakieow your customer” and anti-money launderingeauand regulations, including
without limitation, the USA PATRIOT Act that hasdrerequested at least five Business Days pridredetfective Date.

SECTION 4.02 Each Credit EvenfThe obligation of each Lender to make any Laaecluding any Loans on the date
hereof (but not a conversion or continuation of i®that does not increase the principal amountdi £o0ans), and of the Issuing Bank to issue,
amend, renew or extend any Letter of Credit, igestitio the satisfaction of the following conditfon

(@) the representations and warranties of thedBar set forth in this Agreement and in the othesin Documents
shall be true and correct in all material respentand as of the date of such Loan or the datesabince, amendment, renewal or
extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicabkeépt to the extent such representations and megsaexpressly relate to an earlier
date, in which case they shall be true and coimesl material respects as of such earlier dae;
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(b) atthe time of and immediately after givirffeet to such Loan or the issuance, amendmentyaina
extension of such Letter of Credit, as applicabteDefault shall have occurred and be continuing.

Each Borrowing and each issuance or amendmentisiaggethe amount of a Letter of Credit shall bentks@ to constitute a
representation and warranty by the Borrower ordtite thereof as to the matters specified in thegglieg sentence.

ARTICLE V

AFFIRMATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower covenants and agrees with the Admatise Agent, the Issuing Bank and each Lender #watong as this
Agreement shall remain in effect or the principlbointerest on any Loan (or any portion thereof)any other expenses or amounts payable
hereunder (other than contingent obligations ipeesof which no claim has been made), shall baidner any Letter of Credit shall remain
outstanding, the Borrower will:

SECTION 5.01 Existence; Businesses and Properties

(a) Preserve and maintain, cause each of the PrinSigasidiaries to preserve and maintain, and cawteather Subsidial
to preserve and maintain (where the failure bysugh other Subsidiary to so preserve and maintairidiikely result in a Material Adverse
Effect), its corporate existence, rights and frases$, except in connection with an Asset Exchapigwjded that the corporate existence of any
Principal Subsidiary may be terminated if such teation is not disadvantageous to the Administeathgent or any Lender;

(b)  continue to own (directly or indirectly) aif the outstanding shares of common stock of eaicitipal Subsidiary,
except in connection with an Asset Exchange;

(c) comply, and cause each of the Subsidiariestaply, in all material respects, with all appbtalaws, rules, regulations
and orders, including all Environmental Laws;

(d) pay, and cause each of the Subsidiaries to pagrdahy such amounts become delinquent, (i) aleSdxposed upon
or upon its property, and (ii) all claims (includiclaims for labor, materials, supplies, or sersjaghich might, if unpaid, become a Lien upor
property, unless, in each case, the validity or@amthereof is being disputed in good faith, arelBlorrower has maintained adequate reserves
with respect thereto, or where the failure to spywauld be reasonably expected to cause a Matkdiedrse Effect;
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(e) keep, and cause each of the Subsidiariesep, bproper books of record and account, contaitongplete and accurate
entries of all financial and business transactifrtte Borrower and such Subsidiary in all mateizpects;

()  continue to carry on, and cause each Prih@pasidiary to continue to carry on, substantitily same type of business
as the Borrower or such Principal Subsidiary cotetlias of the date hereof and business reasoredatga or complementary thereto or a
reasonable extension thereof, except for changgscin business that result from an Asset Excharge;

(o) maintain or cause to be maintained insuravittefinancially sound and reputable insurers, af-misurance, with
respect to its properties and business and thesgifep and business of the Subsidiaries againsblodamage of the kinds customarily insured
against by reputable companies in the same oragitilsinesses, such insurance to be of such tyygeim such amounts (with such deductible
amounts) as is customary for such companies umaédascircumstances;

provided that the foregoing shall not limit the right of tBerrower or any of its Subsidiaries to engageniy ansaction not otherwise prohibi
by Section 6.02, 6.03 or 6.04.

SECTION 5.02 Financial Statements, Reports, Httthe case of the Borrower, furnish to the Adstiative Agent for
distribution to the Lenders:

(@) assoon as available and in any event withihdays after the end of each fiscal year, cotatad balance
sheets and the related statements of income ahdloas of the Borrower and its Subsidiaries (tr@mwer and its Subsidiaries being
collectively referred to as the * Companigsas of the close of such fiscal year (which regoient shall be deemed satisfied by the
delivery of the Borrower’s Annual Report on Formi @or any successor form) for such year), all tadlby KPMG LLP or other
independent public accountants of recognized natistanding and accompanied by an opinion of sachumtants to the effect that
such consolidated financial statements fairly pregeall material respects the financial conditanmd results of operations of the
Companies on a consolidated basis in accordanbeGARP consistently applied;

(b)  within 65 days after the end of each of ih&t three fiscal quarters of each fiscal year (o@ncing with the
first fiscal quarter of 2013), consolidated balasheets and related statements of income and loagh 6f the Companies as of the
close of such fiscal quarter and the then elapsetiibp of the fiscal year (which requirement shedldeemed satisfied by the delivery of
the Borrower’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q (oy anccessor form) for such quarter), each certifiga Financial Officer as fairly
presenting in all material respects the finanadition and results of operations of the Compaaiea consolidated basis in
accordance with GAAP consistently applied, subje¢he absence of footnotes and normal year-enid adidstments;

(c)  concurrently with any delivery of financiadhtements under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Se&i02, a
certificate of a Financial Officer of the Borrow@r certifying as to whether a Default has occuraed, if a Default has occurred,
specifying the details thereof and any action talkeproposed to be taken with respect thereto @nskfting forth reasonably detailed
calculations (including with respect to any pronfiareffect given to a Material Transaction) dematistg compliance with Section 6.
as of the last day of the most recent fiscal quadgered by such financial statements;
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(d)  promptly upon the mailing or filing thereafypies of all financial statements, reports anckysgiatements
mailed to the Borrower’s public shareholders, ampies of all registration statements (other thaséhon Form S-8) and Form 8<K(to
the extent that such Form 8-K’s disclose actugdatential adverse developments with respect t@tireower or any of its Subsidiaries
that constitute, or could reasonably be anticipsdezbnstitute, a Material Adverse Effect) filedtlwthe Securities and Exchange
Commission (or any successor thereto) or any ratsgcurities exchange;

() promptly after (i) the occurrence thereofiiceof any ERISA Termination Event or “prohibitednsaction”as
such term is defined in Section 4975 of the Codth respect to any Plan that results, or couldorably be anticipated to result, in a
Material Adverse Effect, which notice shall specH nature thereof and the Borrower’s proposeplorese thereto, and (ii) actual
knowledge thereof, copies of any notice of PBG@terition to terminate or to have a trustee appditdeadminister any Plan; and

(fH  promptly, from time to time, such other infioation, regarding its operations, business aftaid financial
condition, or compliance with the terms of this Agment, as the Administrative Agent or any Lentteo(gh the Administrative
Agent) may reasonably request.

Documents required to be delivered pursuant toi@ebt02(a), (b) or (d) (to the extent any suchuwtoents are included in materials otherwise
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commiss@rafy successor thereto)) may be delivered elgictiby and if so delivered, shall be
deemed to have been delivered on the date (i) achvthe Borrower posts such documents, or provédigsk thereto at www.frontier.com; or (
on which such documents are posted on the Borrevibehalf on an Internet or intranet website, if,daoywhich each Lender and the
Administrative Agent have access (whether a comialetbird-party website or whether sponsored ey Aldministrative Agent)provided that
(i) the Borrower shall deliver paper copies of sdolcuments to the Administrative Agent or any Lerttat requests the Borrower to deliver
such paper copies until a written request to cdableering paper copies is given by the Administ&t\gent or such Lender and (ii) the
Borrower shall notify the Administrative Agent (bslecopier or electronic mail) of the posting of@uch documents. The Administrative
Agent shall have no obligation to request the @eivor to maintain copies of the documents refetoeabove, and in any event shall have no
responsibility to monitor compliance by the Borrawéth any such request for delivery, and each leersthall be solely responsible for
requesting delivery to it or maintaining its copagssuch documents.
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SECTION 5.03 Litigation and Other Notice$-urnish to the Administrative Agent for distritmn to the Lenders prompt
written notice of the following upon any Financ@afficer of the Borrower becoming aware thereof:

(8 any Event of Default or Default, specifyitng thature and extent thereof and the correctiverait any)
proposed to be taken with respect thereto;

(b) thefiling or commencement of, or any written netaf intention of any Person to file or commenes;, action.
suit or proceeding, whether at law or in equityppror before any Governmental Authority, againstBorrower or any of the
Subsidiaries which is reasonably likely to be adebrdetermined and which, if adversely determiwed)d reasonably be expected to
result in a Material Adverse Effect; and

(c) any development with respect to the Borroreginy Subsidiary that has resulted in, or couédoaably be
expected to result in, a Material Adverse Effect.

SECTION 5.04 _Maintaining RecordsMaintain all financial records in accordancehMBAAP and, upon reasonable not
permit the Administrative Agent and each Lendevrisit and inspect the financial records of the Barer at reasonable times and to make
extracts from and copies of such financial recoads, permit any representatives designated by tieiristrative Agent or any Lender to
discuss the affairs, finances and condition oBbeower with the appropriate officers thereof anith the Borrower’s consent (which shall not
be unreasonably withheld), the independent accatsithereforprovided that, excluding any such visits and inspectionsnduthe continuation
of an Event of Default, only the Administrative Agen behalf of the Lenders may exercise righthiefAdministrative Agent and the Lenders
under this Section 5.04 and the Administrative Aggrall not exercise such rights more than oncenguamy calendar yeaprovided , further ,
that when an Event of Default exists, the Admiitithie Agent or any Lender (or any of their respectiepresentatives or independent
contractors) may do any of the foregoing, uponarable notice and as often as reasonably requedtady time during normal business hours.

SECTION 5.05 _Use of Proceedd4Jse the proceeds of the Loans only for genenglarate purposes, including working
capital and Securitization Transactions permitteetinder as well as one or more acquisitions oetAsschangegrovided that no such
proceeds shall be used (i) to make any RestricagehEnt, or (ii) directly or indirectly in connectiavith any Hostile Acquisition.

ARTICLE VI

NEGATIVE COVENANTS

The Borrower covenants and agrees with each Letttetssuing Bank and the Administrative Agent tatlong as this
Agreement shall remain in effect or the principlbointerest on any Loan (or any portion thereof)any other expenses or amounts payable
hereunder (other than contingent obligations ipeesof which no claim has been made), shall baidngr any Letter of Credit shall remain
outstanding, it will not:
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SECTION 6.01 Liens; Restrictions on Sales of Red#es. Create, incur, assume, or suffer to exist, omjteany of the
Subsidiaries to create, incur, assume, or suffexist, any Lien on any of its property now ownedhereafter acquired to secure any
Indebtedness of the Borrower or any such Subsidaargell or assign any accounts receivable (dtiear in the ordinary course of business),
other than: (a) Liens listed on Schedule(8) pledges or deposits to secure the utilitygatiions of the Borrower incurred in the ordinagucse
of business; (c) Liens upon or in property now osvoehereafter acquired to secure Indebtednessrett(i) solely for the purpose of financing
the acquisition, construction or improvement oftspooperty provided that such Indebtedness shall not exceed the fakehaalue of the
property being acquired, constructed or improve(ipto refinance, refund, renew or extend anydbigdness described in subclause (i) that
does not increase the principal amount thereofpixtmethe amount of accrued and unpaid interestpaschium thereon and reasonable fees and
expense in connection with such refinancing, refiumdenewal or extension so long as the Liensriggisuch Indebtedness shall be limited to
all or part of the same property that secured nidetitedness refinanced, refunded, renewed or eedefd) Liens on the assets of any Person
merged or consolidated with or into (in accordanith Section 6.04) or acquired by the Borrower my Subsidiary that were in effect at the
time of such merger, consolidation or acquisiti@);Liens for taxes, assessments and governmdraedes or levies, which are not yet due or
are which are being contested in good faith by @ympaite proceedings; (f) Liens securing Indebteslinéshe Borrower or any Subsidiary to the
Rural Electrification Administration or the Ruratilities Service (or any successor to any such egein an aggregate principal amount
outstanding at any time not to exceed $25,000,@)Garriers’, warehousemen’s, mechanics’, mateeal's, repairmen’s, supplier’s or other
like Liens arising in the ordinary course of busimeelating to obligations not overdue for a peabchore than 60 days or which are bonded or
being contested in good faith by appropriate prdicegs; (h) pledges or deposits in connection withikers’ compensation laws or similar
legislation or to secure public or statutory olfigas; (i) Liens or deposits to secure the perforcesof bids, trade contracts, leases, statutory
obligations, surety and appeal bonds, performanod$and other obligations of a like nature inaliirethe ordinary course of business; (j)
easements, rights of way, restrictions and otheambrances incurred which, in the aggregate, donaderially interfere with the ordinary
conduct of business; (k) restrictions by GovernrakAtthorities on the operations, business or assfethe Borrower or its Subsidiaries that are
customary in the Borrower’s and its Subsidiariassinesses; (I) sales of accounts receivable pursoaand Liens existing or deemed to exist in
connection with, any Securitization Transactigmeyided that the aggregate amount of all such Securitinaflimnsactions shall not at any time
exceed $150,000,000; and (m) other Liens securidglitedness in an aggregate principal amount, ahegregated, without duplication, with
the amount of Indebtedness of Subsidiaries outstgmuirsuant to Section 6.08(iii), not to excee8®R00,000 at any one time outstanding;
provided that the Borrower or any Subsidiary may createjrinassume or suffer to exist other Liens (in addito Liens excepted by the
foregoing clauses (a) through (m)) on its asseterspas (i) such Liens equally and ratably setiweeObligations pursuant to documentation in
form and substance reasonably satisfactory to thmiiistrative Agent and (i) at the time of anyumence of Indebtedness secured by Liens in
reliance on this proviso, the aggregate principabant of all such Indebtedness incurred in reliaoeéehis proviso (including the Obligations),
when aggregated, without duplication, with the amaf Indebtedness of Subsidiaries outstandingyauntsto Section 6.08 (other than clause
through (iv) of Section 6.08), shall not exceedMaximum Priority Amount at such time.
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SECTION 6.02 _Ownership of the Principal Subsidgr Sell, assign, pledge, or otherwise transferigpase of any shares
of common stock, voting stock, or stock convertibk® voting or common stock of any Principal Sulimiy, except (a) to another Subsidiary or
(b) in connection with an Asset Exchanpegvided that the Borrower may pledge any shares of comrtamrk svoting stock, or stock convertible
into voting or common stock of any Principal Suleig so long as such pledge equally and ratablyresahe Obligations pursuant to
documentation in form and substance reasonablyfaetibry to the Administrative Agent.

SECTION 6.03 _Asset SalesExcept in connection with an Asset Exchange csgdermit any Principal Subsidiary to sell,
assign, or otherwise dispose of telecommunicatmsets (whether in one transaction or a serigamdactions), if the net, after-tax proceeds
thereof are used by the Borrower or any Subsid@mprepay (other than a mandatory prepayment iordeace with the terms of the applicable
governing documents, including pursuant to anygpavision) Indebtedness incurred after the datedfexhich Indebtedness has a maturity |
than the Commitment Termination Date (other thadger or other financings incurred in connectiortvéh asset purchase or sale, including
acquisition indebtedness or indebtedness of anirachentity or indebtedness incurred to refinamokebtedness outstanding as of the date
hereof).

SECTION 6.04 _Mergers Merge or consolidate with, or sell, assign, ée@s otherwise dispose of (whether in one
transaction or a series of transactions) all ostutiially all of its assets (whether now owneth@reafter acquired), except in connection with an
Asset Exchange, to any Person, or permit any Pah&ubsidiary to do so, except that any Subsidizay merge into or, subject to Section 6
transfer assets to the Borrower or any other Sidrgidnd the Borrower may merge with any Pergpavided that, immediately thereafter and
after giving effect thereto, no event shall occube continuing which constitutes an Event of Défaua Default and, in the case of any such
merger to which the Borrower is a party, eitherBmerower is the surviving corporation or the suing entity (if not the Borrower) has a
consolidated net worth (as determined in accordaniteGAAP) immediately subsequent to such mergéeast equal to the Consolidated Net
Worth of the Borrower immediately prior to such marand expressly assumes the obligations of theo®er hereundemprovided that,
notwithstanding the foregoing, the Borrower and ahthe Principal Subsidiaries may sell assetdéndrdinary course of its business and may
sell or otherwise dispose of worn out or obsolefgigment on a basis consistent with good businesgipes.

SECTION 6.05 Restrictions on Dividends

()  Enterinto or permit any Principal Subsiditmenter into any contract or agreement (othen thith a governmental
regulatory authority having jurisdiction over therBwer or such Principal Subsidiary) restrictihg tbility of such Principal Subsidiary to pay
dividends or make distributions to the Borroweaity manner that would impair the ability of the Bover to meet its present and future
obligations hereunder.
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(b) In the case of the Borrower only, declarenake, directly or indirectly, any Restricted Paymen incur any obligation
(contingent or otherwise) to do so, in each caseyfEvent of Default has occurred and is contigaitthe time of such action or will result
therefrom (but excluding the payment of dividendsldred and announced by the Board of Directoastiate when no Event of Default existe

SECTION 6.06 _Transactions with AffiliatesExcept in connection with an Asset Exchangé,asdtansfer any property or
assets to, or purchase or acquire any propertgsatsifrom, or otherwise engage in any other tcdioses with, any of its Affiliates (or permit
any of its Subsidiaries to do any of the foregojmxcept that as long as no Default or Event obDkfshall have occurred and be continuing,
Borrower or any Subsidiary may engage in any ofdhegoing transactions (i) on terms and conditioosless favorable to the Borrower or s
Subsidiary than could reasonably be expected tibtsned on an arm’s-length basis from unrelatéd tharties, (ii) as otherwise may be
required by any Federal or state Governmental Aitthdiii) so long as such transactions are noterially disadvantageous to the Borrower or
(iv) so long as such transactions are solely antle@d@orrower and/or one or more of its Subsidiaries

SECTION 6.07 _Financial RatioPermit the Leverage Ratio as of the last degngffiscal quarter to be greater than 4.5 to
1.0.

SECTION 6.08 _Subsidiary IndebtednesBermit any Subsidiary to enter into, directlyiratirectly, issue, incur, assume or
Guarantee any Indebtedness unless (a) the Obligadi@ Guaranteed by such Subsidiary on a pani fsss pursuant to documentation in fc
and substance reasonably satisfactory to the Adtraive Agent and (b) at the time of any incureentsuch Indebtedness, the aggregate
principal amount of such Indebtedness of Subskkaincluding any Guarantee of the Obligationsaxetuding Indebtedness permitted by
clauses (i) through (iv) below), when aggregatetthwie principal amount of Indebtedness securelddays in reliance on the final proviso to
Section 6.01, shall not exceed the Maximum Prigkityount at such time, except (i) Indebtednessfiecefat the time such Subsidiary becom
Subsidiary of the Borrower, so long as such Ind#ixtes was not entered into solely in contemplaifsuch Person becoming a Subsidiary of
the Borrower (and any refinancing, refunding, realeov extension of such Indebtedness that doemaaase the principal amount thereof
except by the amount of accrued and unpaid intarespremium thereon and reasonable fees and esgpensonnection with such refinancing,
refunding, renewal or extension), (ii) any Indelotess in effect as of the Effective Date that ietison Schedule 3 (and any refinancing,
refunding, renewal or extension of such Indebtesltiest does not increase the principal amount tfiesecept by the amount of accrued and
unpaid interest and premium thereon and reasoffedsdeand expenses in connection with such refingneéfunding, renewal or extension), (iii)
additional Indebtedness, when aggregated, withopiichtion, with the principal amount of Indebtedaesecured by Liens in reliance on Section
6.01(m), not to exceed $250,000,000 at any one dmgtanding and (iv) Indebtedness of a Subsidiatiie Borrower or another Subsidiary.
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ARTICLE VII

EVENTS OF DEFAULT

SECTION 7.01 Events of Defaultlf any of the following events (* Events of Deaf") shall occur:

(@) the Borrower shall fail to pay any principdlany Loan or any reimbursement obligation in eztpf any LC
Disbursement when and as the same shall becomandugayable (after giving effect to ABR Loans mpdesuant to Section 2.04(e)),
whether at the due date thereof or at a date foeepgrepayment thereof or otherwise;

(b)  the Borrower shall fail to pay any interestamny Loan or any fee or any other amount (othem im amount
referred to in clause (a) of this Article) payablaler this Agreement or under any other Loan Dociipvghen and as the same shall
become due and payable, and such failure shalinuentinremedied for a period of five Business Days;

(c) anyrepresentation or warranty made or deemesde by or on behalf of the Borrower or any oSitdsidiaries
in or in connection with this Agreement or any othean Document or any amendment or modificatiorebkor thereof, or any waiver
hereunder or thereunder, or in any report, ceatificfinancial statement or other document furrdgh@suant to or in connection with
this Agreement or any other Loan Document or angradment or modification hereof or thereof, or arajwer hereunder or thereunc
shall prove to have been incorrect when made anddanade in any material respect;

(d)  the Borrower shall fail to observe or perfaany covenant, condition or agreement containegkittion 5.01(f)
or Section 5.05 or in Article VI,

(e) the Borrower shall fail to observe or perfany covenant, condition or agreement containedisnAgreement
(other than those specified in clause (a), (bddof this Article) or any other Loan Document anath failure shall continue
unremedied for a period of 30 days after the eadi@ccur of (i) the Borrower obtaining knowleddpereof and (ii) the date that notice
thereof shall have been given to the Borrower leyAtministrative Agent or any Lender;

(fH  the Borrower or any Principal Subsidiary $fail to make any payment of any amount in respéct
Indebtedness in an aggregate principal amount@®$00,000 or more, when and as the same shalhi#gedoe and payable after
giving effect to any applicable grace periods;

() any breach by the Borrower or any of its Eipal Subsidiaries of any agreement or instrumelating to
Indebtedness occurs that results in any Indebtsdsfeany one or more of the Borrower and its PpakBubsidiaries in an aggregate
principal amount exceeding $100,000,000 becomiregpdior to its scheduled maturity or that enablegesmits the holder or holders
any such Indebtedness or any trustee or agens on their behalf to cause any such Indebtedndssdome due, or to require the
prepayment, repurchase, redemption or defeasaamothprior to its scheduled maturity, in eachecafter giving effect to any
applicable grace period; or, as a result of any $weach, any such Indebtedness shall be requiree prepaid (other than by a
regularly scheduled required prepayment, purswaany put right (or similar right) of the holdeetieof, or by the exercise by the
Borrower or any Principal Subsidiary of its rightrhake a voluntary prepayment) in whole or in paidr to its stated maturity; or there
occurs under any Swap Contract an Early Terminddate (as defined in such Swap Contract) resuftiomm (A) any event of default
under such Swap Contract as to which the Borrowang Principal Subsidiary is the Defaulting Pdetg defined in such Swap
Contract) or (B) any Termination Event (as defimeduch Swap Contract) under such Swap Contract which the Borrower or any
Principal Subsidiary is an Affected Party (as dediin such Swap Contract) and, in either eventSthiap Termination Value owed by
the Borrower or such Subsidiary as a result thegegfeater than $100,000,0¢@pvided that this clause (g) shall not apply to any
Indebtedness that becomes due as a result of atapfuedemption or repayment of such Indebtedefested in accordance with the
terms of the agreement governing such Indebtedmmatsvhich is not prohibited by this Agreement;
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(h)  an involuntary proceeding shall be commerareah involuntary petition shall be filed in a cbaf competent
jurisdiction seeking (i) liquidation, reorganizatior other relief in respect of the Borrower or afiyts Principal Subsidiaries or its
debts, or of a substantial part of its assets, wadg Federal or state bankruptcy, insolvency,ivecship or similar law now or hereafter
in effect or (ii) the appointment of a receiveusttiee, custodian, sequestrator, conservator olasiofficial for the Borrower or any of i
Principal Subsidiaries or for a substantial paitofssets, and, in any such case, such proceedpwggition shall continue undismissed
for a period of 60 or more days or an order or ee@pproving or ordering any of the foregoing sbalentered;

(i)  the Borrower or any of its Principal Subsiils shall (i) voluntarily commence any proceedindile any
petition seeking liquidation, reorganization oresthelief under any Federal or state bankrupteglirency, receivership or similar law
now or hereafter in effect, (ii) consent to thetilmsion of, or fail to contest in a timely and appriate manner, any proceeding or
petition described in clause (h) of this Articli) @pply for or consent to the appointment okaeiver, trustee, custodian, sequestrator,
conservator or similar official for the Borrower any of its Principal Subsidiaries or for a subttdpart of its assets, (iv) file an ans
admitting the material allegations of a petitidedi against it in any such proceeding, (v) makeregal assignment for the benefit of
creditors or (vi) take any action for the purpo$eféecting any of the foregoing;

()  one or more judgments for the payment of nyanean aggregate amount in excess of $100,00G;080 be
rendered against the Borrower or any of its Subsgih or any combination thereof and the same strathin undischarged for a period
of 30 consecutive days during which execution shatllbe effectively stayed, or any action shalldgally taken by a judgment creditor
to attach or levy upon any assets of the Borrowamy of its Subsidiaries to enforce any such jueigin
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(k)  aPlan shall fail to maintain the minimum flimg standard required by Section 412(a) of theeCfodany plan
year or a waiver of such standard is sought ortgcannder Section 412(c), or a Plan is or shalelisen terminated or the subject of
termination proceedings under ERISA, or the Bormoarean ERISA Affiliate has incurred a liability tr on account of a Plan under
Section 4062, 4063, 4064, 4201 or 4204 of ERISA, taere shall result from any such event or eventaterial Adverse Effect; or

()  aChange in Control shall occur;

then, and in every such event (other than an evightrespect to the Borrower described in clauge(Hi) of this Section 7.01), and at any time
thereafter during the continuance of such evestAttiministrative Agent at the request of the Regplilcenders shall, by notice to the Borrower,
take any or all of the following actions, at thengaor different times: (i) terminate the Commitnge@ind thereupon the Commitments shall
terminate immediately, (ii) declare the Loans tbatstanding to be due and payable in whole (orim, jn which case any principal not so
declared to be due and payable may thereafterdiardd to be due and payable), and thereupon theigal of the Loans so declared to be due
and payable, together with accrued interest theagorall fees and other obligations of the Borromearued hereunder, shall become due and
payable immediately, without presentment, demaratept or other notice of any kind, all of whicle drereby waived by the Borrower, and (iii)
require that the Borrower cash collaterize the pdSure pursuant to Section 2.04(k); and in casmgfevent with respect to the Borrower
described in clause (h) or (i) of this Article, tBemmitments shall automatically terminate andgtiecipal of the Loans then outstanding,
together with accrued interest thereon and all é&ekother obligations of the Borrower accrued ineder, shall automatically become due and
payable and the Borrower shall automatically beiiregl to provide such cash collateral, without prement, demand, protest or other notice of
any kind, all of which are hereby waived by the f®aorer.

ARTICLE VI
AGENCY

SECTION 8.01 _Administrative AgentEach of the Lenders and the Issuing Bank heire&yocably appoints JPMorgan
Chase Bank, N.A. to act on its behalf as the Adstriative Agent hereunder and under the other LoacuBents and authorizes the
Administrative Agent to take such actions on ited€and to exercise such powers as are delegatbe tAdministrative Agent by the terms
hereof or thereof, together with such actions anwlgrs as are reasonably incidental thereto. Tézdgions of this Article are solely for the
benefit of the Administrative Agent, the Lendersl éime Issuing Bank, and the Borrower shall not hiéylets as a third party beneficiary of any
of such provisions except with respect to a suaresdministrative Agent.
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The Person serving as the Administrative Agentunater shall have the same rights and powers arngidibhs in its capacity
as a Lender as any other Lender and may exerassathe as though it were not the AdministrativenAgad the term “Lender” or “Lenders”
shall, unless otherwise expressly indicated orasntbe context otherwise requires, include thedPessrving as the Administrative Agent
hereunder in its individual capacity. Such Pemmod its Affiliates may accept deposits from, lenohey to, act as the financial advisor or in any
other advisory capacity for and generally engaganinkind of business with the Borrower or any Sdibsy or other Affiliate thereof as if such
Person were not the Administrative Agent hereuagier without any duty to account therefor to thedess.

The Administrative Agent shall not have any dutiesbligations in its capacity as such except tteogeessly set forth herein
and in the other Loan Documents. Without limitthg generality of the foregoing, the AdministratAgent:

(@ shall not be subject to any fiduciary or otingplied duties, regardless of whether a Defaa#t bccurred and is
continuing;

(b)  shall not have any duty to take any discrediy action or exercise any discretionary powetsept
discretionary rights and powers expressly conteteglhereby or by the other Loan Documents thaAthreinistrative Agent is require
to exercise as directed in writing by the Requlredders (or such other number or percentage dfeheers as shall be expressly
provided for herein or in the other Loan Documermis)vided that the Administrative Agent shall not be requitedake any
discretionary action that, in its opinion or theropn of its counsel, may expose the Administrathgent to liability or that is contrary
to any Loan Document or applicable law; and

(c) shall not, except as expressly set forthiheaed in the other Loan Documents, have any dutligclose, and
shall not be liable for the failure to disclosey amformation relating to the Borrower or any of Affiliates that is communicated to or
obtained by the Person serving as the Adminisgaiigent or any of its Affiliates in any capacity.

The Administrative Agent shall not be liable to ttenders or Issuing Bank for any action taken drtaken by it (i) with the consent or at the
request of the Required Lenders (or such other sumbpercentage of the Lenders as shall be negessas the Administrative Agent shall
believe in good faith shall be necessary, undecitttemstances as provided in Section 9.02) oir(ithe absence of its own gross negligence or
willful misconduct. The Administrative Agent shakk deemed not to have knowledge of any Defauéiasnand until notice describing such
Default is given to the Administrative Agent by tBerrower, a Lender or the Issuing Bank.

The Administrative Agent shall not be responsibl¢hie Lenders or Issuing Bank for or have any dotye Lenders or Issuing
Bank to ascertain or inquire into (i) any statemaeratrranty or representation made in or in conpeatiith this Agreement or any other Loan
Document, (ii) the contents of any certificate,atr other document delivered hereunder or thretewior in connection herewith or therewith,
(iii) the performance or observance by any othetygdaereto of any of the covenants, agreementshardaerms or conditions set forth herein or
therein or the occurrence of any Default, (iv) thaédity, enforceability, effectiveness or genuires of this Agreement, any other Loan
Document or any other agreement, instrument or ect or (v) the satisfaction of any condition setH in Article IV or elsewhere herein,
other than to confirm receipt of items expresstyuieed to be delivered to the Administrative Agent.
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The Administrative Agent shall be entitled to refyon, and shall not incur any liability for relyingon, any notice, request,
certificate, consent, statement, instrument, doeureother writing (including any electronic megsalnternet or intranet website posting or
other distribution) believed by it to be genuinel &m have been signed, sent or otherwise authéstidey the proper Person. The Administrative
Agent also may rely upon any statement made taltyoor by telephone and believed by it to haverbmade by the proper Person, and sha
incur any liability for relying thereon. In deteimng compliance with any condition hereunder te thaking of a Loan, or the issuance of a
Letter of Credit, that by its terms must be fudfdito the satisfaction of a Lender or the Issuingkd the Administrative Agent may presume that
such condition is satisfactory to such Lender erlffsuing Bank unless the Administrative AgentIdiabe received notice to the contrary from
such Lender or the Issuing Bank prior to the makihguch Loan or the issuance of such Letter oflitrerhe Administrative Agent may cons
with legal counsel (who may be counsel for the Bair), independent accountants and other expdeisted by it, and shall not be liable for :
action taken or not taken by it in accordance withadvice of any such counsel, accountants orexpe

The Administrative Agent may perform any and alltefduties and exercise its rights and powersureter or under any other
Loan Document by or through any one or more sultiaggppointed by the Administrative Agent. The Awistrative Agent and any such sub-
agent may perform any and all of its duties andase its rights and powers by or through theipeesive Related Parties. The exculpatory
provisions of this Article shall apply to any suglb-agent and to the Related Parties of the Adtratiise Agent and any such sub-agent, and
shall apply to their respective activities in coctien with the syndication of the credit facilitipsovided for herein as well as activities as
Administrative Agent.

The Administrative Agent may at any time give netdf its resignation to the Lenders, the IssuingkBand the
Borrower. Upon receipt of any such notice of reatipn, the Required Lenders shall have the riglajppoint a successor, which shall be a bank
with an office in New York, New York, or an Affilta of any such bank with an office in New York, N¥ark and which shall be reasonably
acceptable to the Borrower. If no such succedsalt Bave been so appointed by the Required Leradetshall have accepted such appointr
within 30 days after the retiring Administrative & gives notice of its resignation, then the irgirAdministrative Agent may on behalf of the
Lenders and the Issuing Bank, appoint a succesdairfistrative Agent meeting the qualifications feeth above provided that if the
Administrative Agent shall notify the Borrower atige Lenders that no qualifying Person has acceqpteld appointment, then such resignation
shall nonetheless become effective in accordanttesuch notice and (1) the retiring AdministratAgent shall be discharged from its duties
and obligations hereunder and under the other Dmanuments and (2) all payments, communicationsdeterminations provided to be made
by, to or through the Administrative Agent shalitisad be made by or to each Lender and the IsBaing directly, until such time as the
Required Lenders appoint a successor Administra&tgent as provided for above in this paragraphorfne acceptance of a successor’s
appointment as Administrative Agent hereunder, sutitessor shall succeed to and become vesteaMdththe rights, powers, privileges and
duties of the retiring (or retired) Administratiggient, and the retiring Administrative Agent shagl discharged from all of its duties and
obligations hereunder or under the other Loan Dasum(if not already discharged therefrom as pexbigbove in this paragraph). The fees
payable by the Borrower to a successor Administeatigent shall be the same as those payable positlecessor unless otherwise agreed
between the Borrower and such successor. Afteretireng Administrative Agent’s resignation herelen and under the other Loan Documents,
the provisions of this Article and Section 9.03Isbantinue in effect for the benefit of such ratg Administrative Agent, its subgents and the
respective Related Parties in respect of any axtiaken or omitted to be taken by any of them wihigeretiring Administrative Agent was acti
as Administrative Agent.
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Each Lender and the Issuing Bank acknowledgestthas, independently and without reliance uponAtiministrative Agent
or any other Lender or any of their Related Pasies based on such documents and informationhas ileemed appropriate, made its own
credit analysis and decision to enter into thise&gnent. Each Lender and the Issuing Bank alscoadkdges that it will, independently and
without reliance upon the Administrative Agent ayather Lender or any of their Related Partieslzaskd on such documents and information
as it shall from time to time deem appropriate ticare to make its own decisions in taking or nétrtg action under or based upon this
Agreement, any other Loan Document or any relagedeament or any document furnished hereunder oeudhéer.

Except as otherwise provided in Section 9.02(bhwéspect to this Agreement, the Administrative dtgeay, with the prior
consent of the Required Lenders (but not otherwi®)sent to any modification, supplement or waivgter any of the Loan Documents.

To the extent required by any applicable law, tldenistrative Agent may withhold from any paymemtainy Lender an
amount equivalent to any applicable withholding t&ithout limiting or expanding the provisions®é&ction 2.14, each Lender (including any
Issuing Bank for purposes of this paragraph) shall, does hereby, indemnify the Administrative Agegainst, and shall make payable in
respect thereof within 30 days after demand therafoy and all Taxes and any and all related lossaisns, liabilities and expenses (including
fees, charges and disbursements of any counsild@kdministrative Agent) incurred by or assertgdiast the Administrative Agent by the
Internal Revenue Service or any other Governmexutiority as a result of the failure of the Adminéive Agent to properly withhold tax fro
amounts paid to or for the account of any Lendeafty reason (including, without limitation, becauke appropriate form was not delivered or
not properly executed, or because such Lendedftil@otify the Administrative Agent of a changecircumstance that rendered the exemption
from, or reduction of withholding tax ineffectivef certificate as to the amount of such paymeriiability delivered to any Lender by the
Administrative Agent shall be conclusive absent ifiesh error. Each Lender hereby authorizes the iAthtnative Agent to set off and apply any
and all amounts at any time owing to such Lendéeuthis Agreement or any other Loan Document againy amount due the Administrative
Agent under this paragraph. The agreements irptirisgraph shall survive the resignation and/daogment of the Administrative Agent, any
assignment of rights by, or the replacement ofeader, the termination of the Commitments and ¢épayment, satisfaction or discharge of all
other Obligations.
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SECTION 8.02 Bookrunners, Etc Anything herein to the contrary notwithstandingne of the bookrunners, arrangers,
syndication agents or documentation agents listeith® cover page hereof shall have any powersegloti responsibilities under this Agreement
or any of the other Loan Documents, except indfsacity, as applicable, as the Administrative Agartender or the Issuing Bank hereunder.

ARTICLE IX

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 9.01 Notices

€) Notices Generally Except as provided in paragraph (b) below, atices, requests, demands and other communication
provided for herein shall be in writing and shaldelivered by hand or overnight courier servicailead by certified or registered mail or sent
telecopier, as follows:

(i) if to the Borrower, to it at Frontier Commgations Corporation, 3 High Ridge Park, Stamforoin@cticut
06905, Attention of Treasurer (Telecopier No. 203-8602; Telephone No. 203-614-5708; ElectroniclMeaibert.starr@ftr.com),
with a copy to Frontier Communications Corporati8ijigh Ridge Park, Stamford, Connecticut 0690%e#tion of General Counsel
(Telecopier No. 203-614-4651; Telephone No. 203-6120; Electronic Mail: andrew.crain@ftr.com);

(i) if to the Administrative Agent, to JPMorgan ChasB, N. A., 500 Stanton Christiana Road, Ops Bogd, :
rd Floor, Newark, Delaware 19713-2107, Attention ofriple Patel (Telecopier No. 302-634-3301; Telephdae302-634-4154;
Electronic Mail: Dimple.X.Patel@jpmorgan.com);

(iii) if to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as IsguBank, to JPMorgan Chase Bank, N. A., 10420 Highlslanor
Drive, Floor 4, Tampa, FL 33610, Attention of Letté Credit Department (Telecopier No. 813-432-516&lephone No. 813-432-
6339; Electronic Mail: James.Alonzo@jpmchase.cany}

(iv)  iftoaLender, to it at its address (oredpier number) set forth in its Administrative Gtiennaire.
Notices sent by hand or overnight courier servicenailed by certified or registered mail, shalldeemed to have been given when recei
notices sent by telecopier shall be deemed to haga given when sent (except that, if not givemngunormal business hours for the recipient,

shall be deemed to have been given at the opefhimgstess on the next business day for the redipidNotices delivered through electronic
communications to the extent provided in paragi@plbelow, shall be effective as provided in saadggraph (b).
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(b) Electronic CommunicationsNotices and other communications to the Lendadsthe Issuing Bank hereunder may be
delivered or furnished by electronic communicafjmeluding e-mail and Internet or intranet webgitesrsuant to procedures approved by the
Administrative Agentprovided that the foregoing shall not apply to notices tg Bander or the Issuing Bank pursuant to Articldé Huch
Lender or the Issuing Bank, as applicable, hadiedtihe Administrative Agent that it is incapalblereceiving notices under such Article by
electronic communication. The Administrative Agenthe Borrower may, in its discretion, agreedoegpt notices and other communications to
it hereunder by electronic communications purst@aprocedures approved byptovided that approval of such procedures may be limited to
particular notices or communications.

Unless the Administrative Agent otherwise presaijl{g notices and other communications sent te-amail address shall be
deemed received upon the sender’s receipt of amadkdgement from the intended recipient (suchyahé “return receipt requestefiinction,
as available, return e-mail or other written acklsalgement)provided that if such notice or other communication is resttsdduring the normal
business hours of the recipient, such notice omeonication shall be deemed to have been sent aipgrging of business on the next business
day for the recipient, and (ii) notices or commatigns posted to an Internet or intranet websitd sle deemed received upon the deemed
receipt by the intended recipient at its e-mailradd as described in the foregoing clause (i) tfication that such notice or communication is
available and identifying the website address fioere

(c) Change of Address, EtcAny party hereto may change its address or tplecmumber for notices and other
communications hereunder by notice to the othdigsanereto (or, in the case of any such changeltsnder, by notice to the Borrower and the
Administrative Agent).

SECTION 9.02 Waivers; Amendments

(@ _No Deemed Waivers; Remedies Cumulatiwéo failure or delay by the Administrative Agetite Issuing Bank or any
Lender in exercising any right or power hereundhedlperate as a waiver thereof, nor shall anglsior partial exercise of any such right or
power, or any abandonment or discontinuance oégtepnforce such a right or power, preclude ahgrobr further exercise thereof or the
exercise of any other right or power. The righitd eemedies of the Administrative Agent, the Isgudank and the Lenders hereunder are
cumulative and are not exclusive of any rightsemnedies that they would otherwise have. No wasvany provision of this Agreement or
consent to any departure by the Borrower therefball in any event be effective unless the samk Ishgpermitted by paragraph (b) of this
Section, and then such waiver or consent shalffeetive only in the specific instance and for thepose for which given. Without limiting the
generality of the foregoing, the making of a Loarmssuance of a Letter of Credit shall not be carest as a waiver of any Default, regardless of
whether the Administrative Agent, any Lender or lgmiing Bank may have had notice or knowledgaioh Default at the time.
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(b) Amendments Neither this Agreement nor any provision hemafy be waived, amended or modified except pursuant
to an agreement or agreements in writing enteredoiy the Borrower and the Required Lenders othleyBorrower and the Administrative
Agent with the consent of the Required Lendpreyided that no such agreement shall

(i) increase the Commitment of any Lender withthat written consent of such Lender,

(i)  reduce the principal amount of any Loan @ Disbursement or reduce the rate of interest timgrer reduce
any fees payable hereunder, without the writtersenhof each Lender adversely affected thereby,

(i)  postpone the scheduled date of paymenhefgrincipal amount of any Loan or LC Disbursemengny
interest thereon, or any fees payable hereundeedoice the amount of, waive or excuse any sucmeal; or postpone the scheduled
date of expiration of any Commitment, without thetten consent of each Lender affected thereby,

(iv)  change Section 2.15(b) or (c) in a mannat tould alter the pro rata sharing of paymentsired thereby
(other than to extend the Commitment TerminatiotelZgplicable to the Loans and Commitments of aatitsg Lenders and to
compensate such Lenders for consenting to suchsateprovided that (x) no amendment permitted by this parenthksiball reduce
the amount of or defer any payment of principakiiest or fees to non-extending Lenders or otheraitversely affect the rights of non-
extending Lenders under this Agreement and (ypgportunity to agree to such extension and recaiel compensation shall be
offered on equal terms to all the Lenders), withthetwritten consent of each Lender, or

(v)  change any of the provisions of this Sectiothe percentage in the definition of the term{Rieed Lenders”
or any other provision hereof specifying the numdrgpercentage of Lenders required to waive, anoemdodify any rights hereunder
or make any determination or grant any consentumeler, without the written consent of each Lender;

andprovided further that no such agreement shall amend, modify or wikeraffect the rights or duties of the AdminigtratAgent or the
Issuing Bank hereunder (including pursuant to 8ec.17) without the prior written consent of theéministrative Agent or the Issuing Bank, as
the case may be.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, technical and comfimg modifications to the Loan Documents may be enaith the consent
of the Borrower and the Administrative Agent to theéent necessary to integrate any increase ireggtg Commitments hereunder in a manner
consistent with Section 2.07(e).

SECTION 9.03 Expenses; Indemnity; Damage Waiver

(@) _Costs and Expensedhe Borrower shall pay (i) all reasonable docuotee (in reasonable detail) outjobcket expens:
incurred by the Administrative Agent and its Affites (including the reasonable fees, charges abdmiements of a single counsel selected by
the Administrative Agent), in connection with thadication of the credit facilities provided forre@, the preparation, negotiation, execution,
delivery and administration of this Agreement amel ¢ther Loan Documents (whether or not the traimseccontemplated hereby or thereby
shall be consummated), (ii) all reasonable docuetk(ih reasonable detail) out-of-pocket expensasriad by the Issuing Bank in connection
with the issuance, amendment, renewal or exterdiany Letter of Credit or any demand for payméetéunder and (iii) all reasonable
documented (in reasonable detail) out-of-pockeeagps incurred by the Administrative Agent, theilsg Bank or any Lender (including the
fees, charges and disbursements of a single coandgif necessary, a single local counsel in eqgicable jurisdiction for the Administrative
Agent, the Issuing Bank and the Lenders, in eash,cselected by the Administrative Agent) (A) imeection with any amendments,
modifications or waivers of the provisions of thigreement or of the other Loan Documents or (B)dnnection with the enforcement or
protection of its rights (x) in connection with shhAgreement and the other Loan Documents, incluiéngghts under this Section, or (y) in
connection with the Loans made or Letters of Crisgited hereunder, including all such out-of-poekgtenses incurred during any workout,
restructuring or negotiations in respect of suchrigor Letters of Credit.
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(b) Indemnification by the BorrowerThe Borrower shall indemnify the Administratidgent (and any sub-agent thereof),
each Joint Lead Arranger, the Syndication Agerdhéaender and the Issuing Bank, and each Relateg &feany of the foregoing Persons (e
such Person being called an “ Indemnifeagainst, and hold each Indemnitee harmless faomg,and all losses, claims, damages, liabilities a
related expenses (including the reasonable feasgeh and disbursements of a single counsel andcéssary, a single local counsel in each
applicable jurisdiction for the Indemnitees, inleaase, selected by the Administrative Agent (plus additional counsel in the event of a
conflict)), incurred by any Indemnitee or assedgdinst any Indemnitee by any third party or byBberower arising out of, in connection with,
or as a result of (i) the execution or deliveryto Agreement, any other Loan Document or anyeagesnt or instrument contemplated hereby or
thereby, the performance by the parties heretheif tespective obligations hereunder or thereundére consummation of the Transactions
contemplated hereby or thereby, (ii) any Loan dtdreof Credit or the use or proposed use of tioegeds therefrom (including any refusal by
the Issuing Bank to honor a demand for payment wadetter of Credit if the documents presentedannection with such demand do not
strictly comply with the terms of such Letter ofe@it) or (iii) any actual or prospective claimigdation, investigation or proceeding relating to
any of the foregoing, whether based on contradtptoany other theory, whether brought by a tipiadty or by the Borrower, and regardless of
whether any Indemnitee is a party thergtavided that such indemnity shall not, as to any Indemniteeavailable to the extent that such losses,
claims, damages, liabilities or related expengesré determined by a court of competent jurisdicty final and nonappealable judgment to
have resulted from the gross negligence or wiltiidconduct of such Indemnitee or (ii) result froml@m brought by the Borrower against an
Indemnitee for material breach of such Indemnitebl&gations hereunder or under any other Loan D, if the Borrower has obtained a
final and nonappealable judgment in its favor ochstlaim as determined by a court of competensgdiiction. This Section 9.03(b) shall not
apply with respect to Taxes other than any Taxasrdpresent losses or damages arising from amarrclaim.

() Reimbursement by Lenderdro the extent that the Borrower for any reasols to indefeasibly pay any amount
required under paragraph (a) or (b) of this Sediiope paid by it to the Administrative Agent (aryssub-agent thereof) or the Issuing Bank or
any Related Party of any of the foregoing, eactdeeiseverally agrees to pay to the Administratigert (or any such sub-agent) or the Issuing
Bank or such Related Party, as the case may ble lsunler's Applicable Percentage (determined deevfime that the applicable unreimbursed
expense or indemnity payment is sought) of suclaidn@mountprovided that the unreimbursed expense or indemnified kdasn, damage,
liability or related expense, as the case may ls,imcurred by or asserted against the Adminisgaiigent (or any such sub-agent) or the
Issuing Bank in its capacity as such, or againgtRelated Party of any of the foregoing actingtf@ Administrative Agent (or any such sub-
agent) or the Issuing Bank in connection with stapacity. The obligations of the Lenders undes pisiragraph (c) are several obligations.
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(d)  Waiver of Consequential Damages, Efto the fullest extent permitted by applicable J&we Borrower shall not assert,
and hereby waives, any claim against any Indemmniteany theory of liability, for special, indirecinsequential or punitive damages (as
opposed to direct or actual damages) arising quih @onnection with, or as a result of, this Agnemt, any other Loan Document or any
agreement or instrument contemplated hereby oelblyethe transactions contemplated hereby or teesty Loan or Letter of Credit or the use
of the proceeds thereof. No Indemnitee referraéd fmaragraph (b) above shall be liable for any alg@s arising from the use by unintended
recipients of any information or other materialstdbuted by it through telecommunications, elagit@r other information transmission syst¢
in connection with this Agreement or the other L&tuments or the transactions contemplated heyethereby.

(e) _Payments All amounts due under this Section shall be peypromptly after demand therefor.

SECTION 9.04 _Successors and Assigns

(@ _Successors and Assigns Generallyhe provisions of this Agreement shall be bigdipon and inure to the benefit of
the parties hereto and their respective succeasorassigns permitted hereby, except that the Bemmay not assign or otherwise transfer any
of its rights or obligations hereunder without grer written consent of the Administrative Agemideeach Lender, and no Lender may assign or
otherwise transfer any of its rights or obligatitreseunder except (i) to an assignee in accordaithehe provisions of paragraph (b) of this
Section, (ii) by way of participation in accordaneih the provisions of paragraph (d) of this Sawtor (iii) by way of pledge or assignment of a
security interest subject to the restrictions abigaaph (f) of this Section (and any other attemhptsignment or transfer by any party hereto
be null and void). Nothing in this Agreement, eegeed or implied, shall be construed to confer wgnPerson (other than the parties hereto,
their respective successors and assigns permgtedyy, the Issuing Bank, Participants to the exteonided in paragraph (d) of this Section ¢
to the extent expressly contemplated hereby, thaté&kParties of each of the Administrative Agém, Issuing Bank and the Lenders) any legal
or equitable right, remedy or claim under or bysmaof this Agreement.

(b) _Assignments by LendersAny Lender may at any time assign to one or nagségnees all or a portion of its rights and
obligations under this Agreement (including allegoortion of its Commitment and the Loans at theetbwing to it) to any Persoprovided that
any such assignment shall be subject to the foligwbnditions:
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(i)  Minimum Amounts.

(A) in the case of an assignment of thre remaining amount of the assigning Lender'sn@dtment and the Loans at
the time owing to it or in the case of an assigrine@a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender, no minim amount need be assigned; and

(B) in any case not described in pardgi@(i)(A) of this Section, the aggregate amourthe Commitment (which for
this purpose includes Loans outstanding thereuraeif) the applicable Commitment is not then ifeef, the principal outstanding
balance of the Loans of the assigning Lender subjezach such assignment (determined as of tleetidatAssignment and Assumption
with respect to such assignment is delivered teAtiministrative Agent or, if “Trade Date” is spdeifl in the Assignment and
Assumption, as of the Trade Date) shall not betless $10,000,000, unless each of the Adminisegatigent and, so long as no Event
of Default has occurred and is continuing, the Baer otherwise consents (each such consent net tmteasonably withheld or
delayed).

(i)  Proportionate Amounts Each partial assignment shall be made as agressit of a proportionate part of all
the assigning Lender’s rights and obligations urkisr Agreement with respect to the Loan or the @dément assigned.

(i)  Reguired Consents No consent shall be required for any assignraecgpt to the extent required by
paragraph (b)(i)(B) of this Section and, in additio

(A) the consent of the Borrower (such consentadite unreasonably withheld or delayed) shall
be required unless (x) an Event of Default has weduand is continuing at the time of such assigriroe (y) such assignment
is to a Lender or an Affiliate of a Lender; providbat the Borrower shall be deemed to have conseéatady such assignment
unless it shall object thereto by written noticeétte Administrative Agent within ten (10) Busind3ays after having received
notice thereof;

(B) the consent of the Administrative Agent (seoimsent not to be unreasonably withheld or
delayed) shall be required except in the case asaignment by a Lender to an Affiliate of suchdem and

(C) the consent of the Issuing Bank shall beiredufor any assignment that increases the
obligation of the assignee to participate in expesunder one or more Letters of Credit (whetharairthen outstanding).

(iv)  Assignment and AssumptionThe parties to each assignment shall executealnger to the Administrative
Agent an Assignment and Assumption, together withogessing and recordation fee of $3,500, anddbignee, if it is not a Lender,
shall deliver to the Administrative Agent an Adnsimative Questionnaire and any tax forms requiodget delivered under Section 2.14

(e).
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v) No Assignment to the BorrowerNo such assignment shall be made to the Borrowany of the Borrower’s
Affiliates or Subsidiaries.

(vi)  No Assignment to Natural Person®o such assignment shall be made to a natursbpe

Subject to acceptance and recording thereof bytimeinistrative Agent pursuant to paragraph (c)hi$ Section, from and after the effective
date specified in each Assignment and Assumptinassignee thereunder shall be a party to thisehgent and, to the extent of the interest
assigned by such Assignment and Assumption, haveghts and obligations of a Lender under thise®gnent, and the assigning Lender
thereunder shall, to the extent of the interedgassl by such Assignment and Assumption, be retefisen its obligations under this Agreement
(and, in the case of an Assignment and Assumptioering all of the assigning Lender’s rights antigatiions under this Agreement, such
Lender shall cease to be a party hereto) but sbatinue to be entitled to the benefits of Secld8 and Section 9.03 with respect to facts and
circumstances occurring prior to the effective ddteuch assignment. Any assignment or transfex bgnder of rights or obligations under this
Agreement that does not comply with this paragisipdil be treated for purposes of this Agreemeiat see by such Lender of a participation in
such rights and obligations in accordance with grash (d) of this Section.

() Register The Administrative Agent, acting solely for tipigrpose as an agent of the Borrower, shall mairstione of
its offices in New York, New York a copy of eachsignment and Assumption delivered to it and a tegier the recordation of the names and
addresses of the Lenders, and the Commitmentsidfpincipal amounts of (and stated interest oe)Lthans owing to, each Lender pursuant to
the terms hereof from time to time (the “ ReqigjerThe entries in the Register shall be conclesibsent manifest error, and the Borrower, the
Administrative Agent and the Lenders shall treathel@erson whose name is recorded in the Registeugmi to the terms hereof as a Lender
hereunder for all purposes of this Agreement, nbsténding notice to the contrary. The Registail §te available for inspection by the
Borrower and any Lender, at any reasonable timefrana time to time upon reasonable prior notice.

(d) _Participations Any Lender may at any time, without the cons#nbr notice to, the Borrower or the Administrativ
Agent, sell participations to any Person (othenthanatural person or the Borrower or any of the®eer’s Affiliates or Subsidiaries) in all or a
portion of such Lender’s rights and/or obligatiomsler this Agreement (including all or a portiontefCommitment and/or the Loans owing to
it); provided that (i) such Lender’s obligations under this Agneat shall remain unchanged, (ii) such Lender skaiiain solely responsible to
the other parties hereto for the performance ofi sidigations and (iii) the Borrower, the Adminative Agent, the Lenders and the Issuing E
shall continue to deal solely and directly withlslkiender in connection with such Lender’s rightd abligations under this Agreement.
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Any agreement or instrument pursuant to which adeesells such a participation shall provide thhs_ender shall retain t
sole right to enforce this Agreement and to appaweamendment, modification or waiver of any [smn of this Agreemenprovided that
such agreement or instrument may provide that kealder will not, without the consent of the Paptamt, agree to any amendment, modifice
or waiver described in Section 9.02(b) that affecish Participant. Subject to paragraph (e) of 8action, the Borrower agrees that each
Participant shall be entitled to the benefits aft®a 2.13 to the same extent as if it were a Leade had acquired its interest by assignment
pursuant to paragraph (b) of this Section. Toetktent permitted by law, each Participant alsoldieéntitled to the benefits of Sections 2.12,
2.14 and 9.08 (subject to the requirements of tisesztions, including the requirements describeSiction 2.14(e), and limitations thereof) as
though it were a Lender. Each Lender that sellardgipation shall, acting solely for this purpa@sea non-fiduciary agent of the Borrower,
maintain a register on which it enters the nameagitttess of each Participant and the principal amofu(and stated interest on) each
Participant’s interest in the Loans held by it (tHarticipant Reqistel). The entries in the Participant Register shallconclusive absent
manifest error, and such Lender shall treat eactopevhose name is recorded in the Participantdgaghs the owner of the participation in
question for all purposes of this Agreement, ndtst&inding notice to the contrary.

(e) _Limitations upon Participant RightsA Participant shall not be entitled to receing greater payment under
Section 2.12 and Section 2.14 than the applicableler would have been entitled to receive witheesto the participation sold to such
Participant, unless the sale of the participat@msattch Participant is made with the Borrower’s pwoitten consent (not to be unreasonably
withheld or delayed).

()  Certain Pledges Any Lender may at any time pledge or assigncarsy interest in all or any portion of its righteder
this Agreement to secure obligations of such Lernidetuding any pledge or assignment to securegyahtins to a Federal Reserve Bank or a
central bankprovided that no such pledge or assignment shall releaselsertder from any of its obligations hereunderurssitute any such
pledgee or assignee for such Lender as a partyohere

SECTION 9.05 _Survival All covenants, agreements, representations amchwties made by the Borrower herein and in
the certificates or other instruments delivereddannection with or pursuant to this Agreement shaltonsidered to have been relied upon b
other parties hereto and shall survive the execwtia delivery of this Agreement and the makingrof Loans and issuance of any Letters of
Credit, regardless of any investigation made bysargh other party or on its behalf and notwithsitagthat the Administrative Agent, the
Issuing Bank or any Lender may have had noticenomltedge of any Default or incorrect representatiowarranty at the time any credit is
extended hereunder, and shall continue in fulldamd effect as long as the principal of or anywet interest on any Loan or any fee or any
other amount payable under this Agreement is audstg and unpaid or any Letter of Credit is outdiag and so long as the Commitments t
not expired or terminated. The provisions of BecR.12, Section 2.13, Section 2.14 and Sectif8 Shall survive and remain in full force and
effect regardless of the consummation of the Tretitwas contemplated hereby, the repayment of trenkpthe expiration or termination of the
Letters of Credit and the Commitments or the teatiom of this Agreement or any provision hereof.
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SECTION 9.06 Counterparts; Integration; Effeatiess; Electronic Executian

() _Counterparts; Integration; Effectivenesbhis Agreement may be executed in counterpartd by different parties
hereto in different counterparts), each of whichllstonstitute an original, but all of which whexkén together shall constitute a single
contract. This Agreement and the other Loan Docusy@nd any separate letter agreements with respfes payable to the Administrative
Agent, constitute the entire contract between andrey the parties relating to the subject matteedfeaind supersede any and all previous
agreements and understandings, oral or writteatingl to the subject matter hereof. Except asigealin Section 4.01, this Agreement shall
become effective when it shall have been execuetidAdministrative Agent and when the AdministratAgent shall have received
counterparts hereof that, when taken together, theasignatures of each of the other parties hef@aivery of an executed counterpart of a
signature page to this Agreement by electronicstrassion shall be effective as delivery of a maguatecuted counterpart of this Agreement.

(b)  Electronic Execution of Assignment&he words “execution”, “signed”, “signature” andrds of like import in any
Assignment and Assumption shall be deemed to irolilelctronic signatures or the keeping of recardddctronic form, each of which shall be
of the same legal effect, validity or enforceapilis a manually executed signature or the usgapar-based recordkeeping system, as the case
may be, to the extent and as provided for in ampfiegible law, including the Federal Electronic Sigmes in Global and National Commerce
Act, the New York State Electronic Signatures aeddds Act, or any other similar state laws basethe Uniform Electronic Transactions £

SECTION 9.07 _Severability Any provision of this Agreement held to be indalllegal or unenforceable in any
jurisdiction shall, as to such jurisdiction, beffeetive to the extent of such invalidity, illegglior unenforceability without affecting the valigi
legality and enforceability of the remaining proeiss hereof; and the invalidity of a particularyigion in a particular jurisdiction shall not
invalidate such provision in any other jurisdiction

SECTION 9.08 _Right of Setoff If an Event of Default shall have occurred ardtbntinuing, each Lender, the Issuing
Bank and each of their respective Affiliates isdigrauthorized at any time and from time to tiroethe fullest extent permitted by applicable
law, to set off and apply any and all deposits égahor special, time or demand, provisional oalfiin whatever currency) at any time held and
other obligations (in whatever currency) at anyetiowing by such Lender, the Issuing Bank or any f6iliate to or for the credit or the
account of the Borrower against any and all ofdhkgations of the Borrower now or hereafter exigtunder this Agreement or any other Loan
Document to such Lender or the Issuing Bank, iresSpe of whether or not such Lender or the Issliagk shall have made any demand under
this Agreement or any other Loan Document and aihcssuch obligations of the Borrower may be comtimigr unmatured or are owed to a
branch or office of such Lender or the Issuing Bdifterent from the branch or office holding suapdsit or obligated on such
indebtedness. The rights of each Lender, therlgdBank and their respective Affiliates under tBection are in addition to other rights and
remedies (including other rights of setoff) thatlsl.ender, the Issuing Bank or their respectiveliafes may have. Each Lender and the Iss
Bank agrees to notify the Borrower and the Admraiste Agent promptly after any such setoff andli@gtion, provided that the failure to give
such notice shall not affect the validity of suelodf and application.
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SECTION 9.09 Governing Law; Jurisdiction; Etc

(a) _Governing Law This Agreement shall be governed by, and coedti accordance with, the law of the State of New
York.

(b)  Submission to JurisdictionThe parties hereto irrevocably and unconditigraibmit, for themselves and their
property, to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Sempe Court of the State of New York sitting in Newrk County and of the United States Dist
Court of the Southern District of New York, and appellate court from any thereof, in any actioprrceeding arising out of or relating to this
Agreement or any other Loan Document, or for regamgmor enforcement of any judgment, and eacthefgarties hereto irrevocably and
unconditionally agrees that all claims in respdary such action or proceeding may be heard atetrdaned in such New York State court or,
to the fullest extent permitted by applicable lawsuch Federal court. Each of the parties heagtees that a final judgment in any such action
or proceeding shall be conclusive and may be eatbirt other jurisdictions by suit on the judgmeniroany other manner provided by
law. Nothing in this Agreement or in any other hdaocument shall affect any right that the Admiriste Agent, the Issuing Bank or any
Lender may otherwise have to bring any action oce@eding relating to this Agreement or any othaarLBocument against the Borrower or its
properties in the courts of any jurisdiction.

(c) Waiver of Venue The parties hereto irrevocably and unconditignahive, to the fullest extent permitted by appbte
law, any objection that it may now or hereafterdéwvthe laying of venue of any action or procegdirising out of or relating to this Agreement
or any other Loan Document in any court referreth paragraph (b) of this Section. Each of thdipathereto irrevocably waives, to the fullest
extent permitted by applicable law, the defensamihconvenient forum to the maintenance of sutbbrmor proceeding in any such court.

(d) Service of ProcessEach party hereto irrevocably consents to serofgrocess in the manner provided for notices in
Section 9.01. Nothing in this Agreement will atféfee right of any party hereto to serve procesmiy other manner permitted by applicable

SECTION 9.10 _WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL EACH PARTY HERETO HEREBY IRREVOCABLY WAIVES, TOHE
FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGIT IT MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN ANY LEGAL
PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF ORELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR ANY OTHER LOAN
DOCUMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED HEREBY ORHEREBY (WHETHER BASED ON CONTRACT, TORT OR
ANY OTHER THEORY). EACH PARTY HERETO (A) CERTIFIEBHAT NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY
OTHER PERSON HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERRYIBHAT SUCH OTHER PERSON WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT
OF LITIGATION, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVERND (B) ACKNOWLEDGES THAT IT AND THE OTHER PARTIES
HERETO HAVE BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEME AND THE OTHER LOAN DOCUMENTS BY, AMONG OTHER
THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THS SECTION.
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SECTION 9.11 HeadingsArticle and Section headings and the Table aft@ats used herein are for convenience of
reference only, are not part of this Agreementsimall not affect the construction of, or be tak&io iconsideration in interpreting, this
Agreement.

SECTION 9.12 _Treatment of Certain Informationn@dentiality. Each of the Administrative Agent, the IssuingiBand
the Lenders agrees to maintain the confidentialitthe Information (as defined below), except tindbrmation may be disclosed (a) to its
Affiliates and to its and its Affiliates’ respectipartners, directors, officers, employees, agedtgsors and other representatives (it being
understood that the Persons to whom such disclésunade will be informed of the confidential na&wf such Information and instructed to
keep such Information confidential), (b) to theestrequested by any regulatory authority purpgrtimhave jurisdiction over it (including any
self-regulatory authority, such as the Nationaldssstion of Insurance Commissioners) (and, in #ewmf any non-ordinary course disclosure
under this clause (b), the disclosing party shed itis reasonable efforts to inform the Borrowerélof prior to any such disclosure and, in any
event, shall promptly inform the Borrower therdofeach case to the extent legally permitted tsa@o (c) to the extent required by applicable
laws or regulations or by any subpoena or simégal process (in which case the disclosing pamyl slke its reasonable efforts to inform the
Borrower thereof prior to any such disclosure andny event, shall promptly inform the Borroweeitkof, in each case to the extent legally
permitted to do so), (d) to any other party her@pjn connection with the exercise of any remedttiereunder or under any other Loan
Document or any action or proceeding relating te igreement or any other Loan Document or thereefoent of rights hereunder or
thereunder, (f) subject to an agreement contaipiogisions substantially the same as those of3hidion, to (i) any assignee of or Participar
or any prospective assignee of or Participantrig,a its rights or obligations under this Agreernen(ii) any actual or prospective counterparty
(or its advisors) to any swap or derivative tratisacrelating to the Borrower and its obligatiofg), with the consent of the Borrower or (h) to
the extent such Information (x) becomes publiclgiiable other than as a result of a breach ofSkistion or (y) becomes available to the
Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lendeany of their respective Affiliates on a nonfidantial basis from a source other than the
Borrower.

For purposes of this Section, “ Informatibmeans all information received from the Borroweany of its Subsidiaries
relating to the Borrower or any of its Subsidiamesny of their respective businesses, other éimgrsuch information that is available to the
Administrative Agent, the Issuing Bank or any Lende a nonconfidential basis prior to disclosuretsy Borrower or any of its Subsidiaries;
provided that, in the case of information received from Buegrower or any of its Subsidiaries after the daeeof, such information is clearly
identified at the time of delivery as confidenti@ny Person required to maintain the confiderttiadif Information as provided in this Section
shall be considered to have complied with its @il to do so if such Person has exercised the si@gree of care to maintain the
confidentiality of such Information as such Persauld accord to its own confidential information.
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SECTION 9.13 _USA PATRIOT Act Each Lender hereby notifies the Borrower thaspant to the requirements of the
USA PATRIOT Act (Title 11l of Pub. L. 107-56 (sigddnto law October 26, 2001)), such Lender mayeogiired to obtain, verify and record
information that identifies the Borrower, whichanfation includes the name and address of the Bemrand other information that will allow
such Lender to identify the Borrower in accordawith said Act.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have catisisdAgreement to be duly executed by their respecuthorized
officers as of the day and year first above written

FRONTIER COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION

By: /s/ John M. Jureller

Name: John M. Jigrel
Title: ExecutivVéce President and Chief Financial Officer




JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.,

as Administrative Agent

By: /s/ Robert D. Bryant

Name: Robert D. &ny
Title: Vice Prdsent




LENDERS

JPMORGAN CHASE BANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Robert D. Bryant

Name: Robert D. &ny
Title: Vice Prdent




CREDIT SUISSE AG, CAYMAN ISLANDS BRANCH

By: /s/ Judy Smith

Name: Judy Smith
Title:  Authoriz&ignatory

By:  /s/ Michael D'Onofrio
Name: Michael D'Gnim
Title:  Authoriz&ignatory




BANK OF AMERICA, N.A.

By: /s/Lisa M. Webster

Name: Lisa M. Wedbrst
Title: Director




BARCLAYS BANK PLC

By: /s/ Nicholas Versandi

Name: Nicholas \Gardi
Title: Assistarite President




CITIBANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Keith Lukasavich

Name: Keith Lukesh
Title:  Vice Prdant




DEUTSCHE BANK AG NEW YORK BRANCH

By: /s/ Yvonne Tilden

Name: YvonneTilden
Title:  Director

By:  /s/ Andrew Neumeler
Name: Andrew Neuenel
Title: Managingréctor




MORGAN STANLEY SENIOR FUNDING, INC.

By: /s/ Sherrese Clarke

Name: Sherrese Kdar
Title:  Authoriz&ignatory




MORGAN STANLEY BANK, N.A.

By: /s/ Sherrese Clarke

Name: Sherrese Kdar
Title: Executiizgrector




THE ROYAL BANK OF SCOTLAND PLC

By: /s/ Alex Daw

Name: Alex Daw
Title: Director




Name of Lende

JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.

Credit Suisse AG, Cayman Islands Bra
Bank of America, N.A

Barclays Bank PL(

Citibank, N.A.

Deutsche Bank AG New York Bran
Morgan Stanley Senior Funding, It
Morgan Stanley Bank, N./

The Royal Bank of Scotland p

Total

SCHEDULE :
Commitments

Commitment ($

$109,756,097.5
$91,463,414.€
$91,463,414.€
$91,463,414.€
$91,463,414.€
$91,463,414.€
$41,463,414.€
$50,000,000.C
$91,463,414.€

$750,000,000.C
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SCHEDULE -
Liens

As of March 31, 2013
($ in Thousands)

The interest of any vendor or lessor under anytablgiase related to any asset listed or deschbéxlv. (Note that the Book Liability noted
below is included in Subsidiary Indebtedness Sclee8l)

NET
ASSET DESCRIPTION BOOK VALUE BOOK LIABILITY

Properties located at 100 Communications Drive, Buairie, WI; Country Club
Road, Dallas, PA; 6430 Oakbrook Parkway, Fort WayHeand 8001 West
Jefferson Blvd, Fort Wayne, IN that were contrilolite 2011 by Subsidiaries to
limited liability companies owned by the Frontiegr2ion Plan’ $ 43,16 $ 57,14
Office Building Lease Everett, WA 18,81 19,311
NESC Fiber Leas- Sturgeon Lake to Cromwell, M 6,90 6,97!
QWEST Fiber Leas- Sacramento to Redding, C 2,34, -
ELI OC48 Fiber Leas— Kingman to Phoenix, A: 2,11 -
Fiber Lease Beaverton, OF 35! -
Fiber Lease¢ Gresham, OF 35! -
Zayo Networks Fiber Leas Tualtin, OR to Woodland, W, 30 -
Fiber Lease Central Office 330 NE 5TH Camas, W 20 -
WIFI Fiber Lease Seattle, WA 20 -
Zayo Networks Fiber Leas Tualtin, OR to Stafford, Ol 17. -
360 Networks Fiber Lea- Anderson to Palo Cedro, C 16 -
Sunesys Fiber Lease, Plymouth Meeting, PA To Sv 11 -
Sunesys 2 Fiber Lea- Plymouth Meeting, P/ 11 -
Fiber Ring- Plymouth Meeting, PA (401N TO 2400MI 11 -
Fiber Lease Norristown to Plymouth Meeting, P 5 -

Total $ 75,47 $ 83,44:

*Title to the assets described as contributed eédRifontier Communications Pension Plan was deed#ktrespective limited liability compani
but are treated, under the relevant accountingatitee, as financing leases on the balance sheéie¢ &orrower.
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SCHEDULE
Subsidiary Indebtedness

As of March 31, 2012
($ in Thousands
Frontier Indebtedness
Citizens Rural Company Rur

FFB 6.052% due Jan. 3, 20 $ 3,13

FFB 6.206% due Jan. 3, 20 6,09(
$

Total Frontier Subsidiary Indebtedness 9,22¢

Spinco Assumed Indebtednes
Verizon North Inc.

6.73% Debentures, Series G, due Feb. 15, . $200,001
Verizon West Virginia Inc
8.40% Debentures due Oct. 15, 2! 50,00(
Total Assumed Spinco Subsidiary Indebtednes $ 250,00(

Capital Lease Obligations
Citizens Telecommunications Company of MinnesotaC |

NESC Minnesota (fiber ring $ 6,97
Frontier Communications Northwest Ir

1800 41st, Everett, Washingt 19,31¢
Total Capital Lease Obligations $ 26,29!

Finance Lease Obligation:
Obligations in connection with the contribution2id11 to limited liability companies owned by theiftier
Communications Pension Plan made by Frontier Nath Commonwealth Telephone Company LLC
and Frontier Communications Corporation Corpogaevices Inc., and consisting of properties locatetDO
Communications Drive, Sun Prairie, WI; Country €Road, Dallas PA; 6430 Oakbrook Parkway, Fort Véayn

Indiana and 8001 West Jefferson Blvd, Fort Waynéiana $ 57,14¢
Total Finance Lease Obligations $ 57,14¢
Total Subsidiary Indebtedness $342,66¢
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Exhibit 31
CERTIFICATIONS
[, Mary Agnes Wilderotter, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report Form 10-Q of Frontier Communications Cogpion;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescontain any untrue statement of a material dacmit to state a material fact necessai
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&ts under which such statements were made, rsbeading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial estents, and other financial information includedhis report, fairly present in all matel
respects the financial condition, results of afiens and cash flows of the registrant as of,fandhe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officand | are responsible for establishing and ta@img disclosure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportifgs defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure contnolpeocedures to be designed unde
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatieg to the registrant, including its consoliehtsubsidiaries, is made known t
by others within those entities, particuladyring the period in which this report is bepgpared;

b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cémiver financial reporting to be desigt
under our supervision, to provide reasonable rasse regarding the reliability
financial reporting and the preparation ofaficial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generabcepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the isteant's disclosure controls and procedures pmedented in this rep
our conclusions about the effectiveness of tiseldsure controls and procedures, as of the étldeoperiod covered by this rep
based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changethe registrant's internal control over finahai@porting that occurred during 1
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the temyig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of anuah report) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant's internal control over financial rejpuay; and




5. The registrant's other certifying officandal have disclosed, based on our most recent a&tiaifu of internal control over financ
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and #loelit committee of the registrant's board okdrs (or persons performing the equive
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and nréaé weaknesses in the des
or operation of internal control over finamcireporting which are reasonably likely to adety affect the registrant's ability
record, process, summarize and report financiakmétion; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiakttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 201 /s/ Mary Agnes Wilderotte

Mary Agnes Wilderotte
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic




Exhibit 31.:

CERTIFICATIONS
[, John M. Jureller, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this quarterly report Form 10-Q of Frontier Communications Cogpion;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doescootain any untrue statement of a material dacmit to state a material fact necessai
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts under which such statements were made, rebeading with respect to the per
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial estents, and other financial information includedhis report, fairly present in all matel
respects the financial condition, results of afiens and cash flows of the registrant as of,fandhe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officand | are responsible for establishing and ta@img disclosure controls and procedures
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))%3(nd internal control over financial reportif@s defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls pratedures, or caused such disclosure corgnalgprocedures to be designed unde
supervision, to ensure that material informatioiatieg to the registrant, including its consoliefhtsubsidiaries, is made known t
by others within those entities, particuladyring the period in which this report is beprgpared;

b) Designed such internal control oveaficial reporting, or caused such internal cdwiver financial reporting to be
designed under our supervision, to provide reasien assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation ofaficial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generabcepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the isteant's disclosure controls and procedures pmedented in this rep
our conclusions about the effectiveness of tiseldsure controls and procedures, as of the érideoperiod covered by this rep
based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changethe registrant's internal control over finahai@porting that occurred during 1
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the temyig's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of anuah report) that has materially affected
is reasonably likely to materially affect, thegistrant's internal control over financial rejpagy; and




5. The registrant's other certifying officandal have disclosed, based on our most recent a&tiaifu of internal control over financ
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and #loelit committee of the registrant's board okdrs (or persons performing the equive
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and nréaé weaknesses in the des
or operation of internal control over finamcireporting which are reasonably likely to adety affect the registrant's ability
record, process, summarize and report financiakmétion; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not materiakttinvolves management or other employees who aaignificant role in the registrar
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 7, 201. /s/ John M. Jurelle

John M. Jurelle
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offi




Exhibit 32.

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly Report of FrentiCommunications Corporation (the "Company")Femm 106 for the period ended Mar
31, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on the date hereof (the "Report" WM&y Agnes Wilderotter, Chairman
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify,rpuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pntsta Section 906 of the Sarbart@sey
Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the regarirents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securkeshange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respedise financial condition and results of operatiaf
the Company.

/sl Mary Agnes Wilderotter

Mary Agnes Wilderotter

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
May 7, 2013

This certification is made solely for purpose ofU&.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledgedstahcontained therein, and not for any ¢
purpose.

A signed original of this written statement riqd by Section 906, or other document authentigaticknowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within theckbnic version of this written statement regditby Section 906, has been provide
Frontier Communications Corporation and will betained by Frontier Communications Corporatiom dnrnished to the Securities
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



Exhibit 32.z

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the quarterly Report of FrentiCommunications Corporation (the "Company")Femm 10Q for the period ended Mar
31, 2013 as filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on the date hereof (the "Report*)John M. Jureller, Chief Financial Officer
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. $ecti350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 daneanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the reaaritents of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securkeshange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Repfairly presents, in all material respedtise financial condition and results of operatianf
the Company.

/s/ John M. Jureller

John M. Jureller

Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Office
May 7, 2013

This certification is made solely for purpose ofl&.C. Section 1350, subject to the knowledgedstahcontained therein, and not for any ¢
purpose.

A signed original of this written statement riqd by Section 906, or other document authentigaticknowledging, or otherwise adopting
signature that appears in typed form within thecebnic version of this written statement regditby Section 906, has been provide
Frontier Communications Corporation and will betamed by Frontier Communications Corporatiom darnished to the Securities
Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.



